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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Directors' Report
for the year ended 31 December 2007

The directors present their annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
company for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Principal activity
The principal activity of the company and group is the provision of waste management and recycling services.

Review of business and future developments

Thorntons Recycling continues to be one of the main recycling companies in Ireland. The strategy of
diversification through the setting up of new Small Business Units (SBU) has helped the company manage
some of the market risk. During the year the company invested in Recycling plant for its Commercial and
Industrial waste stream. This has improved recover rates and diverted more material from landfill.

The Company will continue to invest in current infrastructure and develop new infrastructure to handle
existing and future waste flows with a view to diverting as much material away from landfill as possible.
&

Fair review of performance of the business ,\\(@‘
The company performed well in a difficult trading vyear. In‘K@a d costs at landfill combined with increases in
fuel, wages and aggressive pricing in the market place y@resovercome to deliver budgeted profits. Owverall
sales were up 3.8% principally due to increased sales @%ﬁ;\if Liquid Waste and Kilmainhamwood compost.
Sales in the skip hire business were down in the ye. Qﬁ@\’to increased competition particularly from skip bags.

Overall tonnage handled was 3% lower than @@ This was necessary to ensure that all sites handled

material within its EPA licenced limits. RO
NN
SN
QR
Principal risks and uncertainties Koo

October 2007.  This is principally to a general slow down in the economy and more particularly in the
building sector. Interest rates have also increased a number of times in 2007 - although no increase is forecast
for 2008, this remains uncertain.

The main uncertainty for 2008 is ﬂ;}égﬁ Economy. The company experienced a decline in volumes since

A number of smaller operators have also entered the market in the past 18 months. This has led to increased
competition and margin erosion as they are able to operate at lower prices due to the fact that they are
regulated by the Local Authority and do not have the full cost of maintaining an EPA licence.

Results and dividends

€
The profit for the financial year amounted to 2,953,490
Retained profit for the financial year attributable to the equity shareholders 2,953,490
Profit and loss at beginning of year 21,794,155
Reserve movements 2,953,490
Profit and loss at end of year 24,747,645

The directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend.

Page 2
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Directors' Report
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Directors

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Carmel Thomton, Gary Brady, Anna Marie Thornton, Shane
Thornton and Paul Thornton retire by rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election

Conor Walsh resigned as a director on 9 March 2007.

Future developments

The directors perceive no change in the future development of the business to the development pursued to 31
December 2007.

Books of Account

The measures taken by the directors to ensure compliance with the requirements of Section 202, Companies
Act, 1990, regarding proper books of account are the implementation of necessary policies and procedures for
recording transactions, the employment of competent accounting personnel with appropriate expertise and the
provision of adequate resources to the financial function. The books of account of the company are
maintained at Unit S3B, Henry Road, Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12.

&
Auditors y\\(\é
The auditors, Newmarket Partnership, have indicated their w'];{ﬁlgness to continue in office in accordance
with the provisions of Section 160(2) of the Companies A%ﬁéﬁ%
&
Q\\} X

This report was approved by the Board on ZLPP W‘- 2008 and signed on its behalf by:

&

NS
@, i
\ & 7
;&QM&Q; '\6\ W
Paul Thornton o(&\ Gary Brad
Director O Direct
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Statement of Directors' Responsibilities
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true
and fair view of the state of the affairs of the company and of the group and of the profit or loss of the company
for that year. In preparing these the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

- prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper books of account which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Acts 1963 to 2006 and all Regulations 49 be construed as one with those Acts.
They have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are rea\s{@n\%b]y open to them to safeguard the assets
of the company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irreg }%r%l‘ﬁ:s.

S
On behalf of the board o‘ﬁ&
N
Q&

- I/Z 'Q&i§ ‘//7
Paul Thornton Qé\$Q Gary Brady
Director s\@Q Directo

J
3
&
ol
2277 Bprot 2008
Date
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Independent Auditors' Report to the Members of Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited for the year ended 31
December 2007 which comprise the profit and loss account, the balance sheet, the cash flow statement and the
related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the company's sharcholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 193 of the
Companies Act, 1990. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's
shareholders those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company's shareholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As described in the statement of directors' responsibilities the company's directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice in Ireland including the accounting standards issued by the Accounting Standards Board.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statemg&gﬁ} give a true and fair view in accordance
with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland and gé:‘ properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Acts 1963 to 2006. We also report to you wi in our opinion: proper books of account have
been kept by the company; whether, at the balance s ‘ giﬁte, there exists a financial situation requiring the
convening of an Extraordinary General Meeting o%&?&@}\company; and whether the information given in the
Directors' Report is consistent with the financial @é@ﬁcnts. In addition, we state whether we have obtained all
the information and explanations necessary fos{he" purposes of our audit and whether the company's balance
sheet and its profit and loss account are in aégég\@nt with the books of account and returns.

R

We report to the shareholders if, in & opinion, any information specified by law regarding directors’
remuneration and directors' transactig:fgis not disclosed and, where practicable, include such information in
our report. ©

We read the directors' report and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatement within it.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by
the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the company's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial
statements.
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Independent Auditors' Report to the Members of Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice in Ireland, of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2007 and of its profit

and cash flows for the year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Acts 1963 to 2006.

We have obtained all the information and explanations that we consider necessary for the purposes of our
audit. In our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the company. The financial statements are
in agreement with the books of account.

In our opinion the information given in the directors' report is consistent with the financial statements.
p g P

The net assets of the company, as stated in the balance sheet, are more than half of the amount of its called up
share capital and, in our opinion, on that basis there did not exist at 31 December 2007 a financial situation
which under Section 40 (1) of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1983 would require the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting of the company.

&
&
I\
P il o@;?@ Lo
MmQ«X & &‘\0 227 Rl 260
Newmarket Partnership &Q;\}‘ Date
Registered Auditors O
N
G9 Calmount Park &é' 03‘\
Ballymount NG
. o O
Dublin 12 <
S
<
&
ol
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Group turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Administrative expenses
Other operating income

Group operating profit

Interest pavable
and similar charges

Profit on ordinary
activities before taxation

Tax on profit on ordinary activites

Profit on ordinary
activities after taxation

Minority Interest

Retained profit for the year

Approved by the Board on 22PP I\

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
for the year ended 31 December 2007

& .

2007
Notes €
2 44,497 480
(33,099,308)
11,398,172
(6,783,087)
150,451
3 4,765,536
4 (1,590,070)
&
&

3,17%4%&

&

s\O
8 HI.976)
S
s
& & 2,953,490
KO
S

<O )

& AU
&&0 2,953,490
s _

W =

Paul Thornton
Director

2006
€
(as restated)

42,837,202

(30,903,338)
11,933,864

(7,054,918)
6,118,944

10,997,890

(1,290,043)

9,707,847

(2,304,857)

7,402,990

(2,676,923)
4,726,067

PQ\ L 2 % behalf by:

Gary Br
Director
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Fixed Assets
Goodwill

Tangible assets

Current Assets

Stocks

Debtors

Investments

Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year

Net Current Liabilities

Total Assets Less Current
Liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due
after more than one year

Provision for Liabilities
and Charges

Net Assets

Capital and Reserves
Called up share capital
Minority Interest

Profit and loss account

Equity Shareholders' Funds

Equity interests
Minority interest

Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2007

2007
Notes €
10 1,613,957
9 53,892,361
55,506,318
12 14,180
13 8,924 804
110,767
17,186
9,066,937
14 (14,432,209)
5,365,272) o
( )\}@
&
&
50 46
Sk
O
K
15 & #5,090,936)
° @
Y
&0
NG
165 & (302,458)
C:OQ =
< 24,747,652
& ——
OO
17 4
20 3
20 24,747,645
24,747,652
24,747,649

21 3

wh
Approved by the Board onz,.L NLT{,\LZCQ*& and signed on its behalf by:

Gl e L

Paul Thornton
Director

2006
€

2,380,265
45,328,701
47,708,966
23,909
9,843,422

110,767
20,867

9,998,965
(14,114,102)
(4,115,137)

43,593,829
(21,410,027)

(389,643)
21,794,159

4

21,794,155

21,794,159
21,794,159

= =

= ol
Gary}(zﬂy/
Director
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2007

2007 2006
Notes € €
Fixed Assets
Intangible assets 10 1,449,792 1,787,155
Tangible assets 9 48,537,143 45,453,116
Investments 11 6,645,200 6,645,200
56,632,135 53,885,471
Current Assets
Stocks 12 14,180 23,909
Debtors 13 8,966,247 0,843,422
Cash at bank and in hand 17,186 20,867
8,997,613 0,888,198
Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year 14 (18,315,092) (17,996,982)
Net Current Assets (Liabilities) (9,317,479) & (8,108,784)
S 0 e e T
Total Assets Less Current 0»;(\@
Liabilities 47@1%%56 45.776,687
F3S
Creditors: amounts falling due \\}Qo @\é}
after more than one year 15 ‘OQQ &19,777.1 61) (21,410,027)
S
Provision for Liabilities »@&&\\0
and Charges 1@"@\ (302,458) (389,643)
RS — ==
Net Assets &,\\6\ 27,235,037 23,977,017
Capital and Reserves QOQ
Called up share capital 17 4 4
Profit and loss account 27,235,033 23,977,013
Equity Shareholders' Funds 20 27,235,037 23,977,017

Approved by the Board on22Y QPRJL 2o0R

[, P

and signed on its behalf by:

Paul Thornton Gary ﬁ;ady
Director Directo

Page 9

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:35



Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Note

Net cash inflow from operating activities 19;
Return on Investments & Servicing of Finance
Interest received

Interest Paid

Interest element of finance lease rental payments

Net cash outtlow from return on investments &
servicing of finance

Minority Interest

Taxation
Corporation Tax Paid

Investing Activities
Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets
Proceeds from the sale of shares

Purchase of tangible fixed assets Q\‘}‘

financial investment &

Cash inflow / (outflow) before ﬁnancig?%é\

Financing QOQ
Finance leases acquired during the period
Finance lease repayments during the period
Bank loans acquired during the period
Bank loans repayments during the period

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing

Increase / (decrease) in cash and demand debt
in the year

Analysis of Cash & Cash Equivalents

Balance at 31 December 2006
Net Cash Inflow / (Outflow)

Balance at 31 December 2007

Page 10

2007
€

9,896,785

(1,263,379)
(326,691)

(1,590,070)

(881,968)
&—

($)

S8 261,302
s\O

(13,970,354)
(12,709,052)

(5,284,302)

6,653,015
(5,337,347)
6,501,275
(2,280,817)

5,536,126

251,824

Bank

& Cash
€
(327,210)
251,824

_(5.386)

2006
€

6,468,054

(988,431)
(301,612)

(1,290,043)

(2,676,923)

(1,377,276)

10,102,721
6,072,660
(9,566,674)

6,608,707

7,732,519

4,098,723
(4,166,367)
(6,667,820)
(6.735,464)

997,055

Total

€
(327,210)
251,824

(75,386)
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1.1.

1.2,

1.3,

1.4.

Padraic Thornton Waste Dispesal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by all the Group's
subsidiaries, to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
The group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the company and all of
its subsidiary undertakings made up to 31st December 2007.

The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired of in the year are included in the consolidated
profit and loss account from the date of acquisition. Upon the acquisition of a business, fair
values are attributed to the identifiable net assets acquired. The group's accounting policy in

relation to goodwill is set out below. &
\(\é

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unreal e ins arising from such transactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated fi statemt,nts Unrealised losses are
eliminated in the same manner as unrealised %d% ut onlly to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment

o° Y&

§
Tangible fixed assets and deprematlog& N
Tangible fixed assets are stated a Qbr at valuation, less accumulated depreciation. No

depreciation is provided on ﬁeehol nd The charge for depreciation is calculated to write
down cost or valuation of other t @lble fixed assets to their estimated residual values by equal
annual instalments over their c&@éﬂ ed useful lives, which are as follows:

Land - Not Depreciated

Buildings - Over 10 years Straight Line

Plant and machinery - Over 8 years Straight Line

Office Equipment - Between 3 & 8 years Straight Line
Motor vehicles - Over 4 years Straight Line

Assels under construction are not depreciated until they are substantially ready for use.

Goodwill

Purchased goodwill arising on the acquisition of a business represents the excess of the
acquisition cost over the fair value of the identifiable net assets when they were acquired. Any
excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired over the fair
value of the acquisition is negative goodwill.

Page 11
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

.. continued

1.6.

1.7

Leasing and hire purchase commitments

Assets obtained under hire purchase contracts and finance leases are capitalised as tangible
assets and depreciated over their useful lives. Obligations under such agreements are included
in creditors net of the finance charge allocated to future periods. The finance element of the
rental payment is charged to the profit and loss account so as to produce constant periodic rates
of charge on the net obligations outstanding in each period.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged against income on a straight line basis over
the lease term.

Turnover
Turnover represents the total invoice value, excluding value added tax, of sales made during
the year.
Income arising from annual service contracts is recognised at the time when the contract is
performed in its entirety and all the related costs have been suffered.

&
Pensions ,s\(@
The company operates a defined contribution pensiQy- § feme on behalf of the directors and
employees. The assets of the scheme are held sggdtcly from those of the company in an
independently administered fund. o
The pension cost charge represents contrlbgﬂ(qﬁ paid in the period by the company to the
fund. The cost of contributions payable toﬁg(?theme is recognised in full in the profit and loss

account. J\.\(@&\\O
SN
R
©
&
&
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

............... continued
1.8. Taxation

Current taxation represents the amount expected to be paid or recovered in respect of taxable profit for
the year and is calculated using the taxation rates an laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at
the balance sheet date where transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result in an
obligation to pay more, or a right to pay less or to receive more tax, with the following exceptions:

Provisions is made for tax on gains arising from the revaluation (and similar fair value adjustments) of
fixed assets, and gains on disposal of fixed assets that have been rolled over into replacement assets,
only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, there is a binding agreement to dispose of the assets
concerned. However, no provision is made where, on the basis of all available evidence at the balance
sheet date, it is more likely than not that the taxable gain will be rolled over into replacement assets and

charged to tax only where the replacement assets are sold; &

y\\(Q}

Provision is made for deferred tax that would arise Q- geiittance of the retained earnings of overseas
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only t%@xtent that, at the balance sheet date, dividends

it 7 i . O~
have been accrued as receivable; NS
EOA

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to Mmm that the directors consider that it is more likely than
not that there will be suitable taxable gtefits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing
differences can be deducted. Qo’\@\\

&

Q

Deferred tax is measured on an ghdiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
periods in which timing diffg;@nces reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

1.9. Stock and work in progress
Stocks and Work in Progress are valued on a First In First Out (FIFO) basis at the lower of cost
and net realisable value after making due allowance for any obsolete or slow moving items.
Net realisable value comprises the actual or estimated selling price (net of trade discounts) less
all further costs to completion or to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

1.10. Adjustment for prior year
The amounts included in the profit and loss account for the year ended 31st December 2006
have been adjusted. These adjustments did not affect the profit after tax for the year.

The amount to correct arising from the consolidation of a subsidiary.

The effect of the transaction was a subsequent rise and inclusion of a tax charge of €1,384,375,
and the companies own share of the profit on liquidation.

As the company was liquidated shortly thereafter, this adjustment has no impact on the balance
sheet as at 31st December 2006,

Page 13
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

continued

Turnover

The total turnover of the company for the year has been derived from its principal activity wholly

undertaken in Ireland.

Group operating profit 2007 2006
€ €
Group operating profit is stated after charging:
Amortisation of goodwill 766,303 976,300
Depreciation of tangible assets 4,659,058 3,962 654
Auditors' remuneration 58,451 53,800
and after crediting: -
Government grants received 23,155 -
0&(@
- N S
Interest payable and similar charges O 2007 2006
og?@ € €
&
On bank loans and overdrafts ;\\oi\éf 1,263,379 988,431
Lease finance charges and hire purchase \{t\@‘é{tt 326,691 301,612
)
G 1,590,070 1,290,043
S -
xé\ o
&
Employees P
Number of employees
The average monthly numbers of employees
(including the directors) during the year were:
2007 2006
Number  Number
Drivers & Helpers 228 218
Administration & Support 40 30
Sales 9 7
Management 6 17
283 272
Employment costs 2007 2006
€ €
Wages and salaries 12,469,342 12,106,587
Other pension costs 69,944 -
12,539,286 12,106,587
Page 14
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

............... continued
6. Directors' remuneration and transactions
2007 2006
Remuneration 768,948 914,108
Pension contributions 11,805 -

780,753 914,108

Directors and secretary and their interests
The directors and secretary who held office at 31st December 2007 had no interests other than those
shown below in the shares in, or debentures or loan stock of, the company or group companies:

Company &
Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited @é Interest at
& ?@o beginning of
SO year or date of
Y S Interest at appointment, (if
Name of Director Description of Jf {$liment end of year later)
P
Carmel Thomton 2 Ordinarys s of €2 each - B
S
Gary Brady &OOQ - -
#
Anna Marie Thornton OO(\ - -

Shane Thornton - =

Paul Thornton - -

All shares were shares in Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited and all were beneficially held.

Other companies in the group:

Thornton Recyeling Centre Limited
Interest at
beginning of
year or date of
Interest at appointment, (if

Name of Director Description of Instrument end of year later)
Carmel Thornton 1 Ordinary shares of €2 each 2 2
Page 15
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

continued

Kildare Recycling Centre Limited
Interest at
beginning of
year or date of
Interest at appointment, (if
Name of Director Description of Instrument end of year later)

Carmel Thornton 10 Ordinary shares of €1 each 10 10

Pension costs

The pension entitlements of employees, including executive directors, arise under a defined
contribution pension scheme and are secured by contributions by the company to a separately
administered pension fund. The advice of a professionally qualified actuary is taken in

assessing pension costs and liabilities. &
§(\é
S
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 09'?:9 &
$
SN
Analysis of charge in period (\Q‘\i&\y 2007 2006
S : g

Corporation tax ,\(é{é\o 556,849 2,304,857
Adjustments in respect of previous de*%g.hQ (247,688) -

S .
Total current tax charge &° 309,161 2,304,857
Deferred tax &
Timing differences, origination and reversal (87,185) -
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 221,976 2,304,857

Factors affecting tax charge for period

The tax assessed for the period is less than the standard rate of corporation tax in Ireland
(12.5%). The differences are explained below:

2007 2006

€ €

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 3,175,466 9,707,847
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation

tax in Ireland of 12.5% (31 December 2006 : 12.5%) 396,933 1,213,481

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (primarily goodwill amortisation) 159.916 165,875

Excess of Capital Gains Tax charge over Corporation Tax charge - 925,501

Current tax charge for period 556,849 2,304,857
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9.

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

continued

Tangible assets - Group

Land and Plant and Fixtures Motor Total
buildings machinery & fittings vehicles
freehold
€ € € € €
At 1 January 2007 31,072,157 24,677,475 1,881,291 7,603,270 65,234,193
Additions 6,933,558 4,484,601 131,523 2,420,672 13,970,354
Reclassification 73,794 350,339 (86,953) (20,159) NIL
Disposals (426,121)  (384,900) (9,751)  (203,000) (1,023,772)
At 31 December 2007 37,653,388 29,127,515 1,916,110 9,800,783 78,180,775
Depreciation
At 1 January 2007 1,526,925 12,200,709 451,255 5,726,603 19,905,492
On disposals - (15,649) \)%747) (13,250) (29,646)
Reclassification (44,231) 185,732 & (4 447) (66,523) NIL
Charge for the year 4] 3, 024 2,840, 669@ 221,648 1,183,717 4,659,058
At 31 December 2007 1 89‘5 718 15 M@l 667,709 6,830,547 24,534,904
S S
Net book values (\Q <
At 31 December 2007 35.757 6&@\\&8 916, 054 1,248,401 2,970,236 53,892,361
At 31 December 2006 29 54@ 12,476,766 1,430,036 1,876,667 45,328,701
5 9§33 : it
J
3
&
ol

Included above are assets held under finance lease contracts as follows:

2007 2006
Net Deprec Net Deprec
Asset description book value charge book value charge
€ € € €
Plant and machinery 7,140,329 1,127,330 5,601,242 1,296,325
Motor vehicles 2,747,437 1,067,111 1,413,850 581,933

9,887,766 2,194,441 7,015,092 1,878,258
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9.

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

continued

Tangible assets - Company

Land and Plant and Fixtures Motor Total
buildings machinery & fittings vehicles
freehold
€ € € € €
At 1 January 2007 31,072,157 24,677,475 1,881,291 7,603,270 65,234,193
Additions 1,619,783 4,443,158 131,523 2,420,672 8,615,136
Reclassification 73,794 350,339 (86,953) (20,159) NIL
Disposals (426,121)  (384,900) (9,751)  (203,000) (1,023,772)
At 31 December 2007 32,339,613 29,086,072 1,916,110 9,800,783 72,825,557
Depreciation
At 1 January 2007 1,526,925 12,200,709 451 &55 5,726,603 19,905,492
On disposals - (15,649) (@\?747) (13,250)  (29,646)
Reclassification (44231) 185732 (O(4447)  (66,523) NIL
Charge for the year 413,024 2,840,6@0{5\ 221,648 1,183,717 4,659,058
At 31 December 2007 1,895,718 15,@%;} 1 667,709 6,830,547 24,534,904
Net book values Q;‘}\O(\,.\\éK
At 31 December 2007 30,443,8 ®b§§,874,611 1,248,401 2,970,236 48,537,143
3 Q ———
O O
At 31 December 2006 29,66& (&\\2 12,476,767 1,430,596 1,876,110 45,453,116
= \‘0 e — e ————
&
ol

Included above are assets held under finance lease contracts as follows:

2007 2006
Net Deprec Net Deprec
Asset description book value charge book value charge
€ € € €
Plant and machinery 7,140,329 1,127,330 5,601,242 1,296,325

Motor vehicles 2,747,437 1,067,111
9,887,766 2,194,441

1,413,850 581,933
7,015,092 1,878,258
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10.

10.

continued

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Intangible fixed assets - Group

Cost
At 1 January 2006

At 31 December 2007

Amortised
At 1 January 2007

Goodwill

€

7,879,218

7,879,218

Total

€
7,879,218
7.879.218

Amortisation charge for the year

At 31 December 2007

Net book values
At 31 December 2007

At 31 December 2006

Cost
At 1 January 2007

At 31 December 2007

Amortised
At 1 January 2007

5,498,953
766,308

5,498,953
766,308

6,265,261

6,265,261

1,613,957

1,613,957

2,380,265

2,380,265

Amortisation charge for the year

At 31 December 2007

Net book values
At 31 December 2007

At 31 December 2006

Page 19

Goodwill Total

€ €

4,066,654 4,066,654

4,066,654 4,066,654

2,279,499 2,279,499
337,363 337,363

2,616,862 2616862

1,449,792 1,449,792

1,787,155 1,787,155
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

............... continued

11 Financial Fixed Assets - Company

Subsidiary Total

Undertakings

Shares
Cost € €
At 1 January 2007 6,645,200 6,645,200
At 31 December 2007 6,645,200 6,645,200

Net book values

At 31 December 2007 6,045,200 6,645,200
At 31 December 2006 6,645,200 6,645,200

&
@
ﬁo\
&S
RV
K
&
KO
N
SO
&
XS
O
(\§
ol
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

............... continued

11.1.  The company holds share capital of the following companies:

Country of

registration
Company or incorporation Shares heldClass Holding
Subsidiary undertaking
PT Farms Limited Republic of Ireland 100 Ordinary 100%
Thornton Waste Disposal Limited ~ Republic of Treland 2 Ordinary 100%
Brivin Enterprises Limited Republic of Ireland 2 Ordinary 100%
Celbridge Amenities Limited Republic of Ireland 11 Ordinary 52%
Kildare Recycling Limited Republic of Ireland 90 Ordinary 90%
Thornton Recycling Centre Limited  Republic of Ireland 98 Ordinary 98%
Colistown Holdings Limited Republic of Ireland 1 Ordinary 'A’

(a)  The aggregate amount of capital and reserves and the results of these undertakings for the last relevant
financial year were as follows:
Capital and reserves  Profitsfor the yearStatus
&
€ s €

PT Farms Limited 200 (@’ @0 - Dormant
Thornton Waste Disposal Limited 2,230,658 - Dormant
Brivin Enterprises Limited 1,76\%@% - Dormant
Celbridge Amenities Limited ‘ OQQé\& “ . In Members
& §° Voluntary
J\»\(@&\\ Liquidation
Kildare Recycling Limited QOQA‘\ 100 - Dormant
Thomton Recycling Centre Limited 6\0 200 - Dormant
Colistown Holdings Limited &‘,\\ -+ - Dormant

The impact of minority interes(@ﬂ'\n the year were not material

(b)  The directors are of the opinion that the value of the financial assets is not less than the amount shown
in the accounts.

(¢)  The company owns 100% of the share capital of P. T. Farms Limited whose registered office is Unit
S3B, Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12. The investment comprises of 100 ordinary shares of €2 each.

(d)  The company owns 100% of the share capital of Thornton Waste Disposal Limited whose registered
office is Unit S3B, Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12, The investment comprises of 2 ordinary shares
of €625,000 each. Thornton Waste Disposal Limited has ceased trading along with its assets and
business.

(¢)  The company own 100% of Brivin Enterprises Limited, whose registered office is Unit S3B Parkwest
Business Park, Dublin 12. The investment comprises of 2 ordinary shares of €2,500,000 each.

n The company own 52 % of the issued share capital of Celbridge Amenities Limited, whose registered
office is Unit S3B, Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12. The investment comprises of 11 ordinary shares
of €1 each. The company was placed on members voluntary liquidation on 8th November 2006.

(g)  The company own 98% of the issued share capital of Thomton Recycling Centre Limited, whose
registered office is Unit S3B, Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12. The investment comprises of 98
ordinary shares of €2 each.

(h)  The company own 90% of the issued share capital of Kildare Recycling Limited, whose registered
office is Unit S3B, Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12. The investment comprises of 90 ordinary shares
of €1 each.

Page 21

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:36



12,

13:

13,

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

continued

The company holds the 1 issued Ordinary 'A' share of Colistown Holdings Limited, whose registered
office is Unit S3B, Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12. This share entitles the company to appoint all
the directors. However, it is not entitled to a share in the profits or its assets.

Stocks - Group & company 2007 2006
€ €
Stock 14,180 23,909
The replacement cost of stocks did not differ significantly from the figure shown.
Debtors - Group
~ 2007 2006
e ¢
&
Trade debtors S 8,057,208 8,662,668
Sundry Debtors AN 138,079 47,553
Prepayments and accrued income Q‘\}Q é)\?\ 729,517 1,133,201
S -
@i@é 8,924,804 9,843 422
(é? \O ==
)
SN
S
Debtors - company ,\6\
o(\&\ 2007 2006
© € ¢
Trade debtors 8,057,208 8,662,668
Amount owed by subsidiary companies 41,443 -
Sundry Debtors 138,079 47,553
Prepayments and accrued income 729,517 1,133,201
8,966,247 9,843,422
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14.

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

continued

Creditors: amounts falling due 2007 2006
within one year - group € €
Bank loans & overdraft 3,388,431 1,814,368
Trade creditors 5,624,127 6,336,105
Finance leases 3,395,877 3,123,738
Directors' accounts 1,040,095 1,805,880
Taxation:
Corporation tax 48,885 621,692
PAYE 252,009 278,884
VAT 682,785 133,435
14,432,209 14,114,102
e
Creditors: amounts falling due L& 2007 2006
within one year - company oﬂ@&’é\ € €
L
&
Bank loans & overdraft Q\s@éy\‘ 3,388,431 1,814,368
Trade creditors ‘\\oi\@\‘ 5,624,327 6,336,305
Amounts owing to subsidiary companies é"\oi* 3,882,680 3,882,680
Finance leases o’\\(\\@{\ 3,395,877 3,123,738
Directors' accounts N 00@ 1,040,098 1,805,880
Taxation: ,\6\
Corporation tax (\4"\ 48,885 621,692
PAYE & 252,009 278,884
VAT 682,785 133,435
18,315,092 17,996,982
Creditors: amounts falling due 2007 2006
after more than one year - group € €
Bank loan 21,841,171 19,450,281
Finance leases 3,249,765 1,959,746
25,090,936 21,410,027
Loan repayments fall due as follows:
Repayable in one year or less, or on demand 3.295.859 1,466,291
Repayable between one and two years 2,282,758 1,532,758
Repayable between two and five years 2,612,964 1,862,964
Repayable in five years or more 13,649,590 14,588,268
21,841,171 19,450,281
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

............... continued
15.  Creditors: amounts falling due 2007 2006
after more than one year - company € €
Bank loan 16,527,396 19,450,281
Finance leases 3,249,765 1,959,746
19,777,161 21,410,027

Loans
Repayable in one year or less, or on demand 3,295,859 1,466,201
Repayable between one and two years 1,532,758 1,532,758
Repayable between two and five years 1,862,964 1,862,964
Repayable in five years or more 9,835,815 14,588,268
16,527,396 19,450,281

é(\é
NG
16.  Provisions for liabilities and charges - Group SO

Deferred tax is analysed over the following ur@‘heé,\&ferences

é? 0
L $Q Provided
\ 2007 2006
£ € €
Oo(\f
Accelerated capital allowances 302,458 389,643

Movements on the provision for deferred taxation are:

2007 2006

€ €

At 1 January 389,643 389,643
Transferred to profit and

loss account (87,185) -

At 31 December 302,458 389,643
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17.

18.

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

continued

Provisions for liabilities and charges - Company

Deferred tax is analysed over the following timing differences:

Provided
2007 2006
€ €
Accelerated capital allowances 302,458 389,643
Movements on the provision for deferred taxation are:
- 2007 2006
é\’& € €
&
At 1 January S 389,643 389,643
Transferred to profit and oof?&\o
loss account Q&Q@\‘:}\ (87,185) -
- . (\ \ —
At 31 December S 302,458 389,643
O -
)
SN
X
Share capital ,\6\ 2007 2006
(& € €
Authorised equity &
1,000 Ordinary shares of €2 each 2,000 2,000
2 Ordinary shares of €2 each 4 4
Equity interest 4 4

Bank loans and overdrafts

The following security is provided on all bank loans and overdrafts:
(i) Cross company guarantee within the group

(i1) Fixed and floating charge over the assets of the group

(ii1) A fixed charge over specific group freehold property
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

............... continued

19.  Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash flow from
operating activities

2007 2006

€ €

Operating profit 4,765,536 10,997,890
Depreciation 4,659,058 3,962,654
Goodwill Amortised 766,308 976,300
(Profit) / Loss on disposal of fixed assets (267,176) (7,077,715)
(Increase)/Decrease in stocks 9,729 (23,909)
(Increase)/Decrease in debtors 1,009,144 (1,712,676)
Increase/(Decrease) in creditors (1,045,814) (654,490)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 9,896,785 6,468,054
\ed -

@
&
20.  Reconciliation of movements in shareholders' fund(gﬁ-' gﬁoup
O
G
R Profit
RIS
‘OQQ & & Loss Total
Foy §é‘ € €
S
At 1 January 2007 Qé§g 21,794,159 21,794,159
Proceeds from issue of shares in 6\00 3 3
subsidiary f

Profit for the year oo° 2,953,490 2,953,490

24,747,652 24,747,652

On 6th December 2006, the company formed a subsidiary inwhich it holds a controlling interest.
Three ordinary shares were issued of €1 each to connected parties during the year.
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22,

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

continued

Reconciliation of movements in shareholders' funds - company

Total
€

23,977,017
3,258,020

27,235,037

Profit
& Loss
€
At 1 January 2007 23,977,017
Profit for the year 3,258,020
At 31 December 2007 27,235,037

Proceeds of issue of non-equity shares

Net proceeds of non-equity share issue

&
@
&
NG
O
Minority Interest 009'75;\ 2007
L
NN €
N &
S &

At 1st January 2007 &é’§ -
Share of profits on Liquidation o"\(\ <§\\ -
Funds allocated directly on qumdatl%rg@ -
Proceeds from issue of shares in su@ldlary 3
At 31 December 2007 & 3

2006

2,676,923
(2,676,923)

Related party transactions

The company has taken advantage of the exemption within Financial Reporting Standard 8 - "Related
Party Transactions", for a parent not to report transactions with subsidiaries in the group when

presenting their consolidated financial statements.
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2007

............... continued

23.  Commitments
Capital Commitments
Future capital expenditure approved by the directors but not provided for in these financial
statements is as follows:

2007 2006
€ €
Contracted for = 3

Finance lease commitments
Annual commitments under non cancellable finance leases as follows:
Plaﬂf’ and Motor Total
chinery Vehicles

NS € € €
Expiring: g’p}*\é
Within one year A 2,263,918 1,131,959 3,395,877
Between two and five years ‘ooQé«é)‘ 2,166,510 1,083,255 3,249,765
X X .
b(éfg,;O& 4,430,428 2215214 6,645,642
S
£
s\C:
O

24.  Guarantees
Pursuant to the provisions @f‘\ Section 17, Companies (Amendment) Act, 1986, the company has
guaranteed the liabilities of all of it subsidiary undertakings in the Republic of Ireland for the financial
year ended 31st December 2007 and as a result such subsidiary undertakings have been exempted from
the filings provisions of Section 7, Companies (Amendment) act, 1986.

25.  Approval of financial statements

Approved by the Board on 22;'.S pq\?ﬂ.\ L 2%

Page 28

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:36



Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited
Report on Additional Information
The additional information on page 30 - 32 has been prepared from the books and records of the company. This
information has not been subjected to the tests and other auditing procedures applied in our examination of the

statutory financial statements of Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited for the year ended 31 December
2007 and no audit opinion is expressed on it.

In relation to the statutory financial statements taken as a whole, this information is fairly presented in all
material respects.

N0 1

Newmarket Partnership

Registered Auditors
G9 Calmount Park
Ballymount &
Dublin 12 &
&
)
O
oAP? N\PRI 2p5] S
Date ' :\\0(\ &
Y
S
S
*\C’OQ
O
&
ol
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Sales
Cost of sales

Direct costs

Cost of goods sold
Bin Maintenance
Landfill Charges
Protective Clothing
Security

Wages and salaries
Subcontractors

Fuel

Road Tax

Tyres and Batteries
Truck Expenses
Environmental costs
Freight and Carriage
Disposal Costs

Operating lease rentals - land & blds <<°J\ $

Motor Insurance

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Consolidated Detailed Trading Profit and Loss Account

and Expenses Schedule

for the year ended 31 December 2007

Depreciation on freehold property
Amortisation on long leasehold
Depreciation on plant and machinery
Depreciation on motor vehicles
Repairs & Maintenance - equipment

Repairs & Maintenance - Land & Buildings

Gross profit

2007 2006
€ € €

44,497,480
26,536 216,983
150,258 ;
326,420 356,663
11,443,296 11,341,479
16,285 30,921
241,198 154,609
9,058,782 8,305,260
2356215 & 2,441,138
1,751,569 @ 1,513,321
187 Sgﬁ 142,042
gyg,@@s 199,558
°495 15,741
Q @20 982 30,796
S 64,923 102,140
%& 679,385 63,405
Q\ 19,781 -
6\00 185,500 314,736
11,804 11,804
401,220 310,260
2,840,669 2,452,231
1,183,717 972,466
1,602,793 1,753,618
274,049 174,167
33,099,308 30,903,338

(33,099,308)

26% 11,398,172 28%
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Consolidated Detailed Trading Profit and Loss Account
and Expenses Schedule
for the year ended 31 December 2007

Administrative expenses

Wages and salaries
Directors' remuneration
Directors' pension costs
Staff pension costs
Recruitment

Rent & Rates
Insurance

Light, heat & power
Cleaning

Printing, postage and stationery
Advertising

Telephone

Computer costs

Motor expenses

Waste Licence

Legal and professional
Consultancy fees

Audit

Bank charges

Bad debts

Staff welfare

General expenses

Profit/Loss on disposals of fixed assets

Amortisation of Goodwill

Depreciation on Fixtures & Fittings

2007 2006
€ € € €
2,641,612 2,887,219
768,948 914,108
11,805 -
58,139 -
45,777 25,534
273,654 442,249
216,086 699,623
675,477 502,618
37,463 34,607
191,976 216,116
175229 & 155,627
100,491 & 144,661
1573460 54,316
T4 83,782
S §9.671 44772
‘OQQ;K£6,356 229,991
S 47,632 155,026
BT sgast 53,800
<<°0Q$ 61,364 66,015
&° 119,428 120,000
& 65,177 60,807
S 5,489 (23,091)
(267,176) (1,005,055)
766,303 976,300
221,648 215,893
6,783,087 7,054,918
4,615,085 4,878,946
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Consolidated Detailed Trading Profit and Loss Account

Other operating income
Rent receivable

Profit on disposal
Gov Grants received

Operating profit

Other income and expenses

Interest payable
Bank interest
HP interest and fin. lease charges

Net profit for the year

and Expenses Schedule
for the year ended 31 December 2007

2007

127,296

23,155

11% 4,765,536

1,263,379 &
326,691 &
S o
‘grpo\o* (1,590,070)
Q\) X 3,175,466
‘0(\ é} ———
& &
K0
N
S
&QOQ
\0
&
OO
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2006

46,284
6,072,660

26% 10,997,890

988,431
301,612

(1,290,043)
9,707,847
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Directors' report and Consolidated Financial Statements -
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Directors

Secretary

Company Number

Registered Office

Auditors

Business Address

Bankers

Solicitors

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Directors' report and Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31st December 2008

Company Information

Carmel Thomton
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Shane Thornton

Paul Thomton

Gary Brady

Carmel Thornton

72366
&.
. &
Unit S3B ﬁo\
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DubljﬁQQ&\
St
(\

N

&

0&0

. X
<<<§\ '\\‘ﬁewmarket Partnership

OOQ G9 Calmount Park

Ballymount
Dublin 12

Unit S3B

Henry Road

Parkwest Business Park
Dublin 12

Ulster Bank Group
George's Quay
Dublin 2
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Hillford House
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Directors' Report
for the year ended 31 December 2008

The directors present their annual report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
company for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Prineipal activity

The principal activity of the company and group is the provision of waste management and recycling services
- including commercial and industrial waste collection and recycling, domestic waste collection, casual skip
hire, Composting, End of Life Vehicle (ELV), Confidential Paper Shredding and Liquid Waste (Tankers)
services.

Review of business and future developments

Thomtons Recycling continues to be one of the main recycling companies in Ireland. The recycling industry
has experienced a very turbulent year due to a number of factors including the global economic downturn, the
collapse of recyclables commodity markets globally and the reduction in waste volumes due to poor trading
conditions.

, & . ]
The company has had to put on hold a number of developme@t‘g until the current poor economic climate
improves at some time in the near future. This is mainlydg’@ o market uncertainly and the availability of
credit which has become a serious issue. oé\\\'é\
F3
o
The cornpany will continue to invest in its exisitingb%ﬁlities. As the company does not own a landfill, one of
our key goals is to reduce waste being sent to d@é@tﬂl and to increase recycling and recovery rates. This will
involve investment in Best Available Technolggﬁ\l@ {(BAT).
\\ '\Q
S
The company will look at investment i%\tﬁQe area of Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) as a means of reducing its
landfill costs. £
&

QO

Fair review of performance of the business

The Company experienced a significant decline in sales and profits in 2008 v 2007. This decline was
experienced principally in the second half of the year as the global recession took hold and consumer
confidence was eroded significantly. This also led to the credit crunch and drying up of available funds for
developments - this had a significant impact on the Building Sector - which in the past has contributed good
volume to the company. Despite this decline the company managed to return a profit in line with reforecast
expectations due to managing its overheads in line with volumes received.

All of the company's Small Business Units (SBU) performed well during the year and contributed positively
to the results of the company.

Overall the Directors were satisfied with the results in what was a very difficult trading year.
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Directors' Report
for the year ended 31 December 2008

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Global Recession and Credit Crunch which took hold in 2008 and its impact on the Irish Economy is the
principle cause of concern for many Irish businesses in 2009 and into the short term. This has led to
significant erosion in consumer confidence and spending as the Irish Government struggles to cope with
budget deficits through the introduction of savage cuts in public spending and increased taxes for the public.
- Waste volumes_have dropped significantly across the sector and it is imperative that Thorntons manage costs
in line with this drop in the level of activity.

The collapse of the commodities market also had a significant impact on the comany as prices being paid for
materials such as paper, cardboard, plastics and metal reduced by as much as 50% overnight in September
2008. These prices have still not recovered and it is likely to take a number of years before they recover to a
rate that will probably be significantly lower than previous prices. This will obviously have an impact on
profitability.

Enforcement of Waste Legislation may also be a risk going forward as Local Authorities and Government
Departments try to reduce costs in line with current government stﬁegy. This will have a negative impact on
compliant companies such as Thorntons that may have to compgte with other operators who may not be fully

compliant with the legislation. SO
S
G
Results and dividends SN
NN
55 ¢
The profit for the financial year amounted to Q& ,\0\$ 1,102,198
\\ '\§
S
S -
Retained profit for the financial year att{tbﬁtable to the equity shareholders 1,102,198
&
N
Profit and loss at beginning of year(®® 24,747,645
Reserve movements 1,102,198
Profit and loss at end of year 25,849,843

The directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend.

Directors
In accordance with the Axticles of Association, Carmel Thornton, Gary Brady, Anna Marie Thomton, Shane
Thomton and Paul Thornton retire by rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election

Future developments
The directors perceive no change in the future development of the business to the development pursued to 31
December 2008.
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Directors' Report
for the year ended 31 December 2008

Books of Account

The measures taken by the directors to ensure compliance with the requirements of Section 202, Companies
Act, 1990, regarding proper books of account are the implementation of necessary policies and procedures for
recording transactions, the employment of competent accounting personnel with appropriate expertise and the
provision of adequate resources to the financial function. The books of account of the company are
maintained at Unit S3B, Henry Road, Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12.

Auditors

The auditors, Newmarket Partnership, have indicated their willingness to continue in office in accordance
with the provisions of Section 160(2) of the Companies Act, 1963.

This report was approved by the Board on éq'— M(‘m RUO‘% and signed on its behalf by:

2/

Paul Tl'wrnton
Director
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Statement of Directors' Responsibilities
for the year ended 31 December 2008

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true
and fair view of the state of the affairs of the company and of the group and of the profit or loss of the company
for that year. In preparing these the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

- prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper books of account which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Acts 1963 to 2006 and all Regulatigp% to be construed as one with those Acts.
They have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are réasonably open to them to safeguard the assets
of the company and to prevent and detect fraud and other irgsgufarities.

pany p r@;gﬂé

SO
On behalf of the board NI
S
RO
NS
S
= QOOQ\\
y) S
U &
Paul Thornton P
Director
. th m ;
6% My 400§
Date J
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Independent Auditors' Report to the Members of Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

We have audited the financial statements of Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited for the year ended 31
December 2008 which comprise the profit and loss account, the balance sheet, the cash flow statement and the
related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the company's shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section 193 of the
Companies Act, 1990. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's
shareholders those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors' report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company's sharcholders as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As described in the statement of directors' responsibilities the company's directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice in Ireland including the accounting standards issued by the Accounting Standards Board.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Irelandc)g‘
éo

We report to you cur opinion as to whether the financial stat fents give a true and fair view in accordance
with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in Irelan@,@é(@ are prOperly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Acts 1963 to 2006. We also report to y s‘gth-ar in our opinion: proper books of account have
been kept by the company; whether, at the balang %@t date, there exists a financial situation requiring the
convening of an Extraordinary General Meetings % company; and whether the information given in the
Directors' Report is consistent with the fmanq;ﬁ’ s%tements In addition, we state whether we have obtained all
the information and explanations necessary ?@\ the purposes of our audit and whether the company's balance
sheet and its profit and loss account are in @ement with the books of account and returns.

0\6\
We report to the shareholders iK)O% our opinion, any information specified by law regarding directors'
remuneration and directors' transactions is not disclosed and, where practicable, include such information in
our report.

We read the directors' report and consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatement within it.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by
the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the company's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately
disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial
statements.
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Independent Auditors' Report to the Members of Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Opinion

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice in Ireland, of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2008 and of its profit
and cash flows for the year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Acts 1963 to 2006.

We have obtained all the information and explanations that we consider necessary for the purposes of our
audit. In our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the company. The financial statements are
in agreement with the books of account.

In our opinion the information given in the directors' report is consistent with the financial statements.

The net assets of the company, as stated in the balance sheet, are more than half of the amount of its called up
share capital and, in our opinion, on that basis there did not exist at 31 December 2008 a financial situation
which under Section 40 (1) of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1983 would require the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting of the company.

&¢
N
o
S &
P
("
\
N 2eomaleX ook ; 6" Mo _zost
Newmarket Partnership QE'\ A Date %
Registered Auditors 0\ @i\\
G9 Calmount Park QOQ
Ballymount 06\
Dublin 12 <
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
for the year ended 31 December 2008

2008
Notes €
Group turnover 2 39,045,037
Cost of sales (30,711,250)
Gross profit 8,333,787
Administrative expenses (5,333,451)
Other operating income 190,226
Group operating profit 3 3,190,562
Interest payable
= - 4 o
and similar charges (1,869,258;0&
Profit on ordinary &
activities before taxation 1@’23‘&\})4
Tax on profit on ordinary activites 8 Q\\} 0\\(219 106)
(\ = e -
O
Profit on ordinary &@é\ é@é
activities after taxation & é)('\\ 1,102,198
<<0 *\\ -
Retained profit for the year \ooQ 1,102,198
& -
&

O
Approved by the Board on ét/—h‘ W\ﬂj} D\O Oi? and signed on its behalf by:

CAUL %/

2007

44,497,480

(33,099,308)
11,398,172

(6,783,087)
150,451

4,765,536

(1,590,070)

3,175,466

(221,976)

2,953,490
2,953,490

Paul Thornton Gary Brad
Director Dlreﬁo
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2008

2008
Notes €
Fixed Assets
Goodwill 10 1,432,142
Tangible assets 9 59,839,529
61,271,671
Current Assets
Stocks 12 65,491
Debtors 13 7,870,738
Investments 110,967
Cash at bank and in hand 151
8,047,347
Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year 14 (17,964,848)
_— T %
Net Current Liabilities (9,91 7,5\@1\3
Total Assets Less Current o‘@;@
Liabilities F515354,170
LS
S
Creditors: amounts falling due ;\\o(\(\@f
after more than one year 15 ‘(\@éf\o*A (24,958,823)
S
Provision for Liabilities \QoQ
and Charges @(@6 (545,497)
& T
Net Assets & 25,849,850
Capital and Reserves
Called up share capital 17 4
Minority Interest 21 3
Profit and loss account 25,849,843
Equity Shareholders' Funds 20 25,849,850
Equity interests 25,849,847
Minority interest 21 3
b
Approved by the Board on 6/-]\- mﬂj 20 qu and signed on its behalf by:

L]

Paul Thornton
Director

Gary Brady

2007

1,613,957
53,892,361

55,506,318
14,180
8,924,804

110,767
2,000

9,051,751

(14,417,023)
(5,365,272)

50,141,046
(25,090,936)

(302,458)
24,747,652

4
3
24,747,645

24,747,652

24,747,649
3
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Fixed Assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Investments

Current Assets

Stocks

Debtors

Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling
due within one year

Net Current Assets (Liabilities)
Total Assets Less Current
Liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due
after more than one year
Provision for Liabilities
and Charges
Net Assets

Capital and Reserves
Called up share capital
Profit and loss account

Equity Shareholders' Funds

Approved by the Board on k-h

el A

Paul Thornton
Director

Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2008

2008
Notes €
10 1,267,992
9 51,325,130
11 6,645,200
59,238,322
12 65,491
13 7,870,738
151
7,936,380
14 (21,317,243)
13,3505
(13,380,863
\ﬁ‘@
&
S748857,459
R
SO
N
& &
15 45 (16,901,797)
S
<<0\ \\'\\0)
AN
O
@(@6 (545,497)
OQ
¢ 28,410,165
17 4
28,410,161
20 28,410,165
2009 and signed on its behalf by:

ry
Director
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2007

1,449,792
48,537,143
6,645,200

56,632,135
14,180

8,966,247
2,000

8,982,427

(18,299,906)
(9,317,479)

47,314,656
(19,777,161)

(302,458)
27,235,037

4
27,235,033

27,235,037
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2008

Note

Net cash inflow from operating activities 19,
Return on Investments & Servicing of Finance
Interest received

Interest Paid 4,
Interest element of finance lease rental payments

=

Net cash outflow from return on investments &
servicing of finance

Minority Interest

Taxation
Corporation Tax (Paid)/Refunded

Investing Activities

Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets O

Proceeds from the sale of shares é??

Purchase of tangible fixed assets Q°\ &\}
S é\

Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and&é'

financial investment <<<§\ \\\\QQ

N
&

Cash inflow / (outflow) before fman@ﬁ\g
2

Financing

Finance leases acquired during the period

Finance lease repayments during the period

Bank loans acquired during the period

Bank loans repayments during the period

Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing

Increase / (decrease) in cash and demand debt
in the year

Analysis of Cash & Cash Equivalents

Balance at 31 December 2007
Net Cash Inflow / (Qutflow)

Balance at 31 December 2008
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2008
€

8,694,156

(1,601,415)
(267,843)

(1,869,258)

2,907
Wil

\

850,439

(11,657,155)
(10,806,716)

(3,748,911)

2,367,487
(4,772,820)
6,411,116
(1,466,232)

2,539,551

(1,209,360)

Bank

& Cash

€

(75,386)
{1,209,360)

(1,284,746)

o
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2007
€

9,896,785

(1,263,379)
(326,691)

(1,590,070)

(881,968)

1,014,812

(13,970,354)
(12,955,542)

(5,530,792)

6,653,015
(5,090,857)
6,501,275
(2,280,817)

5,782,616

251,824

Total

€
(75,386)
(1,209,360)

(1,284,746)



1.1.

1.2,

1.3.

1.4,

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by all the Group's
subsidiaries, to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation
The group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the company and all of
its subsidiary undertakings made up to 31st December 2008.

The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired of in the year are included in the consolidated
profit and loss account from the date of acquisition. Upon the acquisition of a business, fair
values are attributed to the identifiable net assets acquired. zbhe group's accounting policy in

relation to goodwill is set out below. é\
\<\

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any %té\%gd gains arising from such transactions,
are climinated in preparing the consohdate ahncml statements. Unrealised losses are
eliminated in the same manner as unreahs@ g&ms but onlly to the extent that there is no
evidence of impairment é}\o {\é

R
Tangible fixed assets and depreci&?t
Tangible fixed assets are stated gf" cost or at valuation, less accumulated depreciation. No
depreciation is provided on freghold land. The charge for depreciation is calculated to write
down cost or valuation of ot:};& tangible fixed assets to their estimated residual values by equal
annual instalments over their expected useful lives, which are as follows:

Land - Not Depreciated

Buildings - Over 10 years Straight Line
Plant and machinery - Over 8 years Straight Line
Office Equipment - Over 8 years Straight Line
Motor vehicles - Over 4 years Straight Line

Assets under construction are not depreciated until they are substantially ready for use.

Goodwill

Purchased goodwill arising on the acquisition of a business represents the excess of the
acquisition cost over the fair value of the identifiable net assets when they were acquired. Any
excess of the aggregate of the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired over the fair
value of the acquisition is negative goodwill,
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

............... continued

1.5. Leasing and hire purchase commitments
Assets obtained under hire purchase contracts and finance leases are capitalised as tangible
assets and depreciated over their useful lives, Obligations under such agreements are included
in creditors net of the finance charge allocated to future periods. The finance element of the
rental payment is charged to the profit and loss account so as to produce constant periodic rates
of charge on the net obligations outstanding in each period.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged against income on a straight line basis over
the lease term.

1.6. Turnover
Turnover represents the total invoice value, excluding value added tax, of sales made during
the year.,
Income arising from annual service contracts is recognised at the time when the contract is
performed in its entirety and all the related costs have been sufféred.

%\é\
1.7. Pensions & ,é\%
The company operates a defined contribution x@*n scheme on behalf of the directors and
employees. The assets of the scheme are thﬂ’ arately from those of the company in an
independently administered fund. Q Sy

The pension cost charge represents c&éﬁaﬁ{ﬁtmns paid in the period by the company to the
fund. The cost of contributions payabi%@ the scheme is recognised in full in the profit and loss
account. Q
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008 "

............... continued
1.8. Taxation

Current taxation represents the amount expected to be paid or recovered in respect of taxable profit for
the year and is calculated using the taxation rates an laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at
the balance sheet date where transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result in an
obligation to pay more, or a right to pay less or to receive more tax, with the following exceptions:

Provisions is made for tax on gains arising from the revaluation (and similar fair value adjustments) of
fixed assets, and gains on disposal of fixed assets that have been rolled over into replacement assets,
only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, there is a binding agreement to dispose of the assets
concerned. However, no provision is made where, on the basis of all available evidence at the balance
sheet date, it is more likely than not that the taxable gain will Ae rolled over into replacement assets and

charged to tax only where the replacement assets are sold; \Q@\\}
N

QO

S
Provision is made for deferred tax that would @gﬁs@g\%n remittance of the retained earnings of overseas
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 0@0@ the extent that, at the balance sheet date, dividends

have been accrued as receivable; ' OQQ é\&\
L
S
Deferred tax assets are recognised Q\\&\ the extent that the directors consider that it is more likely than
not that there will be suitable tax profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing
differences can be deducted. &
@Q

N\

S
Deferred tax is measured o% an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
periods in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

1.9. Stock and work in progress and work in progress
Stocks and Work in Progress are valued on a First In First Out (FIFO) basis at the lower of cost
and net realisable value after making due allowance for any obsolete or slow moving items.
Net realisable value comprises the actual or estimated selling price (net of trade discounts) less
all further costs to completion or to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

2. Turnover

The total turnover of the company for the year has been derived from its principal activity wholly
undertaken in Ireland.
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

continued

Group operating profit

Group operating profit is stated after charging:
Amortisation of goodwill

Depreciation of tangible assets

Auditors' remuneration

and after crediting:
Government grants received

Interest payable and similar charges

On bank loans
Lease finance charges and hire purchase interest
&
M
N S
Employees S o\$<\®
Number of employees N ~<\\

The average monthly numbers of é‘n}g}oyees
(including the directors) during thé year were:
£
QOQ@
Drivers & Operatives
Administration & Support
Sales
Management

Employment costs

Wages and salaries

Page 15

o
S

o\

2008 2007
€ €
181,800 766,303
5,158,416 4,659,058
38,700 58,451
15,155 23,155
2008 2007
€ €

Rg
s 1,601,415 1,263,379
267,843 326,691
1,869,258 1,590,070
2008 2007
Number Number
200 228
40 40
10 9
5 6
255 283
2008 2007
€ €
11,014,731 12,539,286
11,014,731 12,539,286
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

............... continued
0. Directors' remuneration and transactions
2008 2007
Remuneration 615,803 768,948
Pension contributions 11,805 11,805

627,608 780,753

Directors and secretary and their interests
The directors and secretary who held office at 31st December 2008 had no interests other than those
shown below in the shares in, or debentures or loan stock of, the company or group companies:

&

Company N
Padraic Thomton Waste Disposal Limited & 7@0\ Interest at
a?,poio\ beginning of
& & year or date of

SN . .
S & Interest at appointment, (if
Name of Director Descripti&@gﬂzflstrument end of year later)
L
O
Carmel Thornton 2 Ordﬁ?O y shares of €2 each 4 4
\6\0
Gary Brady & - -
&
O

Anna Marie Thornton - -
Shane Thornton - -

Paul Thornton - -

All shares were shares in Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited and all were beneficially held.
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continued

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

Other companies in the group:

Thornton Recycling Centre Limited

Name of Director ' Description of Instrument

Carmel Thorton 1 Ordinary shares of €2 each

Kildare Recycling Centre Limited

&
N
&
&
Name of Director Description of Ir ent
A
Carmel Thornton 10 Ordingg@»\%@res of €1 each
S
N
. R
Pension costs &°

Interest at
end of year

2

Interest at
end of year

10

Interest at
beginning of
year or date of
appointment, (if
later)

2

Interest at
beginning of
year or date of
appointment, (if
later)

10

The pension entitlements o\fjo%mployees, including executive directors, arise under a defined
contribution pension scheme and are secured by contributions by the company to a separately
administered pension fund. The advice of a professionally qualified actuary is taken in

assessing pension costs and liabilities.
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

continued

Tax on profit on ordinary activities

Analysis of charge in period 2008 2007

€ €
Corporation tax 265,421 556,849
Adjustments in respect of previous periods (46,315) (247,688)
Total current tax charge 219,106 309,161
Deferred tax
Timing differences, origination and reversal - (87,183)
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 219,106 221,976
Factors affecting tax charge for period é\)&

&

The tax assessed for the period is less than the gi\;an,@d rate of corporation tax in Ireland
(12.5%). The differences are explained below: ézfp S8

\Q \’\ 2008 2007
Rt ¢ ¢
O é
Profit on ordinary activities before taxa{ggé’xb\$ 1,321,304 3,175,466
<<(§ *\\Q
Profit on ordinary activities multlpg&% by standard rate of corporation
tax in Ireland of 12.5% (31 De@’lber 2007 : 12.5%) 165,163 396,933
Expenses not deductible for ¢£{ purposes - 100,258 159,916
Current tax charge for period 265,421 556,349
Page 18
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9.

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

serenens CONtinued

Tangible assets - Group

At 1 January 2008
Additions
Disposals

At 31 December 2008

Depreciation

At 1 January 2008
On disposals
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2008

Net book values
At 31 December 2008

At 31 December 2007

Notes to the Financial Statements T
for the year ended 31 December 2008

Land and Plant and Fixtures Motor Total

buildings machinery & fittings vehicles
€ € € € €

37,653,388 29,127,515 1,916,110 9,300,783 78,497,796
7703,634 2,541,798 285,496 1,126,227 11,657,155
- (8,676,146) (155,880) (4,981,079)(13,813,105)

45,357,022 22,993,167 2,045,726 5945931 76,341,846

1,895,718 15,211,461 667,709 6,830,547 24,605,435
- (8,401,287) é\lﬁ‘§0,878) (4,709,369)(13,261,534)
521,154 2,990,977 57244,894 1,401,391 5,158,416
SO
2,416,872 9,8&@5)\@?9 761,725 3,522,569 16,502,317
D
L
&@\3}
42,940,1050@0*\:@192,016 1,284,001 2,423,362 59,839,529
O

T
358&2@\0 13,916,054 1,248,401 2,970,236 53,892,361

Q\)
&

N
OQ@Q
O

Included above are assets held under finance lease contracts as follows:

Asset deseription

Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles

2008 2007
Net Deprec Net Deprec
book value charge book value charge
€ € € €

3,095,758 480,210 5,601,242 1,296,325
3,567,412 999,103 1,413,850 581,933

6,663,170 1,479,313 7,015,092 1,878,258
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............... continued

9. Tangible assets - Company

At 1 January 2008
Additions
Disposals

At 31 December 2008

Depreciation

At 1 January 2008
On disposals
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2008

Net book values
At 31 December 2008

At 31 December 2007

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited b

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

Land and Plant and Fixtures Motor Total
buildings machinery & fittings vehicles

€ € € € €
32,339,613 29,086,072 1,916,110 9,800,783 73,142,578
4,544,453 2,541,798 285496 1,126,227 8,497,974
- (8,676,146) (155,880) (4,981,079)(13,813,105)

36,884,066 22,951,724 2,045,726 5,945,931 67,827,447

1,895,718 15211461 667,709 6,830,547 24,605,435
- (8,401,287) (156,878) (4,709,369)(13,261,534)
521,154 2,990,977 244894 1401391 5,158,416

SIS
2416872 9 S%Qiﬁﬂé\ 761,725 3,522,569 16,502,317
RN \\S‘W
34,467, 19%0“?\&,‘150 573 1,284,001 2,423,362 51,325,130

30 c}(@?@ 13,874,612 1,248,961 2,969,679 48,537,143

0\)

&

N
OQ@Q
O

Included above are assets held under finance lease contracts as follows:

Asset description

Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles

2008 2007
Net Deprec Net Deprec
book value charge book value charge
€ € € €

3,095,758 480,210 5,601,242 1,296,325
3,567,412 999,103 1,413,850 581,933

6,663,170 1,479,313 7,015,092 1,878,258
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10.

10.

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

continued

Intangible fixed assets - Group

Cost
At 1 January 2007

At 31 December 2008

Amortised
At 1 January 2008
Amortisation charge for the year

At 31 December 2008

Net book values
At 31 December 2008

At 31 December 2007

Cost
At 1 January 2008

At 31 December 2008

Amortised
At 1 January 2008
Amortisation charge for the year

At 31 December 2008

Net book values
At 31 December 2008

At 31 December 2007

Page 21

Goodwill
€

7,879,218

Total

€

7,879,218

7,879,218

7,879,218

6,265,261
181,800

6,265,261
181,800

6,447,061

6,447,061

1,432,142

1,432,142

1,613,957

1,613,957

Goodwill Total

€ €

4,066,654 4,066,654

4,066,654 4,066,654

2,616,862 2,616,862
181,800 181,800

2,798,662 2,798,662

1,267,992 1,267,992

1,449,792 1,449,792
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

............... continued

11 Financial Fixed Assets - Company

Subsidiary Tatal
Undertakings
Shares
Cost € €
At 1 January 2008 6,645,200 6,645,200
At 31 December 2008 6,645,200 6,645,200
Net book values
At 31 December 2008 6,645,200 6,645,200
At 31 December 2007 6,645,200 6,645,200
&
\Qé
S
)
NE
F3S
&
SO0
N
W @
&
KO
N
<<(§ \\'\\Q
x@Q
oﬁ\\\o
s
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

............... continued

11.1. The company holds share capital of the following companies:

Country of

registration
Company or incorporation Shares held Class Holding
Subsidiary undertaking
PT Farms Limited Republic of Ireland 100 Ordinary 100%
Thornton Waste Disposal Limited ~ Republic of Ireland 2 Ordinary 100%
Brivin Enterprises Limited Republic of Ireland 2 Ordinary 100%
Thorton Recycling Centre Limited  Republic of Ireland 93 Ordinary 98%
Colistown Holdings Limited Republic of Ireland 1 Ordinary 'A’

(a) The aggregate amount of capital and reserves and the results of these undertakings for the last
relevant financial year were as follows:

Capital and reserves Profit for the year Status
€ éo& €
PT Farms Limited 200 § - Dormant
Thornton Waste Disposal Limited 2,230 638*\ - Dormant
Brivin Enterprises Limited 1 768?@ - Dormant
Thornton Recycling Centre Limited *%3\5\00 - Dormant
Colistown Holdings Limited 0(\@ - Dormant
The impact of minority interests in the,\@\gﬁ;vere not materlal
& O
{(b)  The directors are of the opinion tthQ%e value of the financial assets is not less than the amount

shown in the accounts. &°

(¢)  The company owns 100% ogﬁe share capital of P. T. Farms Limited whose registered office is
Unit 83B, Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12, The investment comprises of 100 ordinary
shares of €2 each.

(d) The company owns 100% of the share capital of Thomton Waste Disposal Limited whose
registered office is Unit S3B, Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12. The investment comprises of
2 ordinary shares of €625,000 each. Thornton Waste Disposal Limited has cecased trading
along with its assets and business.

(¢) The company own 100% of Brivin Enterprises Limited, whose registered office is Unit S3B
Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12. The investment comprises of 2 ordinary shares of
€2,500,000 each.

(1] The company own 98% of the issued share capital of Thornton Recycling Centre Limited,
whose registered office is Unit S3B, Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12. The investment
comprises of 98 ordinary shares of €2 each.

(g0 The company holds the 1 issued Ordinary 'A’ share of Colistown Holdings Limited, whose
registered office is Unit S3B, Parkwest Business Park, Dublin 12. This share entitles the
company to appoint all the directors. However, it is not entitled to a share in the profits or its
assets.
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12.

13.

13.

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

verrerenenne. CONtiNued

Stocks - Group & company 2008
€
Stock 65,491

2007
€

14,180

The replacement cost of stocks did not differ significantly from the figure shown.

Debtors - Group

2008 2007
€ €
Trade debtors 6,678,201 8,057,208
Corporation Tax Repayable é\\,952"230,342 -
RCT Repayable & 28,283 138,079
Prepayments and accrued income O&\g@ 933,912 729,517
S\
& & 7,870,738 8,924,804
S
\30 (\é\
&S
)

Debtors - company L Q‘\K\
& 2008 2007
S € €

2
Trade debtors 6,678,201 8,057,208
Amount owed by subsidiary companies - 41,443
Corporation Tax Repayable 230,342 -
RCT Repayable 28,283 138,079
Prepayments and accrued income 933,912 729,517
7,870,738 8,966,247
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14.

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

continued
Creditors: amounts falling due 2008 2007
within one year - group € : €
Bank loans & overdraft 8,248,606 3,373,245
Trade creditors 4.490,925 5,624,127
Finance leases 2,888,077 3,395,877
Directors' accounts 2,039,008 1,040,095
Taxation:
Corporation tax - 48,885
PAYE 244,552 252,009
VAT 53,590 682,785
17,964,848 14,417,023
%
‘Q\é\\)
&
Creditors: amounts falling due Oé\\o;?@ 2008 2007
within one year - company O@r? @6\ € €
Q\>\Qe9$
Bank loans & overdraft \o*\{\@f 8,248,606 3,373,248
Trade creditors S 4,491,125 5,624,327
N
Amounts owing to subsidiary comp@nﬁigs 3,352,195 3,882,680
Finance leases éooQ 2,888,077 3,395,877
Directors' accounts @o\ 2,039,098 1,040,095
Taxation: &
Corporation tax - 48,885
PAYE 244,552 252,009
VAT 53,590 682,785
21,317,243 18,299,906
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15.

15.

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

continued

Creditors: amounts falling due
after more than one year - group

Bank loan
Finance leases

Loan repayments fall due as follows:
Repayable in one year or less, or on demand
Repayable between one and two years
Repayable between two and five years
Repayable in five years or more

Creditors: amounts falling due
after more than one year - company &
A

Bank loan L
Finance leases

Loans

Repayable in one year or less, or on demand
Repayable between one and two years
Repayable between two and five years
Repayable in five years or more

2008 2007
€ €
23,118,190 21,841,171
1,840,633 3,249,765
24,958,823 25,090,936
1,466,232 3,295,859
4123391 3,249,765
5,719,610 3,957,044
13,649,590 14,588,268
é),¢
$24,958 823 25,090,936
&
2008 2007
€ €
15,061,164 16,527,396
1,840,633 3,249,765
16,901,797 19,777,161
1,466,208 3,295,859
3,373,391 3,249,765
2226383 3,948,737
9,835,815 8,118,808
16,901,797 19,777,161
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16.

17.

18,

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

veererenens, CONtinued

Provisions for liabilities and charges - Group and Company

Deferred tax is analysed over the following timing differences:

2007
€

302,458

2007
€

389,643

(87,185)

302,458

2007
€

2,000

Provided
2008
€
Accelerated capital allowances 545,497
Movements on the provision for deferred taxation are:
éo& 2008
& €
S
O
At 1 January EAN 302,458
Transferred from profit and Q\>\Q®3\§\
loss account &\o*j\\@\* 121,409
Under/(Over) Provison of Deferred Ta@ﬁor year 121,630
SO
At 31 December QZOQ‘\K\ 545,497
Q\é\
&
S
Share capital 2008
€
Authorised equity
1,000 Ordinary shares of €2 each 2,000
2 Ordinary shares of €2 each 4
Equity interest 4

Bank loans and overdrafts

The following security is provided on all bank loans and overdrafis:
(i} Cross company guarantee within the group

(i} Fixed and floating charge over the assets of the group

(iii) A fixed charge over specific group freehold property
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19.

20.

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

continued

Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash flow from
operating activities

2008 2007

€ €

Operating profit 3,190,562 4,765,536

Depreciation 5,158,416 4,659,058

Goodwill Amortised 181,800 766,308
{Profit) / Loss on disposal of fixed assets (298,868) (267,176)
{Increase)/(Increase) in stocks (51,311) 9,729
{Increase)/Decrease in debtors 1,174,612 1,009,144
Increase/(Decrease) in creditors (661,055} (1,045,814)
Net cash inflow from operating activities & 8,694,156 9,896,785

O@é\
S
Reconciliation of movements in shareholders'ocﬁlgﬁﬁ - group
5\300 éf Profit
& s ¢ & Loss Total
N
<<0\ \\'K\Q € €
S

At 1 January 2008 Q\é‘ 24,747,652 24,747,652
Profit for the year & 1,102,198 1,102,198

25,849,850 25,849,850

On 6th December 2006, the company formed a subsidiary inwhich it holds a controlling interest.
Three ordinary shares were issued of €1 each to connected parties during the year.
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21

22,

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2008

continued

Reconciliation of movements in shareholders' funds - company

At 1 January 2008
Profit for the year

At 31 December 2008

4
&
&
Minority Interest S
<O
g
SO
N

At 1st January 2008 Qo*\(\@f
Proceeds from issue of shares in subsidi »

SN
At 31 December 2008 €

G

Q\é\
&
OQ
O

Related party transactions

Profit
& Loss Total
€ €
27,235,037 27,235,037
1,175,128 1,175,128
28,410,165 28,410,165
2008 2007
€ €
3 -
- 3
3 3

The company has taken advantage of the exemption within Financial Reporting Standard 8 - "Related
Party Transactions", for a parent not to report transactions with subsidiaries in the group when

presenting their consolidated financial statements.
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

............... continued

23. Commitments
Capital Commitments
The company has not commited to any future capital expenditure.

Finance lease commitments
Annual commitments under non cancellable finance leases as follows:

Plant and Motor Total
Machinery Vehicles
€ € €
Expiring:
Within one year 1,925,385 962,692 2,888,077
Between two and five years é\gf’,‘227,090 613,542 1,840,633
3 ﬁé{\ 3,152.475 1,576,234 4,728,710
'\
S
O
5
24. Guarantees ) 0(\%\
Pursuant to the provisions of Secti \\l@, Companies (Amendment) Act, 1986, the company has

9
guaranteed the liabilities of all of it-Sulsidiary undertakings in the Republic of Ireland for the financial

year ended 31st December 2008 ﬁﬁggﬁh\s a result such subsidiary undertakings have been exempted from
the filings provisions of Section 7\,§fémpanies (Amendment) act, 1986.

&

25.  Approval of financial statements

Approved by the Board on th m aj AO O"}
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Report on Additional Informatien

The additional information on page 32 - 34 has been prepared from the books and records of the company. This
information has not been subjected to the tests and other auditing procedures applied in our examination of the
statutory financial statements of Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited for the year ended 31 December

2008 and no opinion is expressed on it.

In relation to the statutory financial statements taken as a whole, this information is fairly presented in all

material respects.

NecmardeX P@J»e»ﬂ{r

Newmarket Partnership

Registered Auditors
(39 Calmount Park &
Ballymount ®®
. S
Dublin 12 & S
£35S
9Q & &
=7 > &
N
(5 UVZﬁ—\,\ Zoél S
A
Date \&9&’\\
S
x°oQ
&9
&
2
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Consolidated Detailed Trading Profit and Loss Account
and Expenses Schedule
for the year ended 31 December 2008

2008 2007
€ € € €

Sales 30,045,037 44,497 480
Cost of sales
Direct costs 48,497 26,536
Recharges 280,873 150,258
Bin Maintenance 275,473 326,420
Landfill Charges 9,997,375 11,443,296
Protective Clothing 7,240 16,285
Security 254,207 ‘ 241,198
Wages and salaries 8,020,006 & 9,058,782
Subcontractors 2,067,062 2,356,215
Fuel 1,93@62@ 1,751,569
Road Tax $158,535 187,256
Tyres and Batteries Qﬁéﬁ 86,044 240,175
Truck Expenses §<§°® 18,319 16,495
Environmental costs . \&9\(\\0 98,164 20,982
Freight and Carriage ({%@ 73,224 64,923
Disposal Costs 6\00 539,612 679,385
Operating lease rentals - land & blds " 22,532 19,781
Motor Insurance S 421,398 185,500
Depreciation on freehold property 11,804 11,804
Amortisation on long leasehold 509,350 401,220
Depreciation on plant and machinery 2,990,977 2,840,669
Depreciation on motor vehicles 1,401,391 1,183,717
Repairs & Maintenance - equipment 1,089,407 1,602,793
Repairs & Maintenance - Land & Buildings 266,021 274,049

30,711,250 33,099,308

(30,711,250) (33,099,308)
Gross profit 21% 8,333,787 26% 11,398,172
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Consolidated Detailed Trading Profit and Loss Account

Administrative expenses

Wages and salaries
Directors' remuneration
Directors' pension costs
Staff pension costs
Recruitment

Rent & Rates
Insurance

Light, heat & power
Cleaning

Printing, postage and stationery
Advertising

Telephone

Computer costs

Motor expenses

Waste Licence

Legal and professional
Consultancy fees

Audit

Bank charges

Bad debts

Staff welfare

General expenses

Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

for the year ended 31 December 2008

Profit/Loss on disposals of fixed assets

Amortisation of Goodwill

Depreciation on Fixtures & Fittings

and Expenses Schedule

2008

2,312,767
615,803
11,805
54,350
5,004
173,901
192,181
586,213
24,426

212,762 &
107,199
125,622
Oa@p@,413
S 95,440
St 89,917

&

S 252,227

O 44,440

38,700
37,348
52,074
65,033

(298,868)
181,300
244,894

5,333,451
3,000,336
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2007

2,641,612
768,948
11,805
58,139
45,777
273,654
216,086
675,477
37,463
191,976
175,229
100,491
157,346
86,741
87,671
176,356
47,632
58,451
61,364
119,428
65,177
5,489
(267,176)
766,303

221,648

6,783,087
4,615,085
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Padraic Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

Consolidated Detailed Trading Profit and Loss Account = . - v
and Expenses Schedule
for the year ended 31 December 2008

2008 2007
€ € € €
Other operating income
Rent receivable 175,071 127,296
Gov Grants received 15,155 23,155
Operating profit 8% 3,190,562 11% 4,765,536
Other income and expenses
Interest payable &
Bank interest : 1,601,415 o 1,263,379
HP interest and fin. lease charges 26 ,845;9\ 326,691
i -
Oéz"? eg\ (1,869,258) (1,590,070)
QP — —
Net profit for the year OQQ;\ ¥ 1,321,304 3,175,466
N —_— —
P
N
<<(§ \\'\\Q
x°oQ
&0
&
S
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

HSP 1.0

This Safety Statement forms part of the Thornton Recycling Health & safety Management System.
Thorntons have developed a Safety Management system to the internationally recognised
specification OHSAS 18001:2007.

Introduction

The Part 1 of the Safety Statement is generic to all activities and sites with the Thornton Recycling
Group. The Safety Statement becomes site specific when the risk assessments for that area / facility
are attached in the Part 2.

PART (I): Policies and Arrangements for Health and Safety

THE SAFETY STATEMENT

In accordance with Section 20 — Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment, of the Safety, Health and

Welfare Act, 2005, and clause 4.3.2 of OHSAS 18001, 2007 Thorntons Recycling has prepared this

Safety Statement.

This document describes the systems and resources provided for the assurance of safety for all

Thorntons Recycling activities.

0&

It is important that you read this carefully and uni@stand your role in the overall

arrangements for safety at Thorntons Recycling o°
S\
Circulation \\}QO§
Q& |
Name © @ Title
P
Mr. Gary Brady O(\Q.\\Sé\& Managing Director
Mrs. Carmel Thornton < @ Director
Ms Anna Marie Thornton 6\00 Director
Mr. Paul Thornton Q¢<\ Director
Mr. Shane Thornton OO(\ Director
Mr. Nicole Fitzgerald Finance Manager
Mr. Gary Brady Human Resources Manager
Mr. Tommy Rogers Health & Safety Manager
Ms. Mercedes Feely Group Environmental Manager
Mr. Ted Moran Maintenance Manager
Mr. Conor Sunderland Transport Manager
Mr. John Smullen Operations Manager
Mr. John Staunton Sales Manager
Mr. Mark Conroy TTS Manager
Mr. Nigel Gleeson Security Shredding Manager
Mr. Tom McDonnell Kilmainhamwood Facility Manager
Mr. Alan Elliot ELV Manager
CUSTODIAN: Health & Safety Manager Page 4 of 49
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

Safety Statement Revision.

The Health & Safety Manager is responsible for the issue, amendment and control of the Safety
Statement. The Safety Statement will be reviewed on an annual basis by the Health & Safety
Manager and will be changed accordingly as hames of responsible persons change, or risks change
or changes in legislation occur.

The Safety Statement will also form part of the internal audit schedule and will be subject to regular
audits during any period of a year.

A statement of fact for inclusion in the end of the years Directors Annual Report as per the

requirements of the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act, 2005 will also be prepared on an Annual
basis.

HSP 2.0 Management Safety Policy.

a safety statement setting out its policy on safety. This state t together with the following will be

&.
The Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act, 2005 requires Thorg@ﬁs Recycling to prepare and issue
N

known collectively as the ‘safety statement’:

SN
e Hazard identification and risk reduct\@g@ﬁdelines.
¢ Allocation of responsibilities. (\Q\\’“\
e Consultation procedure é;)\\lo
KO

The Managing Director of Thorntons Rec&éﬁ \recognises the paramount importance of safety, health
and welfare, to all employees, in the%g@cessful conduct of business. This Safety Statement, in
accordance with the Safety, Health angﬂNelfare at Work Act, 2005, outlines the policy of Thorntons
Recycling for ensuring so far as js*reasonably practicable, the Health, Safety and Welfare of
employees, the public, contractor: d visitors. Thorntons Recycling will comply with the requirements
of the Safety, Health and Welfare at work Act, 2005 and all other statutory requirements, Codes of
Practice and national standards.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

EHS Policy

Thorntons Recycling collects domestic, commercial and industrial solid wastes and
hazardous and non-hazardous liquid wastes. Materials are processed at a number of
waste management facilities where the primary objective is to maximise recycling
and /or ensure the safe disposal of non-recyclable waste. We are committed to
achieving the highest possible level of environmental performance and safety in all
areas of the company’s operations. As a leading waste management company in
Ireland, Thorntons Recycling is striving to attain EHS excellence through our
Integrated Management System (IMS) by continually improving performance and
advancing the following objectives:

¢ Prevention and minimisation of waste produced by all staff in the performance of their
day-to-day operations and administration

¢ Achievement of the highest possible recycling rates with the waste we handle

e Compliance with all Irish and European environmental, health & safety legislation

e Compliance with all waste licences and permits issued to the company

e Prevention of pollution arising from the company’s wa;s‘f'e management activities

&
e Use of cleaner technology, where practical a%q @s&allable

e Contribution towards education of the pugﬁ%@énd our customers in waste prevention,

Q
minimisation and recycling (\Q\\’i N
&
e Safe and healthy working condlt@s@sﬁ\]oluding hazard identification, risk assessment

@

e Safe equipment and systemgﬁ? work

and determining controls Qé

e Provision of appropnatg?\mformanon and instruction, competence, training and
awareness

e Provision of a competent person to advise and assist in securing the health, safety
and welfare of employees and others

e Communication of the EHS policy and health and safety system to include

participation and consultation

This Policy will be achieved with the implementation and management of an
Integrated Environmental and Health & Safety Management system certified to the
internationally recognised Standards ISO 14001; 2004 and OHSAS 18001; 2007.

Signed: Date:
Title: Managing Director
CUSTODIAN: Health & Safety Manager Page 6 of 49
CONTROLLED PAPER COPIES: Health & Safety Dept., REVIEW DATE: April 2009
Killeen Road, Garage, Dunboyne, ELV, PDM, ALL OTHER PAPER COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.
Kilmainhamwood , Head Office, Projects , Security Shredding

CONTROLLED DOCUMENT IS ON THE INTRANET AT: X Drive/IMS/Procedures/HSP
ALL OTHER ELECTRONIC COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:38



Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

HSP 3.0 Safety Management Structure

The persons or titles listed below, within the company safety management structure below are
responsible directly or by formal delegation for:

e The effective implementation of the safety policy ensuring that their areas of
responsibility are run in accordance with the policy.

e Ensuring that managers and supervisors under their area of responsibility are trained
to manage the implementation and ongoing monitoring of this safety policy.

Safety Management Structure in Thorntons Recycling

Updated 22.04.2009
Gary Brady
Managing Director
v
Carmel Thornton
Anna-Marie Thornton ]
Shane Thornton &52'
Paul Thornton S\g\é‘
Directors (\*' Q@
(OIS
&S
l l QO\;}& v v v
- ) (\Q\'&é* Mercedes David Duff Tom McDonnell
Tommy Rogers Nicole Fitzgerald é;}\o & Feely Environmental Manager
Health & Safety Finance Mgr & @*A Group Manager Kilmainhamwood
Manager PO Environmental KR/ELV Composting
CS
QQ A
5\\"
9
A
A 4 A 4 Aoﬁ‘\ A 4 A 4
Mark Conroy Ted Moran C(Q.onor Sunderland Paddy Fitzgerald Alan Elliot
Tanker Manager Maintenance Transport Manager PDM Manager ELV Manager
TTS Manager

John Smullen
Killeen Road
Operations Manager

A

Eamon Flanagan
Quality Manager

Ciaran Dowling
Dunboyne
Yard Manager
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

HSP 4.0 Responsibilities

Allocation of Responsibilities for Safety/Health under the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act,
2005.

Managing Director — Gary Brady

Safety begins at management level and the overall responsibility for the establishment and
maintenance of an effective policy for Safety, Health and Welfare at Work rests with the Managing
Director.

He shall:

e Demonstrate commitment by taking active steps to be aware of the safety record of the
premises and shall issue any necessary reasonable directives in the interest of the health,
safety and welfare of all employees and third patrties.

e Endeavour to ensure that there are sufficient funds and facilities available to enable the safety
policy to be reasonably implemented.

¢ Annually appraise the effectiveness of the safety statement.
e Ensure that the responsibility is properly assigned understood and accepted at all levels.

e Procure advice and assistance whenever necessary andd\t‘a e heed, together with remedial

action, on any matters brought to his attention. &
S8
Allocation of Responsibilities for Safety/Health under gg?ga?ety, Health and Welfare at Work Act,
2005 K S

SuS
Managers — Operations / Maintenar&él%@ransport | Projects
S

RS
Managers are responsible for ensurinq(@\gg\@e Safety Statement is effectively communicated and
observed at all levels by: OOQ

S\
e Ensuring at all times that co Jetent staff and appropriate materials are available to meet the
requirements of the safety l&gislation.

e Ensuring that employees under their control and others, including contractors/ visitors, are
made aware of and comply with the company's health and safety statement and the
organisation and arrangements for carrying it out.

e Ensuring that this safety statement is available to all staff within their area of responsibility
and appropriate third parties.

e Ensuring the all staff under their control is held accountable for their performance in relation to
occupational health and safety and that this performance is evaluated at the time of their
annual review.

e To organise their department, section or workplace so that operations or work are carried out
to a satisfactory safety standard, so as to reduce the risk to persons, equipment and materials
so far as is reasonably practical.

e To issue standard operating procedures in writing where complex operation procedures are
involved.

e Have an understanding of Irish health and safety legislation relevant to the company’s

operations.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

e Ensure that operational hazards are addressed; the risks understood and corrective
measures are implemented to prevent danger to employees as far as is reasonably
practical.

e Take prompt corrective action where unsafe conditions and unsafe acts are noted.

e Ensure that all relevant health, safety and welfare information obtained from the health
and safety department regarding new methods of accident prevention, new legislation
requirements and codes of practice is acted upon in so far as is reasonably practical.

e Discipline any member of staff failing to comply with the safety policy.

Allocation of Responsibilities for Safety/Health under the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work
Act, 2005.

Health & Safety Manager

The Health & Safety Manager is responsible for ensuring that all staff receive
adequate health and safety training, including any specialist training they might

require, and:
L] Investigate fully all reported accidents Withirl}o?Z hours and advice on remedial
measures to prevent a re-occurrence. \Q@}
&
Ll Ensure updated material safe%sb\é@sheets (MSDS) are available for all
hazardous materials used on site. O
S
_ LS _ _ _
L] Ensure Site Safety @ards including the formulation of good
housekeeping, planned maintenang)@a{@ﬂ safety programmes are established.
" Ensure that all g‘&@%\ecessary for safety and good health is carried out
properly. & QA\
&
" Ensure that gthe safety/health aspects of all new hazardous materials,

process, machinery angequipment are fully assessed prior to purchase and introduction
for use on site. O

= Ensure that all statutory examinations and inspections of equipment are
carried out and records maintained.

" Ensure that all employees and visitors are provided with the correct personal
protective equipment (PPE) and that the said personal protective equipment is maintained
in a usable condition at all times.

" Ensure that all injured personnel are promptly referred to a Doctor or hospital
for treatment.

" Ensure that all safety rules, regulations and procedures are kept under review
so that they remain applicable to the site and process.

= Ensure that all employees are familiar with emergency procedures, and that
appropriate emergency facilities are available.

" Ensure that a comprehensive health surveillance programme is available to
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

all employees.

= Ensure that the company complies with all relevant Health and Safety legislation and
that senior management is aware of same.

" Ensure that procedures are put in place for consultation with employees in
relation to the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act, 2005 and the Safety, Health
and Welfare Act Work, (General Application) Regulations 2007.

" Designate the Management Representative for OHSAS 18001 Management
System

Allocation of Responsibilities for Safety/Health under the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act,
2005.

Supervisors — (Dunboyne/ PDM /KR Yard / C.I.D Recycling / Baler / ELV / Garage /
Kilmainhamwood /KR Canteen / Offices/ Projects/ RELs/Tanker Services/ Security
Shredding/ Labre Park/ Bin Maintenance)

Supervisors are responsible for ensuring that the employees under their immediate
control and others, including visitors and contractors, are made aware of and comply
with the Safety Statement of Thorntons Recycling by:

&.
e Being fully familiar with the company’s Safe&?)Statement and any subsequent
revisions. &
. D .
e Showing through personal behawouﬁ\ﬁt only the highest standards of safety

are acceptable. &

T LS : - . .
e Communicating with persong@c’k@ﬁer their supervision regarding standard policy
procedures and conditiong)\\0 Qé

e Ensuring that all emp@fe\@g under their control receive adequate safety training
and instruction app@br" to their tasks.

. O . . .
e Ensuring that all er&(ﬁioyees under their immediate control are aware of actions to
be taken in c of emergency and that properly maintained fire fighting
equipment iSO ilable within their area.

e Ensuring that good housekeeping practices and standards are maintained and in
particular that Fire Exit routes and Emergency Exits are kept clear and that Fire
points are not obstructed at any time.

e Ensuring that good housekeeping standards are maintained and in particular that
fire exit routes are kept clear and that fire points are not obstructed.

e Ensuring that thorough and prompt investigations are carried out into all reported
accidents and that a completed Accident Report Form is submitted to the
appropriate Manager.

e Considering representations about health and safety from employees under their
control.

e Carrying out regular safety surveys in their departments or areas.
e Ensuring all safety devices are correctly fitted adjusted and maintained.

e When applicable, ensuring that suitable Personal Protective Equipment and
Clothing is supplied and worn by employees under their control.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

e Should ensure that any contractors working within the premises observe
reasonable safety considerations.

e Maintaining safe working conditions and practices by being alert to and
immediately correcting unsafe conditions so far as is reasonably practical.

e Ensuring all safety devices are correctly fitted, adjusted, tested and maintained.

Allocation of Responsibilities for Safety/Health under the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act,
2005.

Employees — All Areas

Employees have general statutory obligations under the Safety, Health and Welfare
at Work Act, 2005, Chapter 2 Section 13, which includes the following:

Employees must:

e comply with the relevant statutory provisions, as appropriate, and take
reasonable care to protect his or her safety, health and welfare and the
safety, health and welfare of any other person who may be affected by the
employee’s acts or omissions at work,

e ensure that he or she is not under the influence of an intoxicant to the extent
hat he or she is in such a state as to end@ér his or her own safety, health
or welfare at work or that of any other pe{sbn,

&

e if reasonably required by his %&Wemployer, submit to any appropriate,
reasonable and proportionaﬁ fests for intoxicants by, or under the
supervision of, a registere@@@tﬁ:al practitioner who is a competent person,
as may be prescribed, (\Q <

KO &

e co-operate with hi Q&her employer or any other person so far as is
necessary to engb Q\Cﬁ\ls or her employer or the other person to comply with
the relevant staiﬂé provisions, as appropriate,

5\
o

e not engageﬁimproper conduct or other behaviour that is likely to endanger

his or he&ébvn safety, health and welfare at work or that of any other person,

e attend such training and, as appropriate, undergo such assessment as may
reasonably be required by his or her employer or as may be prescribed
relating to safety, health and welfare at work or relating to the work carried
out by the employee,

e having regard to his or her training and the instructions given by his or her
employer, make correct use of any article or substance provided for use by
the employee at work or for the protection of his or her safety, health and
welfare at work, including protective clothing or equipment,

e report to his or her employer or to any other appropriate person, as soon as
practicable—
a. any work being carried on, or likely to be carried on, in a manner
which may endanger the safety, health or welfare at work of the
employee or that of any other person,
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

b. any defect in the place of work, the systems of work, any article or
substance which might endanger the safety, health or welfare at work
of the employee or that of any other person, or

c. any contravention of the relevant statutory provisions which may
endanger the safety, health and welfare at work of the employee or
that of any other person of which he or she is aware.

A person shall not intentionally, recklessly or without reasonable cause—

e interfere with, misuse or damage anything provided under the relevant
statutory provisions or otherwise for securing the safety, health and welfare of
persons at work, or

e place at risk the safety, health or welfare of persons in connection with work
activities.

In addition, employees are reminded:
e Only carry out duties you are trained to perform.

o Keep work areas clean and uncluttered. 0052"

&

e Be careful when moving items. &

e Do not run. O&i@
S

e Any form of dangerous pra \@P unauthorised hazardous activities is totally
prohibited on company pr@l S.
N\

SRS
Allocation of Responsibilities for Safety/H \Qcﬁnder the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act,
2005. SO
ES
N
©
o
The Safety Representatives"
o(\
Part 4, Section 25(1) o? the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act, 2005 states that
employees may select a Safety Representative who has the following rights under the
legislation:

e To make representations on any aspects of safety, health and welfare at the place of
work.

e To investigate accidents and dangerous occurrences. They shall not interfere with or
obstruct the performance of any statutory obligation required to be performed by any
persons under any of the relevant statutory provisions.

e To make oral or written representations to inspectors on matters of safety, health and
welfare at work.

e To receive advice and information from inspectors on matters of safety, health and
welfare at work
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

e To accompany an inspector on any tour of inspection other than a tour of inspection
made by an inspector for the purpose of investigating an accident.

e Subject to prior notice to the employer, they may carry out inspections of the
premises to determine any potential hazards on the premises.

e Subject to prior notice to the employer, they may investigate potential hazards and
complaints made by any employee whom he represents relating to that employee's
safety, health and welfare at the place of work.

e Consult and liaise on matters relating to safety, health and welfare at work with any
other safety representatives who may be appointed in the undertaking concerned,
whether or not those safety representatives work in the same place of work, in
different places of work under the control of the employer or at different times at the
place of work.

Employees shall be advised of their right to appoint / select a safety representative, refer to
Section HSP14 of this Safety Statement for further details on the workings of the Safety
Committee.

Allocation of Responsibilities for Safety/Health under the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work
Act, 2005. \}05&

&\é
Contractors / Self-Employed Persons \% @
& &
< S

Sub-contractors and self- employ@@b@sons shall provide their safety statement when
requested to do so and shall: §

&KL

e Conformto the@%@?and responsibilities as for employees.

e Provide ewde@ce when requested, showing that appropriate employer’s
liability and@\bllc liability insurances are in place.

e Bring to @I?e attention of the company’s management and anyone else who
may be affected by any process or use of materials, which may endanger
health and safety while at work.

e Comply with the requirements of this safety statement, and co-operate with
site management in providing a safe place of work, a safe system of
operation and wearing of protective clothing.

e Ensure all their employees and others under their care are provided with and
wear personal protective equipment when required.

e Attend any safety courses prepared for workers on projects managed by this
company.

e Report any defect in the plant and equipment, place of work, or system of
work without unreasonable delay.

e Only use competent and suitable persons on site.

e Obtain the consent of the company to engage persons other than their direct
employees on site.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

e Ensure that their managers, supervisors and employees are aware of the
obligations placed upon them with regard to health and safety.

e Provide a ‘Method Statement’ where appropriate for the contractual work
being undertaken.

Contractors and Subcontractors are subject to approval by following the requirements from
PM16, Contractor Control and QP06, Third Party Contractors.

Allocation of Responsibilities for Safety/Health under the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work
Act, 2005.

Visitors (not including Contractors)

It is the responsibility of all company employees to ensure the safety of their visitors on the
premises. All visitors (not including Contractors) to any Thorntons Recycling Site, including
sales people, consultants, inspectors, etc, are bound by the following rules:

=  They should observe the Company Safety Rules and any instructions given by Company
personnel who enforce the Company Safety Policy. \}ogr

=  They should not visit or commence work on sité‘until the relevant safety rules and
information has been read understood and a@ée d.

=  They should not work on the premls@%f?on site unless covered by their insurance

against risk. (\Q \@s

=  They should not enter unautho@&qséreas where they are not authorised to visit.

Q
= Obey all signage on site. & A*\
o

=  Signin and out at eltheﬁh(é reception or weighbridge depending on which is appropriate.

*  Only carry out the @cope of work agreed or visit the areas agreed with by their site
contact.

=  Report any accidents of incidents while on site.

HSP 5.0 Implementation and Operation of Safety Policy

Risk Management System

The Risk Management System is a modern safety / loss control evaluation system. It provides
the means for a systematic analysis of each of thirteen safety / loss control elements to
determine the extent and quality of loss control management.

The Risk Management System provides Thorntons Recycling with practical techniques for
planning, implementing and monitoring effective safety management systems. The system
assists in the;

= |dentifying and assessing of risks on a day-to-day basis,
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

= |dentifying system elements and activities that are effective for managing risk and
controlling loss, and which provide a basis for continuous improvement.

= Apply professional management principles and techniques to design, develop and
implement comprehensive safety systems.

= And to monitor and manage change within the organisation’s culture.

Some benefits of the system;

= |t provides a precise evaluation of safety performance for Thorntons Recycling
Operations.

= |t provides a practical, ongoing means for identifying the majority of safety, health,
property damage, process loss, fire, explosion and other loss exposures facing the
Thorntons Recycling Operations.

» |t reduces operating costs of accidents and other losses by eliminating general
management inefficiencies.

In summary, any activity, including safety, can deteriorate to produce losses involving people,
property and profit if not properly monitored. The need to protect assets by taking appropriate
measures to control loss has never been greater. It is a primary goal of the Risk Management
System to give Thorntons Recycling the early warning so critical to the prevention and control
of losses.

Identification of Hazards and Determining controls

Thorntons Recycling will carry out Hazards Audits inter Qﬁ; on an annual basis and risk
assessments on an ongoing basis. The company furthgf'commits to make use of the advice

available from the Health and Safety Authority a re necessary the Company will make
use of competent consultants and bodies Wicggos@cial skills and services to augment the
internal skills. o @6
SN
Q&
%S
. . N Qé
Engineering Hazards &

O
In so far as is practical, Tho L \QRecycIing commits itself to dealing with the hazards
identified and determine contrgls?™ Firstly, on the basis of their elimination by engineering
means, e.g. machine guarding; replacement of a hazardous substance with benign or less
hazardous substances, pro@sion of special tools or access arrangements, etc. This approach
will take into account th&"norms in our industry, the expert advice available and objective
standards where they are available.

To augment this policy, the maintenance functions will have responsibility for carrying out full
plant preventative maintenance programme, paying special attention to safety aspects of our
buildings, plant and equipment. A specific specification detailing safety requirements for
certain capital equipment purchased, will be requirements to be attached to purchase
conditions.

Instruction and Training

Recognising that even with the best engineered work arrangement, people may still require
clearly defined safety procedures and instructions, for that reason there is substantial
commitment by Thorntons Recycling to identify safety training needs, to carry out the training
and to measure and improve competence of trainees/employees and to maintain associated

records.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

All employees will be expected to co-operate in the training exercise provided. Certain tasks
in our operations require special safety procedures to be followed. Where these arise, the
employees involved receive special instruction. The Health & Safety Department shall identify
the training needs and report on the options available to carry out the training. Induction
training will be provided for new employees.

Formal Risk Assessment Procedure
A formal risk assessment procedure has been developed and is used for the identification and

assessment of hazards in the work place and determining controls. This procedure covers all
sites and services. This procedure is PM15, Risk assessments

HSP 6.0 Documentation and Distribution of Safety

Statement

A copy of the Safety Statement will be issued to the relevant Managers and Supervisors. The
terms of the Safety Statement will be introduced in an appropriate manner for the attention of
all staff.

The Master Copy of the safety Statement is held on the IMS drive. The Health and Safety
Manager has responsibility for making amendments to the master copy of the safety
statement. Controlled copies of the Safety Statement will beﬁsued to personnel as specified
in the footer of this document.
\Qé
Document Control is carried using PM 10, Documg@t&bntrol
S
The Health and Safety Manager is responsi & for the issue of new and revised safety
statements. Those on controlled copy issléé il be responsible for ensuring that all revisions
are kept up to date and those prewous\qb‘é\é.élons are disposed of. To ensure that each copy
of the Safety Statement contains a r of all changes, the Health and Safety Manager will
record changes or amendments ef”atdocumentation list contained in PM10-F01, which will
then be circulated to all on a cirqéﬁ‘%qb list.
&

Each Safety Statement must Q@ﬁ]tam the relevant Risk assessments for that facility. The risk
assessments are separate cggcuments When a hardcopy is printed off for an area the risk
assessments must be attached with that Safety Statement.

The following reference numbers are used to identify each area and the associated risk
assessments;

1.1 Killeen Road

1.2 Dunboyne

1.3 Head Office

1.4 ELV Centre

1.5 PDM

1.6 Tanker Service
1.7 Kilmainhamwood
1.8 Labre Park

1.9 Parkwest Garage
1.10 Security Shredder
1.11 Bin Maintenance
1.12 REL Collections
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

HSP 7.0 Provision of Safety Training, Awareness and

Instruction

Thorntons Recycling is committed to providing appropriate health and safety training for all
employees, which will be sufficient to meet the company’s obligations under the Safety,
Health and Welfare at Work Act, 2005 and other relevant legislation. The primary
responsibilities for this rests with management in co-operation with specialists as appropriate
and the Company expects that all employees will co-operate in any training provided.

All staff employed by Thorntons Recycling will receive induction training to ensure that they
fully understand the hazards of the equipment and what safety precautions and emergency
procedures are required. The training shall involve an introduction to the company’s Safety
Statement.

The Safety Representative, iffwhen appointed, will receive the necessary training as
recommended by the HSA to carry out his/her role effectively. Training will be given, as
necessary, to Management to ensure that they have the ngpessary skills and knowledge to

organise the work safely without risk to health; K\é
&
Training records will be maintained and will contajg@*{f@“following information:
<O
e Date of instruction or exercise &0{&
. NS

e Duration R &

e Name of Instructor K Qé‘

¢ Name of person receiving i @on

[ ]

Nature and content of ir&gﬁigtﬁn

Additional training courses will(gé’oprovided to meet specific needs as they arise from time to
time. Such courses may (t?\\carried out in-house or at an appropriate outside agency. All
employees are required 83 o-operate with the company in the implementation of its training
programme.

The core topics of the induction training will include the following:

Introduction to the Thorntons Recycling Safety Policy
Smoking Policy

Employee legal obligations — Duty-of-Care
Emergency Procedures

Accident / Incident Reporting

Fire safety information

Arrangements for First Aid

Specific hazard awareness

Material Safety Data Sheets

General Site Safety Rules

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)
Working at Heights

Noise / Hand Arm Vibration Regulations
Manual Handling

Abrasive Wheels

VVVVVVVVYVVVVVYVYY
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

» Bullying and Harassment Policy

All employees are encouraged to contact their supervisor or the health & safety manager if
they require any training. Training is carried out in accordance with PMO05, Training.

HSP 8.0 Provision of Practical and Safe Working Systems

HSP 9.0

— (Operation Control)

It is the policy of Thorntons Recycling to ensure that tasks are within the competence and
capacity of each employee and the systems of work will be designed with that purpose in
mind. Systems of work include all routine work, maintenance work and work by contractors on
site. They will include consideration for the safety and health of visitors/contractors.

Care must also be taken to comply with environmental and quality procedures that may also
have an impact on the way a person is expected to undertake their work.

It is the policy of the company when purchasing new equipment, altering existing equipment
or changing a system of work, to study such proposed purchases or changes to ensure so far
as is reasonably practicable, that they are without significant hazard. Written safety
instructions/safe operating procedures will be provided where necessary and included in this
safety statement. Management will review systems of work$on a regular basis as required,
this will be carried out as part of the internal audit of the i%@ﬁrated management system.
&

The following are examples of activities where p@ﬂi@ﬂ%r care is required and it is necessary
for contractors to have a written Safe System 'k (Method Statements):

P
Work involving hazardous subst &@?\?\
Storage and/or use of flamm%gl@ Q@uids and materials.
Noisy operations. & &o$
Hot work. é\ {\é\
Major building operatioﬁ%@vered by the construction regulations.
Entry to confined spac@?’

Live work on electri@apparatus
&

Permit to work

Permits are used on the Thorntons Recycling sites to establish the essential precautionary
measures to be implemented, whenever it is necessary for personnel to perform work in
relation to Hot Works, Entry to Confined Space and Electrical / Mechanical Isolation. It is
important that these permits are complied with at all times. Failure to do so may result in
serious injury to personnel and / or damage to company property.

» Hot Works
A hot work assessment must be carried out and recorded. There is a dedicated hot works
permit book which requires all contractors and employees to complete. This is operated
by the Maintenance Department.

NOTE: Welding, Cutting, Grinding or any other type of heat producing task may alter the
atmosphere, and have the potential to start a fire.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

» Confined Space Entry
A confined space is defined as any location with difficult entry/exit, which is not intended
for regular occupation, and which presents potential hazards (eg, engulfment,
mechanical, electrical, etc) and/or atmospheric hazards (eg, oxygen deficient, toxic, or
flammable). Any questionable area in excess of 1.5 metres deep (eg, tank, well, trench, or
channel).

A confined space may include but not be limited to:

1/ Trommel Screens
2/ Baler Equipment
3/ Vibrating Feeders
4/ Storage Vessels

The Code of Practice for working in confined space must be complied with by the
contractor or Thornton Recycling prior to the commencement of this scope of work.

» Electrical / Mechanical Isolation
Isolation of services (electrical, mechanical, chemical or gases) must be carried out
whenever any work is to be undertaken. Each person shall place a PERSONAL
LOCKOUT DEVICE on each service that may affect or have the potential to affect the
work being undertaken.

> Safe Systems of Work &
It is the policy of Thorntons Recycling to ensure thattasks are within the competence
and capacity of the employee. The systems§%f work will be designed with that

purpose in mind. It is clear that some pr s necessarily give rise to risk that can
only be controlled by adherence to eF procedures. The training provided for
employees will identify the areas wh > gare and skill must be exercised.

S
It is the policy of Thorntons gé‘g ing, when purchasing new equipment, altering
existing equipment, or cha r@‘\a new system of work to study such proposed
purchases or changes to-ghngtire so far as is reasonable practicable, that they are
without significant haz@Q\ ystems of work include all normal production work,
maintenance work, andg\czﬁ?ce work, laboratory work and work by contractors on site.

o
»

They include consi@\ration for the safety and health of visitors and customers. The
Health & Safety Ifanager shall review departmental systems of work when notified on
any significant change to operations in their area, or of any purchases/alterations of
equipment within their area.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

HSP 10.0 Provision of Personal Protective Equipment

The Health & Safety Manager is responsible for ensuring that an assessment of every task
and workplace that exposes persons to significant risk of injury to determine whether or not
PPE is required. The company will provide PPE not only that complies with legislation but
also is CE marked and of good quality.

Suitability / Compatibility

The Health & Safety Manager is responsible for ensuring that all PPE is assessed for its
suitability and compatibility.

Issue of PPE

The Health & Safety Manager or person designated is responsible for ensuring that all
employees are issued with the correct PPE for the hazards they are exposed to and will issue
it free of charge and before they are exposed to those hazards. The Matrix below details area
and the type of PPE to be issued. All PPE will be issued through an employee’s supervisor
and must be signed for.

Maintenance / Replacement

&.

A\
The Health & Safety Manager, supervisor or person ds&bnated is responsible for ensuring
that damaged or worn out PPE is replaced |rr@ ely and free of charge. Issue will
normally be on a one for one basis to preve e or unnecessary issue. PPE will be
considered worn out when it no longer provid 1 protection that it was specified for.

NN
<

Storage of PPE "\\O(\(\é

All employees are responsible for Qﬁggr%g that when not in use, PPE is stored adequately so
that it's kept in good condition. Qo* %K\

It is the policy of Thorntons Réhycllng to provide appropriate personal protective equipment
and clothing and to replac@t as required. The PPE issuing location is at each company
facility and at the Thornt@é\Recycling Garage.

Responsibility for ensuring that the equipment is used properly rests with the supervisors who
will ensure that all employees within their area of responsibility are properly instructed in the
maintenance and use of protective clothing and safety equipment.

Through experience and on the advice of competent Health and Safety specialists, Thorntons
Recycling has developed policies on the use of Personal Protective Equipment. It is the
policy of Thorntons Recycling to provide the required protective equipment and to replace it
on presentation of the worn or defective item. The Health & Safety Manager shall identify the
appropriate protective equipment for tasks, which cannot be made safe by any other
practicable means.

The policy on the provision of Personal Protective Equipment will be regularly reviewed by
Thorntons Recycling Health & Safety Manager and will be updated as required.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

Helmets

Hard hats are supplied to all personnel and must be
worn at all times within designated areas. The use of
helmets on Thorntons Recycling sites is a requirement
of law and is strictly enforced. Helmets that have been
subject to impacts or any type of damage must be
replaced immediately.

Footwear

Safety boots, both rubber and leather, are fitted with
steel toe caps and are supplied by the company. Other
than for the initial issue of boots, you will be expected to
produce the old ones in exchange for new boots.

Safety boots fitted with steel caps must be worn at

all times on entering the Thorntons Recycling site, ,o&
or sites under it’s control. 0\(@

Gloves \\}Q )

HEAD PROTECTION

FOOT PROTECTION

Gloves should be worn wherever p b’ﬁe to prevent injury and chemical contact, or contact
with hazardous waste. Various t gloves are available and must be selected carefully to

ensure the type used is suitab the task, particularly if worki

ng with chemical products.

Gloves that are no longer in % should be disposed of properly into rubbish bins. Do not

leave them lying around the G&z‘@arkplace
o

Hearing Protection

Hearing protection should be worn in all designated
areas. Workshop equipment, e.g.; grinders, produces
very high noise levels, as do power generation
equipment and the construction and demolition lines.
Various types of hearing protection are supplied by the
company. Regardless of the type used, pay particular
attention to the hygiene aspects.

HEARING PROTECTION
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

Eye Protection

Eye protection should be worn in all designated areas.
Personnel must wear safety glasses once they have
entered the designated safety glasses work areas.

Respiratory Protection

The hazards posed by dust can usually be eliminated at

its source by good management practices. Dust, where A
it is a problem can be protected against by the use of
disposable dust masks. These masks are readily o0

available as needed. The need for more specific types @
of respiratory protection for certain tasks, such as
hazardous material handling are also readily available.

& BREATHING

&
& PROTECTION
S
S
Clothing S \
&
N
Close fitting clothing needs to be worn \ %ﬁérking around machinery of any type.
S
&
i AN
Rain <<o®«\

S

Wet weather trousers and jac @ts with hoods are available from the store; Wellington’s are

available on request. Usag%ﬁhd replacement of Wellington's is the same as that of footwear.
o

Eye Wash Stations

Saline solutions are also available in all the first aid boxes located around the Thorntons
Recycling Operations and in the First Aid Room located at the Killeen Road facility.

4 )

\_ J
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0 -oq-s .Q » » (2]} 9 7)) -
= 5 |gol| 2% | ux | £%5 o c®
Area/Activity : E |Zec|88%) 28 | 38 |§58<| 3 5%
3 T g_ =2 | T = |8 69. [T) S
Killeen Road
Office
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Picking Line Recy \ \ \
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Supervisors \ \ \ N
Contractors (yard) \ \ \
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Picking Line N N \ \ \ N \ \
Equip. Drivers \ \ \
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Equip. Drivers \ \ s \
>
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Confidential 5O
Shredder Building v (<°§§ v v v
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Operatives \ N PO \ \ N V V
Labre Park v [ &S V V v
Tanker service S
Equip. Drivers V¥R \ \ \
Operatives \ N \ \ \ \ \ \
o(@\
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

HSP 11.0 Health Surveillance Policy

The intent of the Health Surveillance programme is to obtain sufficient information to make
reliable medical judgement as to an employees, or prospective employees, physical and
mental capability to perform their job assignment in a safe and healthy manner. It will also
assist in determining the overall standard of health throughout the workforce.

This policy covers all employees.

The Human Resources (HR) and Health & Safety (H&S) Department will provide and manage
the Health Surveillance Programme at Thorntons Recycling. The purpose of the Health
Surveillance Programme will be as follows:

a) To obtain baseline and ongoing health information on our employee
population relative to their potential exposure to hazardous materials and
physical agents in the workplace and to augment our occupational hygiene
programme.

b) To identify employees who are at risk, or potentially could be developing
health problems which affect their ability to perform their jobs in a safe and
healthy environment.

c) To provide a vehicle for removal of an employee when surveillance results
indicate an unacceptable risk in their capability to perform their job in a safe
and healthy manner or interfere with the health & safety of a fellow employee.

d) The pre-employment aspect of the programfﬁ’e will determine whether or not
an employee is physically and mentall)g@apable of performing the duties of
their job without creating a hazard to r health or to other persons.

e) To determine an employee or @rg ctive employees capability of wearing
the necessary personal pro @}1 equipment required for the job and any
clothing required for prote%@ér)b:‘\*

Q<

All employment offers will only be m@ﬁ%@%bject to the completion of a satisfactory medical
examination. The pre-employment&%g%al will consist of;

S O
General health fka@s ionnaire,
Physical examigation,
Height, wei y?body mass index,
Standard_gfine check,
Full colour vision screen, colour vision,
Spirometry,
Skin questionnaire & examination,
Full audiometry.

ONoA~rLODE

The proposed Health Surveillance Programme will comply with the requirements of the
Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Regulations (General Applications 2007).

All medical examinations will be carried out by a registered medical practitioner.

The HR and H&S Department will be responsible for provision of the Health Surveillance
Programme at Thorntons Recycling. The HR and H&S Department will liaise with the
medical practitioner and decide what health surveillance is required for each employee.

The HR and H&S Department will ensure that management, employees and their
representatives are adequately consulted and informed on arrangements for health
surveillance and the collective results of surveillance (in a form that prevents individuals being

identified).
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The HR and H&S Department will make arrangements and provide the necessary facilities so
that surveillance can be adequately carried out.

The HR and H&S Department will take appropriate action on the conclusions and results.

The HR and H&S Department will keep the health record on each employee who is subject to
health surveillance.

The Human Resources Department will arrange for individual pre-employment medicals to be
carried out in accordance with the provisions of the Health Surveillance programme in
conjunction with the Health & Safety Department.

This process is managed in accordance with PM14, Resource Management.

HSP 12.0 Consultation, Participation and Communication

Thorntons Recycling is committed to meeting its obligations under Part 4, Section 25, of the
Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act 2005 on consultation. The Company is committed to
a policy of co-operation and consultation between management and staff and will take
account of any representations made by staff members. The effectiveness of the consultation
arrangements will be reviewed at regular intervals. Safety representatives will be nominated
in each area and these safety representatives will together form a consultation group

Consultation will be by a monthly Safety Committee Meg@hg, chaired by the Health & Safety
Manager. Health and Safety will also be an | e%@ part of all management meetings
occurring on a periodic basis. og? ‘\

The Safety Representative shall be the foc ¢ t for consultation. Safety representatives will
be given access to information as is negéssary to fulfil their function and will be notified of a
Health and Safety Authority |nspecto;§1 g the premises to carry out an inspection. Safety
representatives will not be placed a&ﬁ@ﬁdlsadvantage as result of fulfilling their role.

The effectiveness of the con§1 |on arrangement will be reviewed from time to time.
Thorntons Recycling recognise$s the statutory rights of a safety representative as set out in
Part 4, Section 25 (1), of thg%afety Health and Welfare at Work Act, 2005, and is committed
to co-operating with that ae?son selected.

REPRESENTATIVE AREA REPRESENTED

Eamon Flanagan Administration

Laslo Berki Maintenance Workshops
David Duff Killeen Road / ELV
Mercedes Feely Dunboyne / PDM

A N OTHER Drivers & Driver Helper
Robbie Doyle Sheds / Yard

Mark Reddin Tanker Services

Tom McDonnell Kilmainhamwood
Charlie Smullen Garage & Bin Repair
Nigel Gleeson Security Shredding

The Health & Safety Manager will be responsible for co-ordinating consultation with the work
force and providing appropriate information to the work force and their nominated safety
representatives on all matters pertaining to safety, health and welfare. The principal
mechanism for consultation with the work force will be via the Safety Committee. The work
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

force has been given an opportunity to nominate a number of safety representatives to that
Safety Committee to cover each area.

The Safety Representative will be given access to any information in the possession of
management that pertains to the safety, health and welfare of employees, subject to the
exclusion of information relating to an individual, or information pertaining to taking or
defending a legal case. The Safety representative will be given the opportunity to receive
appropriate on-going training. In this respect, they will undertake a safety representative
course, and will be given the option of undertaking further training if necessary.

The Safety Committee Representative will be informed when an Inspector of the Health and
Safety Authority visits the site, and will be facilitated in every possible way with the discharge
of their functions under Part 4, Section 25(1), of the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act,
2005.

The Safety Representative will not suffer any disadvantage through the discharge of their
function.

HSP 13.0 Welfare

The provision of welfare facilities required by legislation will be provided in accordance with
the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work (General Application) Regulations, 2007 and the
Safety, Health and Welfare at Work (Miscellaneous Welfare Provisions) Regulations, 1995.

S
To ensure the continued welfare of employees, toilet ar@@kltchen areas are provided, where

necessary. Staff must co-operate in maintaining a J%Jg\ andard of hygiene in these areas.
N

&

. O

Employees are reminded that: \

has been certified fit for Work d notify their supervisor of any known side effects
or temporary physical dls s, which could hinder their work performance and
which may be a danger, %@er themselves or their fellow workers. Management will
arrange to assign appro sks for that person to carry out in the interim.

e Any person who is under med| ﬁd‘g‘erwsmn or on prescribed medication and who

HSP 14.0 Alcohol &Ologfugs

The Safety, Health & Welfare at Work Act, 2005: Requires all employees to provide safe
places of work and safe systems of work. This covers the management of staff such that they
are not incapacitated by drugs or alcohol consumption to carry out their work without risk to
others.

The Road Traffic Act 1961 — 1995: Renders it a criminal offence for a driver to be unfit
through drugs and alcohol.

. lllicit drugs and alcohol - employees are not allowed to attend their workplace to carry
out duties whilst under the influence of illicit drugs or alcohol. Any person found
breaking this rule could be liable to disciplinary procedures.

e Any employee who in the opinion of Management shows apparent signs of the effects
of intoxicating liquor or drugs, will be required to leave the Company premises
immediately and will be asked to attend the company nominated medical doctor for a
drug & alcohol test. If an employee is requested to leave the Company premises or
has failed drug / alcohol test, disciplinary action will apply. This will only occur when a
full investigation takes place.
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e Employees required to leave the premises will forfeit payment for the remainder of the
shift / day.

In the interest of Safety and Health, Thorntons Recycling reserves the right to carry out
random Drug and Alcohol tests on any of its employees on any of its operations at any time.

HSP 15.0 Bullying / Harassment Policy

Thorntons Recycling is committed to providing all of its employees with an environment free
from bullying/harassment. This policy is designed to prevent bullying /harassment, identify
what behaviours constitute bullying/harassment and also to give the Company’s procedures
for investigating any allegation.

All employees will be expected to comply with this policy and management will take
appropriate measures to ensure that bullying/harassment does not occur. Appropriate
disciplinary action, including dismissal for serious offences, will be taken against employees
who violate this policy.

In accordance with the general duties in Part 2 General Duties, of the Safety, Health and
Welfare at Work Act, 2005, and Section 12 of the Employment and Equality Act 1989 and the
Report of the Task Force on the Prevention of Workplace Bullying, H.S.A., 2001 an anti-
bullying/harassment policy is in place. &

S

This policy applies to employees both in the workplacesand at work-associated events such
as meetings, conferences and work-related socia@vgﬁs, whether on the premises or off-site.
S &
<O
This policy applies to buIIying/harassment,&@ \Gﬁly by fellow employees but also by clients,
customers, owner drivers or other busing\sg tacts to which an employee might reasonably
expect to come into contact with in the;@@se of their employment.

DEFINITION OF BULLYING \‘\Q. §
IOERN

Workplace bullying is defined as}%%peated inappropriate behaviour, direct or indirect, whether
verbal, physical or otherwise,&sonducted by one or more persons against another or others, at
the place of work and/or inghe course of employment which could reasonably be regarded as
undermining the individua¥’s right to dignity at work”.

An isolated incident of the behaviour described in this definition may be an affront to dignity at
work but as a once off incident, is not considered to be bullying.

Bullying can include conduct offensive to a reasonable person, e.g. oral or written slurs,
physical contact, gestures, jokes, displaying pictures, flags/emblems, graffiti or other material
which state/imply prejudicial attitudes which are offensive to fellow employees.

Examples of bullying behaviour can also include:

e Personal insults and name calling

e Persistent unjustified criticism and sarcasm

e Public or private humiliation

e Shouting at staff in public and/or private

e Sneering

e Instantaneous rage, often over trivial issues

e Unfair delegation of duties and responsibilities

e Setting impossible deadlines
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

Unnecessary work interference

Making it difficult for staff to have access to necessary information
Aggression

Not giving credit for work contribution

Continuously refusing reasonable requests without good reasons
Intimidation and threats in general.

DEFINITION OF HARASSMENT

Harassment on the grounds of marital status, family status, race, age, religious belief, sexual
orientation, disability or membership of the travelling community is defined as “any unwanted
conduct which has the purpose or effect of violating a persons dignity and creating an
intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for the person”.

Harassment occurs if any person feels intimidated, humiliated, patronised or embarrassed by
the derogatory, offensive or discriminatory remarks or actions of others. Harassment may
interfere with job performance, undermine job security or create a threatening or unpleasant
work atmosphere.

Racial harassment is unwanted behaviour of a racial nature by one employee towards
another

The unwanted conduct may consist of acts, requests, Q%Oken words, gestures or the
production, display or circulation of written words, plctureg%r other material.

Examples of Racial Harassment include:

\% Q@
5\

Abusive language, mockery or racif{Qf&‘;ﬁes

Display or circulation of racially gﬁ% ve material

Racial name calling é’,\\é\

Unfair allocation of work d

Intrusive or persistent q&nﬁ%tﬁhmg about a person’s racial or ethnic origin, culture or
religion

e Exclusion from normauﬁorkplace conversation or social events i.e. frozen out.

DEFINITION OF SEXUA@C?IARASSMENT

Sexual harassment is “any form of verbal, non-verbal or physical conduct of a sexual nature
which has the purpose or effect of violating a person’s dignity and creating an intimidating,
hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for the person”.

Sexual harassment is unwanted behaviour of a sexual nature by one employee towards
another.

The unwanted conduct may consist of acts, requests, spoken words, gestures or the
production, display or circulation of written words, pictures or other material.

Examples of sexual harassment can include:
e Sexual gestures
o Displaying sexually suggestive objectives, pictures, calendars
e Sending suggestive and pornographic correspondence including faxes, text,
messages or e-mails
¢ Unwelcome sexual comments and jokes
¢ Unwelcome physical conduct such as pinching, unnecessary touching, etc.
e Same sex sexual harassment
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COMPLAINTS / INVESTIGATION PROCEDURE

The investigation will be conducted in accordance with Thorntons Recycling Bullying
Prevention Policy which incorporates the HSA Code of Practice for Employers and
Employees on the prevention and resolution of Bullying at Work.

All investigations will be conducted thoroughly and will be completed as quickly as possible;
an indicative time frame will be discussed at the beginning of investigation and agreed.

Statements from all parties involved will be in writing. Copies of the record of their statements
will be given to and agreed with those who make statements to the investigator. All parties
should continue to work normally, if possible during the investigation. The objective of an
investigation is to ascertain whether or not, on the balance of probabilities, the behaviours
complained of occurred. Evidence and witness statements are relied on for this purpose.

The Investigation will be conducted by either a designated member of management or, if
necessary, an agreed, external third party. In either case, the designated person will have
appropriate training and experience and be familiar with the procedures involved. The
investigation will be conducted thoroughly, objectively, with sensitivity, utmost confidentiality,
and with due respect for the rights of both the complainant and the person complained of.

The investigator will meet with the complainant and the person complained of and any
witnesses or relevant persons on an individual confidential basis with a view to establishing
the facts. A work colleague or an employee may accompanyég;he complainant and the person
complained of, if so desired. é\\f
N

The investigation will be completed as quickly\gsgpossible, preferably within an agreed
timeframe. The investigator will submit the regortsto the employer which will include their
conclusions. The complainant and the perso&o .Q@plained of will be given a copy of the report
as soon as possible by the employer a jven an opportunity to comment, within a set
deadline, before the employer decidesgﬁ(@a’y action to take.

There is both an informal and forrn&f?@@ocedure to deal with the issue of
bullying /harassment at work. QOKQA\\
S

S

S\
&
. N . . .
It is often preferable for alf~concerned that complaints of bullying or harassment are dealt with
informally, whenever possible. This is likely to produce solutions that are speedy, effective
and minimise embarrassment and the risk of breaching confidentiality. Thus, in the first

instance an employee who believes that they are the subject of bullying/harassment should
ask the person responsible to stop the offensive behaviour.

Informal Procedure

If an employee finds it difficult to approach the alleged perpetrator directly, they should seek
help and advice on a confidential basis from the Human Resources Manager. At this stage,
the role of Human Resources is not to judge, but rather to provide advice and assistance
about what the company’s policy states.

Having consulted with the Human Resources Manager, the complainant may request the
assistance of a manager/supervisor in raising the issue with the alleged perpetrator(s). In this
situation the approach of the manager/supervisor should be by way of a confidential, non-
confrontational discussion with a view to resolving the issue in an informal low-key manner.

A complainant may decide, for whatever reason, to bypass the informal procedure. Choosing
not to use the informal procedure will not reflect negatively on a complainant in the formal

procedure.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

It is recognised that it may not always be practical to use the informal procedure, particularly
where the bullying or harassment is serious or where the people involved are at different
levels within the organisation. In such instances, the employee should use the formal
mechanism set out below.

Formal Procedure

When a formal complaint is being made, the employee should contact their
supervisor/manager as soon as possible.

If this is inappropriate, the employee should contact the Human Resources Manager.

The complainant will be subject to an initial examination by the Human Resources Manager,
with a view to determining an appropriate course of action. An appropriate course of action at
this stage, for example, could be exploring a mediated solution, or a view that the issue can
be resolved informally. Should either of these approaches be deemed inappropriate or
inconclusive, a formal investigation of the complaint will take place with a view to determining
the facts and the credibility or otherwise of the allegation(s).

In the interests of natural justice the alleged bully or harasser will be notified in
writing of the nature of the complaint, given a copy of the allegation, informed of his or her
right to representation and will be given every opportunity@gz rebut the detailed allegations
made. NS
éQé
Whilst it is desirable to maintain utmost confide\ngi}(\y, once the investigation of an issue
staff.

begins, it may be necessary to interview o If this is so, the importance of
confidentiality will be stressed to them. . tatements taken from witnesses will be
circulated to the person making the c t and the alleged bully/harasser for their
comments, before any conclusion is reagh the investigation.
X
N & & o
When the investigation has been cgf%&ed, both parties will be informed as to whether or not
the complaint has been upheld.Qo* N\
&

G
Both parties will be given thqck)pportunity to comment on the findings before any action is
decided upon by managem(ggﬁ.

c®
All complaints received will be treated seriously, confidentially and dealt with as soon as is
practicable.

Strict confidentiality and proper discretion will be maintained, as far as is possible, in any
necessary consultation to safeguard both parties from innuendo and harmful gossip.

A record of all relevant discussions which take place during the course of the
investigation will be maintained by Human Resources.

Both parties will be given an opportunity to comment on the conclusions of the
investigation team. Both parties will be given a copy, in writing, of the conclusions reached by
the investigating team.

Appeal

Either party can appeal the decision of the formal investigation in writing within 5 working
days. If the full utilisation of the range of available internal procedures has not resolved a
bullying complaint, the services of a Rights Commisioner may be accessed directly by the
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

individuals involved. The Rights Commissioner will assess how the procedures were applied
in the bullying case and thereafter intervene in a range of ways, including, where appropriate,
carrying out a new investigation. Application for a Rights Commissioner hearing must be
made directly by the appellant, citing Industrial Relations Acts 1969-2001.Application forms
for such hearings are available on-line (www.Irc.ie) or by request from the Labour Relations
Commission. Findings of Rights Commissioners which are delivered in the form of a
recommendation, can be appealed to the Labour Court.

Action Post Investigation

Where a complaint is upheld in a formal investigation, a disciplinary hearing will take place.
The disciplinary action to be taken will be in line with the company’s disciplinary policy.
Should a case of bullying or harassment be proven, then the Company will take appropriate
disciplinary action. This can include a warning, transfer, demotion or other appropriate action,
up to and including dismissal.

Records of any warnings for bullying/harassment will remain in the employee’s file and will be
used in determining what disciplinary action is to be taken, if any further offences of the same
or similar nature occur in the future.

Regular checks will be made by one of the investigators to ensure that the
bullying/harassment has stopped and that there has been no victimisation for referring a
complaint in good faith. Retaliation of any kind against an employee for complaining or taking
part in an investigation concerning bullying/harassment work is a serious disciplinary
offence. RS

Malicious Complaints SO

9
_ - SR\ . .
If a complaint is found to be malicious, a K(%gi:\fate disciplinary action will be taken, up to and
. . o S
including dismissal. é’?@é

O

N

&8
x“OQ

($)

A
Further Information o(é’}\

@)

All guestions relating to the execution or interpretation of this policy should be
referred to the Human Resources Manager.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

HSP 16.0 Stress Policy

Thorntons Recycling adheres to all aspects of the Safety, Health and Welfare at Work Act,
2005, which obliges employers to identify and safeguard against ALL risks to health and
safety, including stress.

Workplace stress arises when the demands of the job and the working environment on a
person exceed their capacity to meet them.

Causes of stress in the workplace:

Poorly organised shift work
Faulty work organisation
Poor working relationships
Poor communication at work
Il defined work roles

Highly demanding tasks
The threat of violence

Safeguarding health and safety from the effects of stress is based on the same approach as
that of any other hazard:

¢ Identification of potential problems &
e Assessment of risks é\\’“
¢ Implementation of safeguards &
e Monitoring the effectiveness of safeguard@ﬁ @
5\0
Thorntons Recycling will utilise the foIIowmgQﬂgtf’%ds of managing stress:

O

e Ensure that Management is e@ﬁ@@ of the potential causes of stress and the early
warning signs

e Ensure that all comp§@ﬁs\\§hat may be related to stress are listened to and
appropriate measures t

e Where Management/S@p(érwsors are aware that a workload or conditions of work are
particularly stressfu\l/‘éfPheasures should be taken to reduce the workload or improve
conditions. &

HSP 17.0 Smoking Policy

It is the objective of Thorntons Recycling to take as far as is reasonably practical, all
reasonable steps to safeguard the health, safety and welfare of all employees and to meet or
exceed all relevant safety regulations and legislative requirements. In accordance with this
objective Thorntons Recycling will protect all employees from the discomfort and health risks
associated with passive smoking.

No smoking is allowed in any enclosed area of the workplace. This policy is in accordance
with The Public Health (Tobacco) Acts, 2002 & 2004 — Section 47, Smoking Prohibitions.

The nature of our business would classify us as high risk and in the interests of safety,
smoking as a risk must be prohibited.

0] It will be the responsibility of all employees to adhere strictly to the company’s rules
governing smoking.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

(i)  Management and supervisors must implement and safeguard the company rules on
smoking in a uniform way.

(i)  Failure of any employee to comply with the Smoking Policy will leave that employee
open to disciplinary action in accordance with company disciplinary policy.

Smoking shall not be permitted at any location in the following areas:-
¢ All Offices, Tea Rooms, Control and Electrical Rooms and training Areas.
e All Toilets, Washrooms and Change rooms.
e Any of the sheds on any of the sites under the control of Thorntons Recycling.

e Any area designated as Non Smoking by the use of signs and or designated by site
management.

All NO SMOKING signs are to be observed at all times.

Any employee found to be smoking and in breach of this regulation will face disciplinary
measures and may be liable to instant dismissal.

There is a designated smoking area provided for those who wish to smoke at break times —
It is located at the entrance to stairway at bottom of cantgggl area.
&
)
HSP 18.0 Pregnant Employees s\
o
The company adheres to the provision of { @afety, Health and Welfare at Work (Pregnant
Employees etc.) Regulations, 2000. (Sl ’e’Ql 00).

These regulations apply to emploxe@%tﬂat are pregnant, have just had a baby or are breast-
feeding (within the first 26 WQ%S\\h er birth).The following hazards must be considered:
Pregnancy should be reported e employee to their manager as soon as possible, the
manager must then report the\ egnancy to the Health & Safety Manager. If Management is
notified of any of the abo¥®, an assessment of any hazardous activities relating to the
employee will be carried gt

Physical shocks, including direct blows to the abdomen.

¢ Handling a load.

e Movement and postures, which are abrupt or severe, or give, rise to excessive
fatigue.

¢ Non-ionising radiation.

e Chemicals: (In particular any chemical which is harmful by inhalation or when
absorbed through the skin, i.e. organic solvents).

A pregnant employee must not be exposed to these hazards unless they are adequately
controlled. Adequate control means:

e The hazard is reduced to a level, which will not harm the pregnant woman or the
developing child or breast-fed child.

e If any of these risks are present they must either be eliminated or safeguards put in
place to protect the employee’s health and safety.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

These safeguards include:

e Changing the type of work, working hours, etc.
¢ Moving the employee to other safe work.

If these safeguards are not possible then the employee must be granted safety and health
leave. This is paid leave, which continues until either the conditions change or else the
pregnant employee becomes eligible for paid maternity leave.

Pregnant women and nursing mothers will have the facility to a rest area if necessary.

HSP 19.0 First Aid

The provision of fist aid equipment required by legislation will be provided in accordance with
First Aid Regulations 1993, contained in Part IX of the General Application Regulations 1993.
Thorntons Recycling is committed to having an adequate number of persons who are
qualified to administer first aid.

First Aid Boxes are located in appropriate location throughout the workplace; the names of
the first aiders are available beside all the first aid boxes on the premises. In Killeen road the
names of first aiders are on the entrance door to the First Aid Room.

These boxes are there to be used for First Aid purposes &'use them but do not abuse
them'. If you see that certain items are missing or in sh%é supply, inform your supervisor so
that they can arrange for replenishment. &

S
All injuries must be reported, if you use the Fj tAid box for any reason, record the usage
and make sure you report the injury to the f} egvisor.

Following an accident requiring first dﬂ{\éatment, an accident report form is completed. In
the event of a serious injury the amBuldnce service must be called, the Managing Director
and/or Site Manager notified and g\‘?ulﬁiccident investigation carried out.

N

. . N . . .
A check will be carried out regu{&"ﬁy to identify any replacement stocks needed. Following this
check, a list of stock require will be purchased. The restocking of the first aid boxes will be
the responsibility of the HO & Safety Manager.

FIRST AID ROOM

The First Aid Room is located in the Administration building at the Killeen Road site. This
room is to be used only in an emergency. Throughout the workplace there are First Aid boxes
which are kept up to date and fully stocked at all times.

In the event of an emergency outside of normal shift hours, there are a number of qualified
first aiders on site. If a Doctor is required the shift supervisor will be responsible for calling the
Doctor out. A list of First Aid trained personnel is available in all tearooms.

NOTE:

Other than in an emergency, employees must contact their Supervisor before seeking
medical attention outside of the workplace for a work-related injury.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

HSP 20.0 Emergency / Fire Procedures

Emergencies identified include fire, gas leak, and bomb scare. A comprehensive emergency
plan exists for all of Thorntons Recycling operations and should be studied by all Thorntons
Recycling employees. The emergency plan will be reviewed periodically and amended where
necessary. All emergency exits are clearly marked and should be kept unobstructed at all
times.

Evacuation drills will take place at least once a year or more often if required in all areas of
Thorntons Recycling. Employees are reminded to familiarise themselves with the procedures
so that a fast and effective evacuation of the premises can be completed in the event of an
emergency. After each evacuation a review will be carried out to evaluate procedures and
carry out any remedial action deemed necessary. Visitors and contractors will be informed on
evacuation emergencies.

Fire Marshals / Wardens have been trained and appointed. Meetings will be held regularly to
review safety procedures. Lists of the Marshals / Wardens will be displayed in appropriate
locations around the workplace.

New employees will receive basic training from the Health and Safety Manager and all
employees will be instructed on the following:

Policy on smoking, electrical equipment, etc. \\,?52"
How to raise the alarm. (,;\Qé‘
Actions to be taken on discovering a fire. \*'@

How to call the fire brigade. o“s\o«

Location and use of escape routes. Oéﬁ&

The evacuation procedure. \\}Q 3

Assisting disabled people, visit@ﬁ éﬁ‘d others during evacuation
Location and use of fire extiggij@%oers.
A Fire Register is kept by Thofitehis Recycling and is the responsibility of the Health and
Safety Manager. The fire registgm ill include company details, specific duties for members of
staff, a log of fire procedurextiotices and fire drills, an inventory of fire fighting equipment,
details of the fire al system, a record of staff instruction/training and a

maintenance/test/inspecﬁo% schedule.

List of Emergency phone numbers

Ambulance 999
Gardai 999
Fire 999
ESB 1850-372-999
Gas (Leaks etc) 1850-200-550

HSP 21.0 Fire Equipment

Fire extinguishers are provided and correctly located to meet safety requirements. These
appliances are provided to deal with incipient fires. Trained personnel using these appliances
should only tackle small fires.

All fire fighting equipment is tested and serviced annually by specialised contractors. In
accordance with the recommendation of the appropriate Irish Standard for fire equipment,
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

20% of extinguishers will be discharged each year and relevant employees trained in the safe
and efficient use of the equipment.

Fire extinguishing appliances are readily identified, with easy access and must be
unobstructed at all times. The appliances must not be interfered with in any way.

The location of fire extinguishers (fire points) must be clearly visible throughout the premises.

HSP 22.0 Accident/Incident Reporting

All accidents to a person, whether or not in the employment of the company, resulting in
injury, however slight, must be reported to and recorded by the Supervisor involved and the
appropriate accident reporting form filled out and a copy sent to the Health and Safety
Manager within 24 hours.

An Accident Report form is available for this purpose and must be completed by the
immediate superior of the person(s) involved in the accident.

This is necessary to monitor the progress of safety standards and to ensure that proper
medical attention is given where required and as an aid in the identification of hazards so that
the appropriate measures can be taken to prevent the accident from re-occurring.

Where an accident investigation is necessary, all employeég"are obliged to co-operate fully
with such an investigation and to provide any informatior@%hich may be useful in establishing
the circumstances leading up to the accident.AA%\ggccidents investigated will have the
investigation carried out by the supervisor adaod consultation with Health and Safety
Manager and a written report shall be prepar%fgies\

NN
If an employee is absent from work fqr0<|<f? @b‘than three calendar days due to an industrial
injury or illness, it is a statutory requi t (S1 No. 44. 1993) that formal notice is given to
the Health & Safety Authority on thgeﬁgp?opriate form ‘IR.1’ (available on www.hsa.ie).
S &
All notification of accidents or dé‘n@@rous occurrences to the enforcement authority of the HSA

will be completed by the Healt\l"éa%d Safety Manager.

&

N

HSP 23.0 Working wOith Hazardous Materials

Hazardous Materials are used in every area of the Thorntons Recycling operation. Some are
instantly recognisable as hazardous. Others, often used as part of a formula in paints,
solvents etc. are not so well known. It is important that before using any hazardous material,
you understand its properties and what personal protective equipment is required.

A Hazardous Materials Register containing the Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDS), for all
the hazardous materials used within Thorntons Recycling operations are kept in the following
locations:-

Killeen Road Workshops

Park West Office

Park West Garage

Dunboyne

PDM /ELV/ Labre Park

Health & Safety Managers Office

Kilmainhamwood

Security Shredding Facility

VVVVVVYVYY
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MSDS are provided for all employees who are required to work with hazardous materials. All
hazardous materials on company property require an MSDS. An MSDS provides a large
amount of information on the hazardous material, which is often much more detailed than the
information given on package labels. Material Safety Data Sheets are alphabetically filed. The
correct MSDS can easily be located, since the name on the correct data sheet, will be
identical to the product name on the container label.

Control of Hazardous Materials at Thorntons Recycling

Engineering Controls
Thorntons Recycling aims to prevent hazardous exposures, fire and other problems that can
result from improper use of hazardous materials. We accomplish this with exhaust ventilation,
closed systems, automatic shut offs and safety interlocks. These are all examples of
engineering controls, and are the primary and most cost effective method of controlling
hazardous materials.

Personnel Protective Equipment
When engineering controls do not fully control the hazard or are not practical, PPE must be
used. Examples are safety glasses, gloves and respirators.

Safe Working Procedures
Even with proper work equipment, engineering controls and the wearing of PPE, you must
follow the safe work procedures/method statement and or g9;1duct a risk assessment of the
task to ensure that you are working in the correct and sal‘géﬁNay.
&

Job and safety requirements are detailed /spellet{@u procedures and specifications, which
detail/ldentifies the correct way to perform %\gﬁ both efficiently and safely. Hazardous
Material labels and MSDS'’s contain valuab %ﬁ@rmation on the hazards and precautions to
be taken when handling and working with Q&i%@\dous materials.

S @

Points to remember & &

No new chemical may be introduceﬂ@?homtons Recycling operations, unless an application
accompanied by the relevant MQ@ eet, is submitted to the Health and Safety Manager for
approval to purchase and use 0{1& e, in accordance with company procedure.

9§
X
It is an employee’s respgés\ibility to locate and read a data sheet, before handling a

substance, if the labelling_istructions are inadequate or you do not understand them.

If you have any trouble in using the Register ask your supervisor for assistance.

If you find a hazardous material that has somehow slipped through, inform your supervisor so
that an MSDS Sheet can be obtained.

It is also a good idea to get into the habit of reading the labels on products as guide lines for
safe use will be found on them.
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Hazardous Material Emergency

Chemical contact with eyes or skin can cause serious injgry quickly. It is therefore very

important that you act quickly to prevent further serious i . Safety showers and eye wash
stations are located around the plant and it is importagfthat you become familiar with their
location. SES
&
<O

Chemical contact with the eye. S
SN

. Q&

Go to eyewash station |mmedl%é721@

Flush both eyes for a minim af15 minutes.

>
>
» Hold eyelids apart with yot \Jinger & thumb while rinsing the eye flush the entire
>

surface especially the IQ&\;%@%

Get someone to call firs& and your supervisor.
9

A
. . 0@\.
Chemical contact with tHe skin.
» Rinse the affected area for a minimum of 15 minutes.

» If clothing has been contaminated, remove all clothing and remain under the shower.
» Get someone to call first aid and your supervisor.
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HSP 24.0 Disciplinary Action

Where advice and persuasion fail to achieve compliance with safety and health rules, it is the
policy of Thorntons Recycling to take disciplinary action on the matter.

The following basic procedure will be followed:

e Apart from any case of gross negligence of the Safety Regulations, which may
warrant instant dismissal, the employee shall be warned of any shortcomings and
given a reasonable opportunity to put them right.

e Should it be necessary to take formal action a number of verbal warnings will be
given. This warning will indicate the Specific Regulation, which has been breached,
how it is to be rectified and the time limit in which it is to be achieved.

e A further warning will be given in writing, should the required improvement not result
within the stated period.

e In any instances of alleged wilful breaches of the Safety Regulation, the case will be
investigated rapidly and fully. Depending on the results of the investigation, the
employee will either be dismissed, be given a written warning or return to normal
work.

e All warnings for breaches of Safety Regulations will be noted in the employee’s file.

e Thornton's Recycling may also implement other initiatives to enhance safety
performance, from time to time. Such initiatives will be communicated to staff by their

relevant manager / supervisor. &
A\
&
&
HSP 25.0 Managing Director’s An@yﬁl Review
o?f’ K
The purpose of the Managing Director’s&p' | Review is to present an overview of the
progress made by the company over ag onth period in the areas of safety, health and
welfare. é’>\$0
.(\09 ’\O
A report will be generated at t \S@ of the Company financial year and may include the
following information: N
O
o

Number of accidentaﬁ]\d / orincidents

Number of first a@bﬁ\ncidents.

Number of workdays lost as a result of incidents.

Full details of any safety training carried out during the year

Discussion of any areas of safety, health or welfare that need to be addressed in the future as
a result of new legislation, incident history or any new work practices.

Thorntons Recycling welcomes any comments/queries or suggested initiative from any
member of staff.
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HSP 26.0 Contractors and Visitors

Visitors
Thorntons Recycling will ensure, as far as is reasonably practicable, the safety of contractors
and visitors while on the premises

When entering the premises for the purpose of a business visit or to carry out work, all visitors
and contractors should sign in at reception. The visitor book will record the following:

e Time of arrival
e Name of Visitor or Contractor

e Name of Employer of Visitor or Contractor

It is the responsibility of the contact employee to ensure that their visitor/contractor has signed
the visitor log.

While in the building, visitors are to obey the safety rules and emergency procedures at all
times. Signage will be erected to make visitors aware of safety rules. The contact employee,
who in the event of a fire alarm will be responsible to bring their visitor to the appropriate
assembly point, should accompany all visitors.

Contractors é\\fé&
&
Contractors will not be allowed on the company prgmiSes to carry out work until the Company
has checked and is satisfied with their Health Safety record and insurances.

&

The contractors must liase with a Thorntonss atycling official to discuss and agree the safety
precautions deemed necessary by eitheOQ\B . All contractors are required to supply specific
information and documentation as regg §t§i Failure to supply this information and to comply
with the obligations contained Wiﬂ,\x«'ﬁ {Ris booklet will constitute breach of contract and as
such, the contract may be termia@tég&

There is a process in place for h%Qselection and approval for contractors, this includes Third
Party Contractors. These proggdures are PM16 and QP03.

s
HSP 27.0 Codes of Practice

The following codes of practice have been developed by the HSA. Thornton Recycling adhere
to the requirements in the codes of practice. The following is a list and links (www.hsa.ie)
to the applicable documents;

Code of Practice for Working in Confined Space

Code of Practice on the Prevention of workplace Bullying

Code of Practice - Rider- Operated Lift Trucks: Operator Training
Code of Practice — Noise Regulations

Code of Practice — Working At Heights
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HSP 28.0 Construction Design and Management (CDM)

Thornton Recycling are responsible for ensuring that all construction / alteration and
refurbishment works to premises are assessed prior to commencement to determine whether
or not they may fall within the scope of the Construction Regulations 2006. Management of
construction / refurbishment works will fall under the Thornton Recycling Operations Director.

HSP 29.0 Safety Signs and Signals

The Health & Safety Manager is responsible for ensuring that all safety signs and signals
comply with current Signs Regulations. Informal and formal workplace tours and inspections
will achieve this. Safety signs will be adequate in size so that they can be seen from the
required distance. Signs are an important means of communication. all employees, visitors
and contractors shall follow signs on site.

The following give examples of signs and the applicability of the colours;

Mandatory Signs

Danger Signs

Danger Areas

Prohibition

Emergency

Chemical Hazard Signs
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

HSP 30.0 Traffic Routes / Safety Walkways

The Health & Safety Manager is responsible for ensuring that where there is a risk of injury
arising from conflicts of traffic, adequate controls such as safety walkways and defined traffic
routes will be implemented so far as is reasonably practicable. Where such control measures
cannot be put into place and the risks from conflict are significant then high visibility vests /
jackets will be mandatory.

The activities on site require a lot of interaction between equipment and person. Where
possible Thorntons have designed traffic flows and pedestrian walkways.

There is a mandatory PPE requirement that all persons must wear.

HSP 31.0 Housekeeping

The Health & Safety Manager, Operations Managers and Supervisors are responsible for
ensuring that the workplace is kept free from hazards such as trip hazards, spillages,
cluttered walkways and stairs. The Health & Safety Manager has identified hazards that exist
relating to House keeping issues and documented control measures to reduce and where
possible eliminate the hazard. Supervisors are responsible for enforcing house keeping
issues on a day to day basis. The Health & safety manag%@will review the effective ness of
house keeping during the internal audit process. &
&
The following hazards should be monitored during\‘ﬁ?@e keeping audits;
<O

e Clear walkways and platforms < S
¢ Clear emergency routes (\Qo\&‘
e spillages éy‘}\%@‘

e Over spills ~(\°9 O

e Quarantine of Gas Bottles.® {\69

e No Stock Piling of tyres* 2

[ ]

Proper use of PPE \é\
0(\
Sanitary Facilities

The Operations Director and the Health & Safety Manager or designated person are
responsible for ensuring that an assessment is made of the sanitary facilities to ensure that
there are an appropriate number of sanitary facilities and that they are located so that undue
inconvenience is not caused to employees. They will be properly maintained and will be
cleaned at least on a daily basis.

HSP 32.0 Roofs and Work at Height
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

The Health & safety manager must ensure the safety of persons working at height or on roofs
and those affected by persons carrying out such work. No Thornton Recycling Employees are
required or permitted to work on roofs. in order to ensure adequate protection of person
carrying out roof work the Health & safety Manager must ensure that the Work at Height
Regulations are complied with. this will involve at the minimum a Method Statement, risk
assessment and safe operating procedure. Only approved contractors will be used due to the
high risk associated with such work. The Health & safety Manager will only approve working
at height by approved contractors.

Identification of roof work or height work should be identified in the PMO1 or PM15 procedures
and the appropriate documentation followed.

HSP 33.0 Work Equipment and Vehicles

Equipment General

Thornton Recycling accepts that a well motivated and trained workforce will not succeed in
providing a good quality service to our customers if poor, unsafe and inappropriate equipment
is used. Therefore the company is committed to providing quality solutions utilising up to date
equipment manufactured to be as safe as is reasonably practicable.

Where Thornton Recycling personnel use certain workplace equipment, all operators of
equipment must be authorised. Authorisation may be by céﬁ'lfication issued by the Health &
Safety Manager, or by completion of the necessary indivO@@al skills training provided by a third

ty. .
party S

Safety / Suitability of Equipment S
SO
The Health & Safety Manager is responsi Ié‘f?‘or ensuring that all equipment is assessed for
safety and suitability. For example, alf pment must be suitably guarded to prevent injury
from significant hazards such as. ing parts, hot surfaces or harmful substances. New
equipment (including previously(@gg@or owned) must be assessed for safety and suitability
prior to supply. Once equipmentdS’supplied, the Health & Safety Manager is responsible for
ensuring that it has been suapg\,l'

Maintenance OO(\

in accordance with stated specifications.

The Maintenance Manager is responsible for ensuring that a competent person adequately
maintains all equipment. A maintenance schedule for all equipment identified for
maintenance must be made and must state the description and identifier of the equipment,
the date it was last maintained and the date it is next due for maintenance and the time period
required between maintenance.

Vehicle Maintenance

The Maintenance Manager is responsible for ensuring that scheduled maintenance for
vehicles, trailer, skips associated equipment such as tyres (a regular tyre condition check
must be in place), tail lifts and vehicles mounted cranes is carried out in accordance with
accepted standards, manufacturer requirements and the Logistics Managers instructions. The
Logistics Manager is responsible for ensuring that all vehicles mounted lifting equipment has
a maintenance schedule as required by Regulations

A fundamental part of any maintenance system is the driver pre-operational checks of the
vehicle and an efficient system for reporting defects. This check must also include the

CUSTODIAN: Health & Safety Manager Page 43 of 49

CONTROLLED PAPER COPIES: Health & Safety Dept., REVIEW DATE: April 2009

Killeen Road, Garage, Dunboyne, ELV, PDM, ALL OTHER PAPER COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.
Kilmainhamwood , Head Office, Projects , Security Shredding

CONTROLLED DOCUMENT IS ON THE INTRANET AT: X Drive/IMS/Procedures/HSP
ALL OTHER ELECTRONIC COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:40



Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

ergonomic elements of the cab, e.g. the driver's seat must be in good working order.
Examples of items on vehicles sometimes omitted from regular inspection / maintenance and
lead to industrial injury compensation are: -

a) Tail lift safety devices such as poles, chains of flaps / stops.

b) Tail lift warning lights or fluorescent flaps.

c) Steps, ladders and catwalks.

d) Operation of load bay access doors, e.qg. roller shutters or barn doors.
e) Operation of load bay curtains on rigid vehicles or trailers.

f) Operation of roof support devices on trailers.

HSP 34.0 Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment

The  Maintenance Manager is responsible for ensuring that all equipment falling within
applicable regulations for lifting equipment and lifting operations is inspected, examined and
maintained according to those regulations. All lifting equipment must have been placed on a
maintenance schedule that has been drawn up by a compe(é%t person. An inventory of lifting
equipment must be maintained and made available for(,);tﬁ%pection by the Health and Safety
Manager.

£35S

) &

HSP 35.0 Mobile Elevated Wg&ﬁgplatform (MEWP)
S

The Health & Safety Manager is;\ﬁ‘\@onsible for ensuring that no person operates or it s

passenger on a MEWP Withoutﬁ?sé%aving received the necessary training and have attained

the required standard. Persons\ﬂ%at have reached the required standard will be issued with a

certificate of authorisation. e occupants of MEWP must be provided with fall restraint

equipment. This conditior&) ends to contractors working on site.

HSP 36.0 Manual Handling

Manual Handling General

Handling of waste is the prime business in which Thornton Recycling is involved. A large part
of this involves manual handling. It is our intention to reduce the amount of manual handling
operations and the associated risks as far as is reasonably practicable.

Avoidance / Provision of Materials Handling Equipment (MHE)

The Health & Safety Manager will be responsible for ensuring that adequate assessments of
manual handling operations are carried out and that appropriate control measures including
the avoidance of manual handling are put into place to eliminate or reduce the risk from
manual handling.
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

Manual Handling Training

The Health & Safety Manager will be responsible for ensuring that all employees within
Thornton Recycling (this includes everyone up to and including senior management) undergo
basic manual handling training upon commencement of employment. The Health & Safety
Manager is authorised to provide this training.

HSP 37.0 Young Persons / Sensitive Risk Groups

Thorntons Recycling adheres to the provision of the General Application Regulation, 2007,
Part 6, Ch 1.

Under these regulations ‘Young Persons’ means a person who has reached 16 years of age
but is less than 18 years of age.

In accordance with Regulation 144, Management will prepare a risk assessment before
employing a child or young person and whenever there is a change in work practice which
could affect the safety or health of such a young person.

The risk assessment must examine all hazardous substances or activities which the young
person may be exposed to. The company must not employ a young person where there the
risk assessment reveals;

&

e  Work which involves harmful exposure to phyS|cQ}¢b|0Iog|caI chemical agents which

may be toxic or carcinogenic. @

¢ Involves harmful exposure to radiation

¢ Involves the risk of accidents which i e assumed cannot be recognised or
avoided by a child or young perso@@&@\g to insufficient attention to safety or lack of
experience or training, or (\ \

e Which presents a risk to hea&@?@n exposure to extreme heat or cold or to noise or
vibration?

QO\ A»&\Q)

Where the risk assessment re,y@\als a risk to the safety, health and welfare to the development
of the young person, management must make health surveillance available, and inform the
young person of the resuftS of the health assessment.

Concluding comment

The aim of Thorntons Recycling is to provide a healthy and safe environment for members
and staff, contractors and visitors. This can be achieved with the help and assistance of all

by:
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

e Observing the general rules of safety. It is the duty of every Thorntons Recycling
employee to fully comply with all safety rules and regulations. Every employee should
inspect their workplace and report any unsafe condition.

e Using all equipment in a safe and proper manner. Notify any persons likely to be
affected by work that you are doing.

o Allinjuries however slight must be reported to your supervisor.

e Wear the appropriate PPE for all tasks undertaken. Employing the proper procedures
when carrying out tasks and ensuring that no practices are used which may act as a
source of danger to themselves or others.

e Keeping work areas clean and tidy at all times.

e Making sure all corridors and passageways particularly those leading to escape
routes, are kept free of obstructions at all times. Do not litter, use the bins provided.

e Taking care that fire points are not blocked or covered up in any way and that they
are ready for use if the need arises.

¢ Follow all safety signs, and familiarize yourself with the Emergency Procedures.
¢ Vandalism of property will result in instant dismissalg?"
e No one is permitted to drive any compaQy 8’1IC|8 unless they hold a licence or
permit to drive the vehicle. This inclu ffont end loaders, cranes, fork lifts etc.
Speed limits must be observed and sgéfzgé?ts worn at all times.
e Report any defects to your Sup e%d?mmedlately
This Safety Statement has been $ed based on conditions existing in the fabric of the

workplace of Thorntons Recycling at:the time of writing. It may be altered, revised or updated
periodically in order to comply WE} ny changes in conditions.

&
S
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

PART (Il): Risk Assessments

Risk Assessment Process

Risk assessments have been carried out and the results are shown below. The risk
assessment process involves the following:

. Identifying the significant hazards present in the workplace
. Identifying what risks are associated with each hazard.
. Recording the likelihood and severity of injuryl/illness associated with the hazard.

Calculating the risk rating based on likelihood and severity (the risk rating is arrived at
by multiplying the likelihood of injury x severity of injury - see below for details).

. Suggesting control options in order to ensure that risks are reduced to the lowest level
reasonably practicable (see hierarchy of controls below).
. The length of time specified for implementing control measures will vary and be

dependant on the risk rating for the hazard i.e. the higher the risk, the faster action
should be taken. If additional control measures reduce the likelihood or severity of
injury, a revised risk rating can be recorded.

Risk assessments should generally be reviewed annually and any necessary amendments
made. They should also be reviewed if there is a change in circumstances e.g. new
equipment, processes, procedures etc., following an accident or incident and in the event of
new legislation, codes of practice or new guidance being pu\b}@hed.

Hierarchy of Controls g;@é

N
The selection and implementation of the mos?@g&priate method of risk or hazard control is
a crucial part of the risk assessment processQo ’ @6
NN

The following hierarchy should be usec{@t@h deciding on control measures, starting with the
first in the list and working down to y&éﬁgs‘t\ resort which is the provision of personal protective
equipment and clothing. R

SN

1. Elimination: Eliminating the Q@%rd entirely from the workplace is the best way to control it.
Examples of this would be prgViding a lifting device which eliminates the need to carry out
manual handling or disposioggéof unwanted chemicals.

@)

2. Substitution: If not possible to eliminate the hazard, replace it with something less
hazardous, which will perform the same task in a satisfactory manner. Examples are
substituting a hazardous chemical with a less toxic one or substituting a smaller package or
container to reduce the risk of manual handling injuries.

3. Engineering Solutions: If the hazard cannot be eliminated or a safer substitute
implemented, then reduce the chance of hazardous contact. Examples of engineering
controls are:

e enclosure (enclose in a way that eliminates or controls the risk)

e guarding/segregation of people

e interlocks and cut-off switches

e exhaust fans
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

4. Administrative Solutions:

These are the management strategies which can be introduced such as training, job rotation,
limitation of exposure time, provision of written work procedures.

For example:

e Safe systems of work that reduce the risk to an acceptable level
Written procedures that are known and understood by those affected
Adequate supervision

Identification of training needs and provision of appropriate training
Information/instruction (signs, handouts)

5. Personal Protective Equipment & Clothing:
Personal Protective Equipment and Clothing should always be considered as a last resort. It
can also be used as an interim measure to reduce exposure to a hazard.

Examples of PPE include: masks, ear-plugs, respirators, helmets, boots, safety shoes,
overalls, etc

Summary

The most effective way to control risk is obviously to remove it. Elimination is by definition
100% effective. The further you go down the list the less effective the methods become.
Training for example has been estimated as being only 10%§_ffective.

It is also worth bearing in mind that the amount of manag@ment and supervisory effort needed
to maintain the controls is in inverse rank order\‘l\qrg’fher words, Control 5 (PPE) takes the
most effort to maintain and item 1 the least eff%jq &

«Q
S
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Safety Statement and Health & Safety Management System of Thorntons Recycling

Risk Assessment Method Used

(Likelihood (L) x (S) Severity) = Risk Rating (RR)

Priority Table
Severity Effect
Slightly Harmful Very Harmful
Harmful
Unlikely 1 2 3
Likely 1 2 3
Very likely 2 3 4
Likelihood
Slightly Harmful Harmful Very Harmful
Superficial injuries Lacerations Amputation
Minor cuts & bruises Burns Major fractures
Eye irritation from dust Concussion Poisoning
Nuisance & irritation Serious sprains Fatal injuries
Temporary discomfort Minor fractures Occupational cancer
Deafness Severely life
Dermatitis shortening disease
Asthma & Fatal disease
Minor disability é\?r Head injuries
AR Eye injuries
S
S8
Risk Rating Action Required
S
Risk Rating Priority S Action Required
Trivial Risk Non-urgengg@/‘b& No action needed
1-2 NG
Acceptable Risk Non-ufgest No additional controls
3-4 KOO Monitoring required
4’\\0 Assessment recorded
Moderate Risk A&:%n needed Controls required as soon as
5-6 o practical

Assessment recorded
Controls documented

Substantial Risk
7-9

Urgent action needed Controls required immediately
Assessment recorded
Controls documented

Intolerable Risk
10-12

Urgent action needed Work prohibited/ceased
Controls required immediately
Assessment recorded
Controls documented

Work stoppage documented
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KILLMAINHAMWOOD EMERGENCY
PLAN

1 INTRODUCTION

Clear procedures in the event of a serious incident are required in any working
environment but are of particular importance in an industry that utilizes heavy
machinery and fixed plant machinery of the like at Thorntons Recycling.

The requirements for such procedures are referred to in general in the Safety, Health
and Welfare at Work act, 2005 and the (General Application) Regulations, 1993.

An emergency is a situation, which can escalate rapidly, and if not brought under
control quickly may well result in serious injury, death or major property damage.

An emergency of any kind will normally be handled by the person discovering that
emergency. If the accident, fire or other emergency is of such a nature that the person
discovering it cannot handle it, then he is responsig for initiating the emergency

procedures. &
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KILLMAINHAMWOOD EMERGENCY
PLAN

2 OBJECTIVES

The objectives in drawing up an emergency plan can be summarised as follows:-

a. To ensure that all risks to the safety and health of personnel employed at
Thorntons Recycling have been identified.

b. To ensure that preventative measures are in place to minimise the risk of a
serious incident occurring.

c. To ensure that measures are in place to minimise the impact should a serious
incident occur. .
&

d. Most importantly, to provide clear dir ctions to all personnel regarding
responsibilities and procedures to &OJS lowed in the event of a serious
incident. & S

S

e. To ensure that preventative;\ﬁg\as\lres are in place to minimise the risk of any
environmental contamin sof Thorntons Recycling sites.

O
QO\ A»&\Q)
RN
O
$)
S
o
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KILLMAINHAMWOOD EMERGENCY
PLAN

3 TYPES OF INCIDENT, SERVERITY AND LEVEL OF RESPONSE

3.1 Introduction

When a call is received by ringing 623 5133 the caller will be asked a standard set of
questions regarding the incident.

On receiving this information the call centre, will initiate an appropriate response to the
circumstances reported.

It is important that the caller be patient and answers thecgguestlons they are asked and
DOES NOT HANG UP until told to do so. &>
§
Emergency situations that require r|n@®§ 623 5133 may fall into the
following categories: &
Q \\
Q\ﬁé&}

3.2 Types of Major Incident &é; S

The main types of incident covﬁ%@%y this emergency plan are as follows:
O
5\0
Serious injury or ical emergency,
N
OO

o &

Fire,

Machinery Fire,

e o

Persons trapped by equipment or machinery,

@

Hazardous Material Spill, and
f. Bomb threat

Guideline responses for each of the above are given in Section B.

3.3 Incident Severity and Levels of Response
Incidents can be classified into three levels of severity, each of which has an associated
response. These are described below:
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3.3.1 Level 1 - Minor Incident

A Level one incident can typically be dealt with by the person identifying the
problem. The supervisor should be informed and the incident formally logged;
this will permit assessment of the incident particularly with regard to the
possibility of re-occurrence and the potential for a more serious event.

Examples: minor localized fire, minor injury

3.3.2 Level 2 - Serious Incident

Immediate action should be taken, where possible, by the person identifying
the incident. The supervisor should be immediately informed and should
assess the situation. Thereafter, the supervisor will contact the necessary
emergency services, Operations Manager (depending on location) and the
responsible Manager on call. The latter will assegs the situation either through

discussion or by inspection. ¢
>
N S . .
Examples: serious injury, cor{}ag{dbe fire, containable environmental
damage \§Q0\~}\«
K
W @
&
.(\09 ’\O
Ve

33.3  Level 3- Severe |ncid%g¢\

O
Immediate action shogfd be taken where possible by the person identifying the
incident. The supeeyfr\sor should be immediately informed and should assess the
. . N . .
situation. The supervisor will contact the necessary emergency services and the
Operations Manager.

Examples: person’s trapped, serious fire, threat to the safety of personnel,
serious environmental damage.

3.34 Environmental Incident

The following shall constitute an incident under the waste licence WL206-1:
a) an emergency;

b) any emission which does not comply with the requirements of this licence;
c) any exceedance of the daily duty capacity of the waste handling equipment;
d) any trigger level specified in this licence which is attained or exceeded; and
e) any indication that environmental pollution has, or may have, taken place.
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4 THE EMERGENCY ORGANISATION

The roles and responsibilities of the individuals and groups are gescribed below:
N

%\é

§)
S
- O
411 Identifier Fp

The person identifying the incident willéé Simmediate action where possible (remove
persons from any imminent dange‘o{\%aq\ergency first aid etc.) and will advise his
supervisor either directly or throug@ third part.

& %\\69

4.1 Operating Personnel

. o~
4.1.2  Supervisor R
The supervisor will assess Kseverity of the incident. In the event of a level 2 or 3
incident, he will immediately call the necessary emergency services (depending on
location) and the Health& Safety Manager and will take whatever action is appropriate
with the resources available to him.

4.1.3 Health & Safety Manager

The Health & Safety Manager will be called out for any level 2 or 3 incident involving
a Thorntons Recycling Employee. He will lend assistance where required, carry out an
incident inquiry and complete an incident report with the Supervisor; this will be
copied to the relevant Manager. The Health & Safety Manager shall be responsible for
promptly advising the Operations Manager of any level 2 or 3 incident and or reporting
level 2 or 3 incidents within 24 hours to the HSA.

4.1.4  Environmental Manager

The Environmental Manager will be called out for any environmental; suspected or
detected incident. The Environmental Manager will report this to the EPA as required
under condition 11.3 of the waste licence WO195-01.
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11.3 In the event of an incident occurring on the facility, the licensee shall:-

a) notify the Agency as soon as practicable and in any case not later than 10.00
am the following working day after the occurrence of any incident;

by  submit a written record of the incident, including all aspects described in
Condition 9.1 (a-e), to the Agency as soon as practicable and in any case within
five working days after the occurrence of any incident;

¢) in the event of any incident which relates to discharges to surface/sewer water,
notify the Sanitary Authority as soon as practicable and in any case not later
than 10:00am on the following working day after such an incident; and

d)  Should any further actions be taken as a result of an incident occurring, the
licensee shall forward a written report of those actions to the Agency as soon as
practicable and no later than ten days after the initiation of those actions.

&
&
>
S
. SIRY
4.15 External Services oog? \
S

4.1.5.1 Medical Services ’\\O(\oé\
The doctor (day shift hours ill assess the medical condition of the injured

from the supervisor’s des n and will determine if the Ambulance Service is
required and place the ca<1L the Ambulance Service if necessary. He shall travel
to site and render medicat assistance.

§
Should for any reason it prove impossible to contact the Medical Centre, the
supervisor shall call out the Ambulance Service if he deems it necessary and call
the alternative medical practitioners.

4.1.5.2 Ambulance Services
The Ambulance Service will be called when required by the Doctor on call or the
supervisor if the former cannot be contacted.

4.1.5.3 Fire Services
The Meath County Council (Nobber) will be called by the supervisor.

4.1.5.4 Health and Safety Authority

The H.S.A. Inspector, will be contacted in the event of a level 2 or 3 incident by
Health & Safety Manager. The former will be responsible for submitting the
incident report to the H.S.A. Inspector in accordance with the regulations.
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4155 Garda Siochana

Garda Siochana will be called in the event of a bomb threat or security matter and
be responsible for mobilising the necessary Garda services.

4.15.6 EPA/ Central Fisheries Board / Sanitary Authority
The Environmental Manager will contact the above department in the event of an

environmental incident / emergency.

&.
x\é\}
&
S
£35S
F&
R
N &
‘\O é‘
& &
.(\09 \O
A\ @(\
5 EMERGENCY RESOURC
\6\0
5.1 First Aid &
OO
5.1.1  First Aid Room / Incident Room

The Offices / canteen area in the administration building can be used as a First Aid
Room in cases of emergency at Kilmainhamwood. The First Aid Room is equipped as

shown:

1 Sink With Hot and Cold Running Water
2 Drinking Water Supply (If Not On Tap)
3 Disposable Drinking Cups
4 Soap Dispenser And Soap
5. Paper Disposable Towels

6. Smooth Top Work Surfaces
7 Cupboards For First Aid Material Storage

8 Refuse Dispenser (Bin) With Plastic Disposable Liners
9 Chairs

1 Clean Protective Garments For Use By First Aider

1 First Aid Cabinets (Reception & Canteen)

= or
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CONTENTS OF FIRST AID KITS

2 x Eye Pad Dressings

24 x Adhesive Plasters

6 x Triangular Bandages

3 x Would Dressings (Size 10)
2 x Wound Dressings (Size 9)
6 x Wound Dressings (Size 8)

10 x Antiseptic Wipes
10 x Eye Wash Solution 20ml bullets &
1 x Paramedic Shears 6@?5
1 x Tweezers N
6 x Latex Gloves (3 pairs) og?o &
12 x Safety Pins & \.}\&6
1 x Antiseptic Cream 15grm tube (\Q\\’"\&*
1 x Surgical Tape (1) é’;\\i@é
5 x Sterile Swabs (7.5 x 7.5cm) &
S
x“OQ

O
X
5.1.2  Appointed Fir&wﬁders

A list of trained and appointed first aiders is as follows: (updated May 07)

First Aid Responder

Tom McDonald Facility Manager
Tommy Rogers Health & Safety Manager

[Occupational First Aider

Tom McDonald Facility Manager
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5.1.3  Fire Fighting
All persons receive basic fire fighting instruction as part of their induction programme.

Fire points are shown on the fire point location map shown in Appendix 1.

&.
N
ch\
g
5.1.4  Fire extinguishers S e?
Fire points with fire extinguishers are sjg’é}@on the drawing in Appendix 1.

ec‘,\\o

The location of hydrants is showrlqiﬁ&:?e drawing in Appendix 1.

5.1.5 Drills and practices

5.1.5.1 Evacuation and fire drills
A full evacuation of the Kilmainhamwood facility will be practiced once every
6 months. The date and time of the practice will be determined by the Health

& Safety Manager and communicated only to the Facility Manager.

The Health & Safety Manager will make the necessary arrangements, monitor
the response and make a written report to be filed and logged accordingly.

CUSTODIAN: Health & Safety Manager REVIEW DATE: August 2009
CONTROLLED PAPER COPIES: Operations Manager, ALL OTHER PAPER COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.
Kilmainhamwood Composting ,.

CONTROLLED DOCUMENT IS ON THE INTRANET AT: X Drive / IMS
ALL OTHER ELECTRONIC COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:41



Section A: Page 11 of 50 Date: 27/08/08

Revision: August 2008

rhornton:

recycling

KILLMAINHAMWOOD EMERGENCY

PLAN

TR-001

5.1.6  Training
5.1.6.1 Fire fighting

All Thorntons Recycling personnel will receive basic fire-fighting instruction

as part of their induction.

5.1.6.2 Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDS)

= MSDS are available at the following locations :
0 Health & Safety Managers Office

Park West Office
Park West Garage
Dunboyne

ELV
Kilmainhamwood

OO0OO0OO0OO0O0

Operations Managers Office

&.
5
%\é

5.1.6.3 Protection of Vital Equ&d@df

The “Thorntons Recycling Co
administration building at
Fire Systems. In the eve

ies

?59? Server’ located on the ground floor of the
B, Henry Road, is fitted with an Automatic
activation, accidental or otherwise, access to

these rooms shall becre icted. All electronic Information is stored via
Kilmainhamwood to  Aministration Building at Unit S3B, Henry Road ,

¢ g
Dublin 12 O
&

&
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6 ACTION ON RECEIVING ANY EMERGENCY CALL

Accident / Emergency

Motor Vehicle Accident

Fire

Environmental Spill

Hazardous Materials Spill

Bomb Threat

Other Thorntons Site Emergency

Ask caller to Remain Calm.
Ask caller to State Who They Are.

In the event of Fire - Activate the Emergency Rife Alarm.

P 0N PE

Complete All Questions In Emergenc& gg;ﬂ\l Record Book.

Print Neatly - Someone else may gc’a%g@to read it.

When satisfied you have all relg\‘?@ﬁ\t information ask caller to HANG UP.
Contact the nearest First A:}gd%so

Convey all mformatlon@ gbfé First Aider.

© N o o

In the absence of th@\CSuperwsor in the event of a medical emergency

proceed to conta(c)gcé%Q and convey details.

9. Inthe absence of the Supervisor in the event of a fire emergency proceed
to contact Fire Brigade and convey details. Contact the Operations
Manager.

10. Contact Security to advise Medical/Fire Services coming on-site and
advise location.

11. Contact the Health and Safety Manager if required as per procedure.

12. Contact the Environmental Manager if required, as all fires, spills etc have

to be reported as stated in section 4.1.4.
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6.1 Action by person receiving any Emergency Call

Advise the caller to stay calm, answer the following questions and not to hang up until

told to do so:

Caller’'s Name

Type of Emergency

Location of Emergency

Time of Accident / Incident

Number of persons involved:

&.
éx}

Nature of Injury(s):

)
P

Natufe of Incident

Y

(%3

Sprain / Strain

Laceration

Burn

Puncture Wound

Dislocation

Amputation

Spinal Injury

Poisoning / Toxic effect

Other Injury

Supervisor in charge

Log time and date of call:

Time:

Date:
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9. | Operator taking call:

6.2 Action when unable to contact relevant Manager

In the event that the manager responsible for the area in which an accident has
occurred cannot be contacted:

= A message should be left at their home or some other place they are likely to
visit. Advise that a serious accident has occurred.

= NO DETAILS should be included or divulged to other persons regarding the
accident and/or its circumstances in the course ol; leaving this message.
N

An alternative person should be contacted Wbﬁé will assume the duties and

responsibilities of the Manager until such tlm\‘aﬁ\e/she is relieved.
5\0

RS
S

6.3 FIRST AIDER called in respo&é@s‘c\) emergency

1. Take down mformané‘ndﬁ‘om the emergency call room.
O
2. Ensure a backup @\cupatlonal First Aider is also called.
OO

3. Proceed to the emergency.

6.4 Bomb Threat

1. Respond to the alarm.

2. Evacuate the area and barricade to prevent re-entry by any employees.

3. Station an Designated employee at the barricade to record all movements.
4

. Await the arrival of the Garda Force.
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6.5 FIRE TEAM — Kilmainhamwood — FIRE / HAZARDOUS MATERIAL
Spill

8.

9.

Respond to alarms.
Assess the emergency.

Ensure that the Ambulance and Fire Brigade service has been called if necessary.

Check any electrical equipment involved in the fire is turned off.

&.

N
Ensure any flammable liquid or gas supplies in&h@é vicinity of the fire are turned
off. P

S8

Ensure orderly flow of employees a\m@om fire/lhazardous materials spill, liaise
with the Health & Safety Managezf Rétility Manager / Supervisor to determine a
head count of personnel and idegﬁo ny missing persons.

S
Tackle the fire using skills(qg%a?oﬁed from fire training until the fire brigade arrives
O

on site. %
\O

Treat injured and ensgre Ambulance has been called.

Assist mobility-impaired persons.

10. Meet Ambulance on arrival.
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6.6 Procedure for sealing SURFACE WATER and FOUL SEWER
DRAINAGE OUTLETS.

1. In the event of an emergency such as a fire or an oil spill, the discharge to the foul
water or surface water systems may need to be switched off. This will be the
responsibility of Environmental Manager / Site Supervisor or designated person.

2. The drainage map shows the location of the switch off valve on the foul water
system and the location of switch off valve for the syrface water system. Use this
map to locate appropriate valves to be closed in the’event of an emergency at the
facility. &

S
6.7 ACTION BY HEALTH &f \FETY MANAGER

K
\O

6.7.1  Accident - Seré'@%\l njury (action by Health & Safety Manager)

1. Ensure the relevant Director / Manager has been called.
2. Ensure area is secured to prevent access by unauthorised persons.
3. Notify H.S.A that an accident has occurred.

4. Take evidence from witnesses at the scene and make note of any piece of
evidence.

5. Managing Director / Operations Director and/or Relevant Departmental
Manager and/or Human Resources Manager to notify family of injured

person.
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6. Prepare a report detailing the circumstances of the accident and forward a
copy to the H.S.A Inspector. Details of that report should be retained for
file purposes.

7. Decide whether photographs and drawings are required to cover the
possibility that the accident becomes a fatality.

6.7.2  Accident- Fatality (action by Health & Safety Manager)
. . e
1. If required, call responsible person for assmt@&e.
Secure area to prevent access by unauthorized persons.
3. Ensure the Managing Director ano%)ﬁ&vant Department Manager has been
called. & &
Notify an H.S.A Inspector, that cident has occurred and give brief details.
Notify the Garda and furnisg:? ant information.
Take evidence from Wit@e%gg% at the scene and make note of any piece(s) of
evidence. SO
7. Ensure that the sceneK@?che incident will not be disturbed until viewed by an
H.S.A Inspector. ©
8.  Departmental I\él)@’%ger or HR Manager to notify family of a person involved
in an accident.
9.  Arrange for a photographer and instruct them concerning the photos required
and the notes to be made with each, as to its subject.
10. Arrange for survey plans of the site to be prepared. These are to include the
following showing only that known prior to the accident:

no

o ok

i. Locality Plan;
ii. Detailed plan of view of the accident site;
iii. A sectional view (if necessary). Any sections made are to be
marked on the detailed plan.

11. A second set of plans shall be prepared that show:

i. Locality Plan;
ii. Detailed plan of view showing details after the accident and
include such things as:
1. Equipment used in rescue operations;
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2. Position of rocks, ladders, equipment, etc. involved in
the accident;
3. Position from where photographs were taken;
4. Position of persons involved in the accident; and
5. Other relevant information.
iii. Sectional views as required to show detail.

12. Collect information and prepare report.

&5
6.7.3  Checklist for Incident Controller — Ciqn{t\\aﬁ Actions *Must be Called
1. Attendance in ‘Incident Control Room’ ‘ho(:é\@ Check | Time | Initial
.OOQKQ
Operations Manager* AQ\\““{
Managing Director* 9\\0“\(@‘
NZPE\y

Health & Safety Manager L0

S

S

O

»
(\g\\
9
Secretary
2. Notification
Other Directors™ Incident: be on standby
Environmental Manager* Incident: report to site
Human Resources Manager Incident: report to Incident Room
for briefing / Personnel Services
Security Guard Site entrance
3 Standby
Doctor Incident, proceed to site
Ambulance Incident, be on standby
Fire Brigade Incident, be on standby
Garda Incident, be on standby
4. Assignment of responsibilities
Issue Who What
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Secretary Secretary Log events. Log sheet Blanks
attached
Fire Wardens Fire Wardens Check Attendance
Assembly Check List | Supervisor
Telephone AN. Other
Photographic record AN Other
Surface workshops/ | AN. Other Identify personnel not reported to
working areas evacuation area
Environment Environmental Notify EPA of occurrence.
Manager
Submit written report to EPA
Notify Eastern Regional Fisheries
and Dublin City Council as
necessary.
Safety Health & Safety Notify HSA as necessary. &
Manager N
X
SEE
S
. XN
6.7.4  Incident Controllers — Erg@r\g@hcy Response Log
KO
RSN
Eriesgency Response Log
O
Date: <&
Time Sequepée of Events Further | By | By
O Action | whom | when | Complete
Required
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N
6.7.5  Duty of persons on su&ﬁce upon discovering a fire

Fire Emergency Procedure
Toall personne&o you discover a fire:-
1. Operate the nearest Fire Alarm button on the wall.
2. Notify your supervisor/department manager of the situation.
3. Evacuate the area immediately.
Fire Alarm

1.  When you hear the Fire Alarm, evacuate the building immediately by your

designated escape route and exit.

Do not delay leaving the building by collecting personal belongings.

3. Once outside the building, proceed directly to your Fire Assembly Point for
roll-call by your Fire Warden.

4. Do not leave the area. Await further instructions from the Supervisor / fire
warden, the Fire Brigade or the Gardai.

5.  Employees with visitors on hearing the Fire Alarm must go immediately to
their Assembly point with their visitor and notify the Fire Warden that the
visitor has safely evacuated.

6. It is important that you know your Assembly point in the event of an
emergency and always keep in mind your nearest Fire Exit at all times, so that,
in the event of an emergency, you can vacate the premises as quickly as

Q
QO\ \Q
%

n
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possible and make your way to Assembly point outside the plant. The purpose
of the Assembly point is to ensure that personnel from each zone can gather at
their designated area for roll-call by the relevant Fire Warden. A roll-call is
taken to ensure that all personnel are present and accounted for, including
visitors, who are the responsibility of the person they are visiting.

The Supervisor / Fire Wardens / designated persons are responsible for the
roll-call of those employees on their fire list. As soon as each Fire Warden, or
in their absence, those acting on their behalf, has ascertained who has left the
building or who is still inside the building, he/ must pass this information on to
the Health & Safety Manager. If a person does not arrive at an Assembly
point a note of their name and their last known whereabouts should be given to
the Health & Safety Manager, who will then in turn inform the Fire Brigade,
when they arrive.

Always inform your supervisor when you aregjbsent from the office.

N

. & -

7. Nobody under any circumstances, should 4&turn to the building to search for

a missing person o&*j\@
S

8.  Personnel should only re-enter @%O' emises, when the all-clear announcement
has been made. Alternativg\l&‘,éf he emergency is serious, the Fire Brigade/
Health & Safety Manageg;gﬁ@ﬁnstruct personnel to leave the grounds. Once
the Fire Brigade arriveg%\(@\site during an emergency, they are in charge, and
all must co-operate fuﬂé‘@vith their instructions.

@,\\6\

&

7 CRISIS MANAGEMENT PLAN — THORNTONS RECYCLING

In the event of a Level 3 or Environmental Incident the site Crisis Management
Response (CMR) Team is to be mobilised.

Sequence of Events:
1.  Crisis Management Response initiated by Operations Director / Manager.
2. The Site Crisis Management Team is to meet in the Crisis Management Centre

(Board Room Administration building Park West/ Killeen road /Dunboyne) as
soon as possible after notification of crisis.
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7.1 Outside Assistance — Emergency Equip. Consumables and Location
Inventory

The CMR Team may as required call on agencies external to the site.

The CMR Team Leader will formally announce the end to the crisis. Formal
communication is to be made by the Incident Controller with all involved agencies
informing them of the completion of activities.

&
¢
3
. *O
O&A’\(é\
AN
£
S
QYN
NS
s
NS
ES
RN
©
&
o
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7.2 RECOVERY TEAM LEADER- CRISIS CHECKLIST

The Recovery Checklist herein has been developed to provide a simple

reminder of the actions that are to be taken in a crisis situation.

The

checklist is not exhaustive and will constantly be developed and improved

through regular testing of the plan.

It is imperative that the Crisis Checklist is properly actioned and signed
off so that an accurate audit trail is developed. As the crisis escalates, the

various events as they occur will determine the actions to be taken.

It is

important that dates and times are recorded f\%ﬁ each action throughout

the crisis. @
&
S
The following directories and proceogprégsofor'ms can be used fo assist in
formulating a quick and effective response to a crisis.
S
P &
L
721 Recovery Team Leader )
o°®
5\
O
Successful per‘for'manc(@%f the role will require you to:
OO

> Identify long term and short ferm recovery goals,
> Identify resources needed to achieve goals,

> Manage the business resumption and recovery processes.

Recovery Checklist

Activity Check Action Taken Time | Date Sign Off

Liaise with Operations
Director / Manager in
forecasting impact on
operations of crisis.

Liaise with Government
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Agencies i.e. EPA &
M.C.C for alternative
waste handling routes
until such time as re-
commencement of
operations.

Action recovery plans
including any relocation

plans.
Liaise with other
operational managers
regarding recovery
resources and
processes.
Develop recovery plans Lo
with  milestones  / &
RS
budgets. ol
9 @ 7

Analyse the impact of
actions taken to manage

I
the crisis. \Q\‘ﬁé&\}
Liaise with the Sanitary §O$Qé
Authority & Eastern ‘ \Q&(\\O
Regional Fisheries Board ) $q
in event of fire or ,\QOQ
environmental pollution. A’\\O

&
<
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Recovery Checklist
Activity Check Action Taken Time | Date Sign Off

Implement recovery
plans to achieve
business resumption on
time and on budget.

Make recommendations
to:
> Limit site
exposure in the
future,
> Fast-track los
recovery in the
future. \©
Write “After Incident 27
Report for Management @’ »
and the Board ¥
Ensure  stocks of O &
consumables are KO
replenished. FORS
Prepare strategy for ¥
advising other sites of @‘\\
lessons learned. &
Report as necessary to
local  authority  and
environmental
protection agency.
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7.3 Recovery Planning — Worked Example

Identify early the likelihood that an incident may give rise to a crisis

Evaluate the potential impact on the organisation of each risk identified in

Step 1
situation.
Step 2
terms of:
> Injury to employees
> Damage to property
> Interruption to business
> Environmental damage
> Injuries to third parties @
> Damage to third party &sﬁér‘ry
> Harm to reputation Q &
é’)‘\s‘\
$)
Step 3 RS

&

\Qé

Determine in respect of gg@‘i‘\ incident identified, the Goal for recovery,

for example; @,\\o
§

O mde Gds

Explosion in C & D line resulting from | >
discarded old military ordinance causing
extensive damage to the tfrommel screen and | >
conveyor system, injuring one employee and
causing structural damage to roof of building | >
housing the plant.

Return to normal throughput process
waste level within one month.
Restrict short term reduction in C &
D waste received to X tones.
Improve employee safety in C & D
Area

Manage injured / killed employee
families concerns.

Step 4
Establish strategies to achieve goals.

Establish a “critical path” for recovery in respect of goals determined in
Step 3, identifying as many issues, which would need o be addressed as

possible.
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7.4 Indicative Plan for Recovery

741  Assets
Threat o Damage tfo (asset) rendering repair
uneconomical.
Recovery Goal ° Replace (asset) with (............ ) by date.
Recovery Strategy  ® Asset Replacement
&
Summarise the key elements of a project g&én for replacement of the
asseft, eg.- & ,&%
& &
>  Description of r‘eplacem@%g%sef
>  Suppliers details é}\o Qé
&

> Lead times 09

>  Demolition / r'errfo?é@} of damaged asset,

»  Project plan foqér.ons‘rruchon of replacement assef.

o(\

® Earnings ©

If the damaged asset will result in a loss of sales, identify how -

- To maintain some sales during the period of interruption,
- Create a strategy for maintaining customer relationships.
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742  Employees

Threat o Serious injury / death of employee.

Recovery Goal ® Minimise the impact on other employees and next
of kin, in an understanding and compassionate
manner.

° Rehabilitate injured employee back to workforce.

o Assist next of kin with funeral and welfare in the

event of death. &
N
\Qé
Recovery Strategy ~ ® Serious InJur{\yA@
5\0

Employmem‘ rehabﬂnfoh@%&‘hn
- Counselin
- Physical r‘ehabl QI'
- nghT work (ég \@n

Maintain con’racf< supp ort,

- Arrange applicable insurance.
- Payments i-a timely fashion.
Assess othér financial assistance.
A timetable for return to work.
Contact legal advisors.

Maintain contact with physicians.

Assist to bring next of kin to injured employees if necessary.

Recovery Strategy L Death
Maintain contact with next of kin.
Assist with funeral arrangements, if requested by next of kin.

Assist vLi,Th return of body to place of burial, if requested by
next of kin.

Arrange applicable insurance payments in a timely fashion.
Arrange counseling of next of kin and other employees affected.
Assist to bring next of kin to injured employees if necessary.
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Assist in statutory inquiries.
Contact legal advisors.

7.4.3 Environment

Threat ] Serious damage to natural environment.
Recovery Goal L Contain the damage to a defined area.

° Work  with r'egulggory and  community
representatives fo gﬁ’er‘mme recovery goals.

X Q@
Recovery Strategy ® Establish sty gy to address relevant issues if
the Thre\qz&}\éven‘rua’re
\O
Issues to consider - &é’\oé‘\
A
)

- Legal advice. QOQA‘
- Insurance co&?&;age
- RehablllTa%on of damage

- Statutory inquires

- Community involvement

- Media management.

- Local Authority.

- Environmental Protection Agency.
- Health & Safety Authority.

- Sanitary Authority.

- Eastern Regional Fisheries Board.
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74.4

Recovery Crisis Contact Directory

Site Contact Directory

As per Section C of this Emergency Plan.

External Emergency Services

As per Section C of this Emergency Pl@ﬁ

\*é‘*

Utilities / Instrumentality's o~ @6‘\0

\\}Q
Telecommunications &P
Power ESB <M. Alan Brown 087 9273970
Gas &
Water ,&%ea‘l’h County Council 046 9023851
Sewerage Meath County Council 046 9023851
Fuel Suppliers Sean McEntee Oils 046 9052142

Wildlife & Habitat

 Agency

Meath Co Co

Meath County Council

046 9023851

EPA
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Local Community Stakeholders

 Stakeholder ~ Contact ~ Contact Numbers
Local Council Offices

Mayor
Town Clerk
Local - Member

Local - Member State
Conservation Groups

&
¢
&
Q)
i
5\0
i
SO
R
NS
s
NS
Lt
RN
s\(;
&
o

CUSTODIAN: Health & Safety Manager REVIEW DATE: August 2009
CONTROLLED PAPER COPIES: Operations Manager, ALL OTHER PAPER COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.
Kilmainhamwood Composting ,.

CONTROLLED DOCUMENT IS ON THE INTRANET AT: X Drive / IMS
ALL OTHER ELECTRONIC COPIES ARE UNCONTROLLED.

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:42



rhornton:

recycling

Ki Imainhamwood EMERGENCY PLAN

Section B: Page 29 of 50
Revision: August 2008

| Date: 18/08/09

TR-01

SECTION B:

8.

8.1. FIRE on site.

ACTION IN RESPONSE TO EMERGENCY

IDENTIFIER 1. | What is the nature of
the fire — electrical
liquid, material, other
2. | Canyou extinguishthe | Y | Put out fire with appropriate extinguisher from
fire a safe position.
Advise supervisor or in his absence Operations
Director.
N | Sound fire alarm. Advise supervisor
Assist with fire fighting if competent to do so.
All 1. | Has fire alarm, surface | Y | Proceed to Assembly Point in your area. Fire
warning siren been Wardens / Appointed persons to take Roll Call
activated
Supervisor 1. | Are external fire Y | Call oufFire Brigade
services required Adw@e medical service of potential need for
Q istance. Contact Security at front gate to
,ho(:c advise medical services coming on site
&o‘f@ Thorntons Recycling Fire Team personnel
Q\{\é&? assume responsibility for extinguishing fire. In
;\\Oooé the event of a false alarm, supervisor gives the
&ei)§ all clear to return.
2. | Is situation gﬁ?igﬁ\ Y | Advise Operations Manager and or Health &
control 0@ Safety Manager.
\é\v N | Delegate person to call Operations Director
(@\ and or Health & Safety Manager.
P Account for your staff
Make arrangements for fighting fire.
Operations Director 1. | Is situation under Y | Advise Managing Director and Health &
control...? Safety Manager & Environmental Manager.
2. | Has both Surface Water Advise and liaise Environmental Protection
& Foul Water drainage Authority (EPA), Eastern Regional Fisheries
systems been sealed off Board and Meath County Council of Major
either manually or Fire only.
mechanically...? Proceed to site
N | Proceed to site
Assume or delegate responsibility for fighting
the fire.
Health & Safety Maintain log of events
Manager Lend assistance where required
Conduct inquiry

Garda Siochana (Nobber )
Garda Sioochana (Kells)
Fire Brigade

Ambulance Service

046 9052182
046 9280820
999
112

Manager, Kilmainhamwood.
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8.2. Bomb Threat

IDENTIFIER On being advised or Y | Advise supervisor
finding evidence of a Advise fellow workers and withdraw to
bomb threat evacuation Assembly Point or other safe area
Supervisor Advise Operations Manger.
Account for all subordinates
Operations Advise Garda Siochana
Director If advised by Garda, ensure orderly withdrawal
of all personnel to alternative place of safety.
Ensure Line Managers / Supervisors have
accounted for all staff
Environmental Advise the Environmental Protection Authority
Manager as required under W0O195-01
Bomb Threat Checklist
Exact wordin .

g of threat &
.......................................................... @
..................................................... o e
Questions To Ask ? \A &

When is the bomb going to explode? Qoé?? &
\\} S
Where is the bomb? $ @}*&

What does the bomb look |Ili§;\\$
Why was the bomb place@@@"
Who placed the bomb? « $

What will make the-Bomb explode?
What is your name?

Where are you?

What is your address?

Call Taken:

Duration

Time call was taken

Number called:

Date call was taken

Received by:

Garda Siochana (Nobber )
Garda Sioochana (Kells)
Fire Brigade

Ambulance Service

046 9052182
046 9280820
999
112
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8.3. Incident Response

SERIOUS INJURY

IDENTIFIER 1. | Isthe injured in a dangerous Y | Remove from danger
situation? N | Leave any moving to qualified first aider
2. | Areyou qualified to Y | Administer first aid
administer first aid? Send for first aid kit
Send for supervisor
N | Send for first aid practitioner
Send for supervisor
Supervisor 1. | Isthe injured stabilized; can he | Y | Remove to First Aid Room.
be moved? Telephone Doctor / Ambulance
N | Ensure first aid treatment given
Make comfortable, keep warm, reassure,
telephone Doctor. Delegate person to
prepare Emergency Vehicle.
Contact Security at front gate to advise
medical services coming on site
2. | Is Doctor on call available Y |To(3) .
N | Call bulance Service if required
Calf"alternative medical help
3. | Call Operations Manager N
Doctor 1. | Receive supervisors call, IS
assess medical situation (QO—\\&
2. | Call Ambulance Service if.Q" &
necessary e
3. | Proceed tosite . RO
Operations 1. | Is the situation undergohtrol? | Y | Maintain contact
Director K(,OV’ N | Proceed to site and/or call out additional
O resources
o&ﬁ Call Health & Safety Manager
% Call Finance Manager
Garda Siochana (Nobber ) 046 9052182
Garda Sioochana (Kells) 046 9280820
Fire Brigade 999
Ambulance Service 112
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8.4. Site Evacuation Procedure

ACTION BY PERSONS DURING A SITE EVACUATION ON ANY SITE
CONTROLLED BY THORNTONS RECYCLING.

Should an accident occur that calls for the general evacuation of the site.

1 Assessthesituation.

2. DONOT approach injured person or accident unless it is safe to do so.

3. Ifsafeto do so, stay with the injured person(s) and try to have another person ring the Emergency
Number (999 or Emergency Number relevant to your site) and activate the Evacuation Alarm.

4. On hearing the evacuation alarm, or having been told to evacuate, all EMPLOYEES,
CONTRACTORS and VISITORS must evacuate the area, to there nearest Assembly
Point.

5 Allemployees responsible for CONTRACTORS & VISITORS must ensure their Safety in
the event of an emergency requiring evacuation.

6. Leave the area quickly, but do not run. &
5
. & .
7. Proceed to your designated or nearest Emergesty Assembly Point on your
site, as shown in the site maps in the Appegfeﬁz@f this manual.
<O

8.  Designated FIRE WARDENS fro A ledepartment are to take the names of
all employees from their area; tg{s 0 be passed onto the Health & Safety

Manager or the designated eme officer on request.
g g (@;g\,g&& q

N

9. Remain at the Emergen(fyo \ssembly Point, UNTIL TOLD TO LEAVE.

Refer to Site Maps at thevpht(:’k of this manual.

&
UNDER NO CIROIﬁ/ISTANCES do you re-enter your work area until the
Health & Safety Manager or the designated emergency officer gives the
ALL-CLEAR SIGNAL.
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8.5. Off-Site Emergency Response Procedures

8.5.1 Transport Incidents - Waste Materials

Any assistance that is requested by the local authorities with regard to
incidents that involve the transportation of waste materials to or from the
Thorntons Recycling Site by Thorntons Recycling vehicles shall be offered.
The assistance may take the form of information, advice and or additional
vehicles for clean-up purposes..

Purpose: To ensure that injury and/or damage or environmental
contamination is minimised in the event of an accident involving
a laden waste truck.

Procedure: In the event of an accident involving an unloaded / loaded
waste truck:

= Check for injury to any person - cghé& emergency services as
appropriate; &

= Erect advance emergency Warnlng@gﬁ%;

= Check for leakage of cargo or Q;hgg\‘bollutants stem if possible;

= Report incident to Garda Si

= Report incident to Trans anager
o Transport Ma&éggf to report Incident to Health & Safety
Manager.
(o] Transportﬁ@\ager to report Incident to Managing Director and
or Dwectg&s
= Remain at ac{@@ent scene until instructed to move by an authorised
person;
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8.6.  Guidence for Specific Emergency Response

8.6.1 Acetylene — LP Gas Fire

PURPOSE To provide guidelines for responding to a compressed gas fire. e.g.
Acetylene or liquid petroleum gas

HAZARDS Risk of personal injury or death.
Risk of violent explosion associated with extreme heat.
Risk of lethal flying cylinders if explosions occur, due to gases venting
uncontrolled.

RESPONSES TO DO NOT RISK LIFE.

HAZARDS DO NOT EXTINGUISH FLAME OF A BURNING CYLINDER
It is better to burn the gas than let it escape uncontrolled.
When the fire has burnt itself out, cool-down the cylinder completely
before approaching.
Compressed gases storage areas to be kept as cool as possible by means
of large quantities of water being deIive[égqgés fine spray via hydrant or

fire tender.
Fire to be fought from as great a\cgls@%e as water pressure permits.
Y
<O
EVACUATION All staff and non-emergen (&sonal to be evacuated to a distance of at
least 500 metres S
fX <
O @
CONTAINMENT General structural @%cﬁbhtlng practices to be applied
SPECIAL Fire fighting h%@ and branches
EQUIPMENT \é\
EMERGENCY  See genetal listing Section C.
CONTACTS

RESOURCES Fire Brigade
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8.6.2 Back Injury

PURPOSE To provide guidelines for responding to an emergency
involving possible spinal injury
HAZARDS Possible permanent disability.
RESPONSES TO All persons involved in the following TYPES OF
HAZARDS INCIDENT should be suspected of having suffered spinal
injury.
> Vehicle accident,
» Fall from height,
> Injury to head or face,
» Lightning strike or electrocution,
» Heavy impact to back.
Signs and Symptoms of spinal ipjury:
&S
Pain and tenderness over t ¥spine,
Numbness or pins ar@%@dles to an area of the body,
Weakness or heayjfiess to limbs,
Arms folded oué¥,ghest or in “stick’em up” position,
Cuts or brui\s%@/er head, face, neck, back or abdomen,
Paralysigs? o
Any scious person is always treated as a spinal
injurgo&
\0
CONTAINMENT Révent further injury
lear scene of all but emergency personnel
SPECIAL Ambulance
EQUIPMENT Stretches — spinal board
EMERGENCY See general listing Section C.
CONTACTS
RESOURCES Hospital

Ambulance Service
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8.6.3 Belt/ Screener/ Hopper Fire

PURPOSE To provide guidelines for responding to a conveyor belt / chute
or hopper fire.

HAZARDS Molten rubber may spread fire to adjacent belts.
Toxic gasses may be fatal.
Dense smoke may hamper the emergency response

RESPONSES T DO NOT RISK LIFE

HAZARDS Expedite rescue of any personnel if applicable.
Isolate electrical equipment or supply in the immediate area if
jeopardised by the fire or if water will be used to fight the fire.
Fire may be fought with dry chemical extinguisher, water or
foam as a spray (not a direct stream)
Rubber to be cooled as quickly as possible.
Self contained breathing apparatus to be worn by Fire Brigade

Members.
&
EVACUATION All non-emergency personal&b be evacuated upwind of
emergency scene. \A Q@
CONTAINMENT General structural f'@@%g‘htlng practice to be used.
Keep any non g& g belts which are at risk, running if
possible. o
£5°
SPECIAL EQUIPMENT Fire equ;ﬁ?r@rt
Hoses; 983% and branches
5\
EMERGENCY Se&@eneral listing Section C.
CONTACTS
RESOURCES Flre Brigade
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8.6.4 Diesel Fuel / Oil Fire

PURPOSE To provide guidelines for responding to a diesel or oil fire
in a diesel/oil tank storage area.

HAZARDS Explosion risk possible — especially of near empty tank —
tank ends may become projectiles.
Significant radiant heat.
Dense, poisonous smoke which may hamper the
emergency response.
Fire spreading to nearby warehouse.
Burning fuel escaping into the drainage system.

RESPONSES TO DO NOT RISK LIFE

HAZARDS IF THE FIRE HAS TAKEN HOLD: EVACUATE
If the fire has not taken hold; Stop fuel flow if possible (at
tank valve),

Apply foam in large quantitie%ﬁ%m the hydrants,
If foam is not available app¥y water as a fine mist or fog

only. o&ﬂé‘*
DO NOT apply woayega% a direct stream to burning fuel.
SN
EVACUATION If the fire hq&\%k n hold: Personnel clearance of at least
A0
500m or heyosd.
ey
N\
CONTAINMENT Arranfé;% or a truckload of sand/dirt and small loader plus

othe{&s(l]nding equipment as required.
I\/@?e all nearby equipment to a safe distance (>200m)
OO

SPECIAL EQUIPMENT Fire equipment

Loader Truck
EMERGENCY See general listing Section C.
CONTACTS
RESOURCES Fire Brigade
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8.6.5 Electrical Fire

PURPOSE To provide guidelines for responding to an electrical fire.

HAZARDS Electrocution.
Possible toxic fumes and smoke.
Possible explosion of electrical components.
Possible asphyxiation due to non-oxygen environment.

RESPONSES TO DO NOT RISK LIFE
HAZARDS In the event of electrocution follow the ABC action plan of first
aid.
= Ensure all personnel are clear of fire area.
= |solate switchboard or entire facility.
= DO NOT use water of foam unless complete electrical
isolation is confirmed.
= On entering any facility, self-contained breathing
apparatus must be worn because of the danger of toxic
environment. &
» Dry chemical of CO, @dlngwsher to be used on small
electrical fires. A Q@

EVACUATION All non- emergencygﬁ’ &nnel to be evacuated to a safe area
\\} o

CONTAINMENT Normal stru&g&%ﬁre procedure.

S
SPECIAL EQUIPMENT  Fire equ\ﬁo‘%ﬁt

OQ
‘\(’
EMERGENCY Se@@eneral listing Section C.
CONTACTS
RESOURCES Flre Brigade
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8.6.6 Vehicle Fire

PURPOSE To provide guidelines for responding to a vehicle fire
HAZARDS Fire may produce irritating, poisonous or corrosive gases.
RESPONSES TO Engine fire;

HAZARDS Shut off engine and any electrical equipment and leave off.

Use fire extinguisher provided in vehicle. Inject contents through

any available opening, without raising the bonnet if possible.

If necessary, extinguish the fire with sand, earth or large amounts

of water.

Cabin fire;

Shut off engine and electrical equipment and leave off.

Remove burning materials if safe to do so.

Use fire extinguisher provided in vehicle.

If necessary, extinguish the fire with sand, earth or large amounts

of water.

Tray fire;

Shut off engine and electrical equipment and leave off.

Use fire extinguisher provided in vehigte.

If necessary, extinguish the fire \@ih sand, earth or large amounts

of water. QS

If safe to do so, move u %ﬁed containers or packages from the

fire area. & @6

Cool containers wij < joding quantities of water until well after

fire is out. RO

Tyre fire; 052@6’\ §°

Stop vehicle'~sfssess fire in relation to load and its hazards.

Flood tyﬁeoéqﬁ% plenty of water - If water is not available, use fire

extingui@h%r provided in vehicle.

If safesto do so, change tyre and place at least 15m from vehicle in

arbai%a away from combustible materials; tyre may re-ignite.
EVACUATION Consider initial evacuation for 200m in all directions.

If unable to control fire, evacuate immediate area.

CONTAINMENT Use fire hydrant to suppress fire spread.
Some Fuchs Machines are fitted with foam suppression systems —
Automatic switch on will or should contain engine fire.

SPECIAL Fire equipment
EQUIPMENT
EMERGENCY See general listing Section C.
CONTACTS
RESOURCES Fire Brigade
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8.6.7 Mobile Equipment Fire

PURPOSE
HAZARDS
RESPONSES TO
HAZARDS

EVACUATION

CONTAINMENT

SPECIAL
EQUIPMENT

EMERGENCY
CONTACTS
RESOURCES

To provide guidelines for responding to a mobile equipment fire.
Fire may produce irritating, poisonous or corrosive gases.

Engine fire;

Shut off engine and any electrical equipment and leave off.

Use fire extinguisher provided in vehicle. Inject contents through
any available opening, without raising the bonnet if possible.

If necessary, extinguish the fire with sand, earth or large amounts of
water.

Cabin fire;

Shut off engine and electrical equipment and leave off.

Remove burning materials if safe to do so.

Use fire extinguisher provided in vehicle.

If necessary, extinguish the fire with sand, earth or large amounts of
water.

Tray fire;

Shut off engine and electrical equipment and leave off.

Use fire extinguisher provided in vehig{:

If necessary, extinguish the fire wu@@and earth or large amounts of
water.

If safe to do so, move un é\d containers or packages from the
fire area. @6

Cool containers Wlttbﬂ%egé‘mg quantities of water until well after fire
is out. £

Tyre fires; &é’ $°

Stop vehlclqﬁ\@ess fire in relation to load and its hazards.

Flood tyr&\g@h plenty of water - If water is not available, use fire
extlngwsI@?’provided in vehicle.

If safe 40" do so, change tyre and place at least 15m from vehicle in
an @)Kéh away from combustible materials; tyre may re-ignite.

Consider initial evacuation for 200m in all directions.
If unable to control fire, evacuate immediate area.

Use fire hydrant to suppress fire spread.
Fire equipment

Breathing Apparatus (Fire Brigade)
Foam equipment

See general listing Section C.

Fire Brigade
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8.6.8 Mobile Equipment Fire (Power-Line Contact)

PURPOSE To provide guidelines for responding to a power line contact
incident.

HAZARDS Electric shock.
Fire.
Tyre explosions (Internal tyre fire imminent with electrical
contact)

RESPONSES TO IF POWERLINE CONTACT

HAZARDS DO NOT RISK LIFE

Instruct driver of the affected vehicle to stay in the cab until
advised otherwise

Note: driver is safe from electrocution whilst not contacting
ground. Under no circumstances should personnel touch
machine whilst touching the ground or other equipment
Although the power should trip out power should be isolated.

If operator has been electrocuted g#is unconscious initiate ABC
action plan of first aid N

If operator is COﬂSCiOLQN.i fiuct to jump clear of the vehicle
(without touching vehitlesand ground simultaneously).

Mobile equipmentQ "\gype procedures to be followed.

SO
EVACUATION All non—eme@?@ personnel to be evacuated to a safe area.
CONTAINMENT Power to gg(c@é%t site to be kept isolated until rescue has been
affecteg.\‘\. N
Vehi&eo$Be isolated for 24hrs
5\(;
Q
SPECIAL F@‘equipment
EQUIPMENT 00(\
EMERGENCY See general listing Section C.
CONTACTS
RESOURCES Fire Brigade
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8.6.9 Person Caught in Chute or Hopper

PURPOSE To provide guidelines for responding to an incident involving a person
caught in a chute or hopper.

HAZARDS High potential for serious personal injury:
> Crushing
» Suffocation
> Spinal injury
>
RESPONSES TO Stop all material movement into or from the chute or hopper.

HAZARDS Isolate immediate upstream and downstream material movement
Remove loose materials on the end of feed belt to prevent them falling
into chute or hopper.

If trapped person is injured, trained first aider to access person ASAP.
DO NOT RISK LIFE
Check chute or hopper for any possible further material slumps. Do
whatever possible to protect the trappeg¥person and rescuers from
further harm. RS
ABC action plan of first aid to ng%&med

N

SO
O &
CONTAINMENT  All non-emergency pers@%}?}o be kept clear of rescue area
@‘Qé*
SPECIAL RS
EQUIPMENT NN
OIS
Ambulance <"
©
Q
EMERGENCY See gener@@sting Section C.
CONTACTS 000
RESOURCES Fire Brigade
Ambulance Service
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8.6.10 Structural Fire

PURPOSE To provide guidelines for

responding to a structural fire.

HAZARDS Risk of personal injury / death.

Risk of explosion.

Risk of structural collapse.

RESPONSES TO DO NOT RISK CONTACT
HAZARDS Isolate electrical and other fuel sources.
Remove obstructions (vehicles etc).

EVACUATION All non-essential personnel to clear.
Personnel working in structure to proceed to assembly points for

accounting.

CONTAINMENT  Keep all non-essential personnel clear.

General fire fighting practices to be applie(ojg}

Ne
SPECIAL Fire fighting hoses and equipment §é
EQUIPMENT \gk@
o(\‘\ox
EMERGENCY See general listing Sectio%&sfie6
CONTACTS &§@§
o ec‘}\\loé
RESOURCES Fire Brigade KO
Ambulance Segﬁg\éz?
i)
RS
&
»
&

&
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8.6.11 Vehicle Collision

PURPOSE To provide guidelines for responding to a vehicle collision so as to
prevent further injury and expedite rescue of trapped personnel.

HAZARDS Possible injury or death.
Possible vehicle fire.
Possible fuel, oil spill.
Possible disruption to production.

RESPONSES TO First responding person to carry out action plan for first aid.
HAZARDS Do not move casualty unless life-threatening situations exists.
If safe to do so, do not move casualty until examined by authorised first
aid person.
Have available 6 or 9kg dry chemical powder extinguisher.
If fire present or imminent, fire crews to be standing by.

EVACUATION Not applicable &
Ne
CONTAINMENT Suitable warning signs or appointed 8\e¢50nnel placed to divert traffic
around collision scene. O O
Mobile equipment may be reggired to standby as rescue aid or for spill

containment as reqwred.Q\}&o &
SPECIAL Fire fighting hoses an@%@ﬁpment ( Fire Brigade)
EQUIPMENT &
S
(S ®
EMERGENCY  See general I|s<f|03§\8ectlon C.
CONTACTS \é\
RESOURCES Fire Brigage’
Ambul@ﬁﬁ\e Service
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8.6.12 Workshop Fire

PURPOSE To provide guidelines for responding to a major fire in the workshop.

HAZARDS Possible injury including trapped personnel.
» Toxic gases — fumes.
» Structural collapse.
» Violent explosion possible with compressed gas cylinders
being affected by significant heat.

RESPONSES TO DO NOT RISK LIFE
HAZARDS Small fire, extinguish with extinguishers provided in area.
Significant fire — isolate power supply
Remove all mobile equipment from workshop.
Mobilise fire crew with B/A gear.
Nearby fire hydrants to be equipped with hoses sufficient to fight fire.
Continual monitoring of structural condition for any signs of collapse.
Use foam or water spray to fight non-electrical fire.
&
EVACUATION All offices to be evacuated from main Q@a%ce
All non-emergency personnel t \%cuated at least 500m
If fire has taken hold - pers%:%\é be evacuated to main muster area.

CONTAINMENT  General structural fire f{gh%ﬁg practice

\0 é\

SPECIAL Fire fighting hose quipment
EQUIPMENT <<0* $q
EMERGENCY See General gﬁlng Section C.
CONTACTS
RESOURCES Fire Brigade

Ambulance Service
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8.6.13 Fire in Administration Building / Canteens

IDENTIFIER What is the nature of the
fire — electrical liquid,
material, other
Can you extinguish the | Y | Extinguisher from a safe position.
fire Advise your supervisor or in his absence your
immediate manager.
N | Sound fire alarm. Advise your supervisor
Assist with fire fighting if competent to do.
Supervisor Is fire under control Y | Advise Operations Manager, Health & Safety
Manager.
N | Call Fire Brigade, ensure evacuation of building.
All Has fire alarm in the | Y | Proceed to Assembly Point in car park Fire Wardens
admin.  building  been to take roll call.
activated
Operations Director, Are external fire services | Y | Call out Fif€ Brigade
Health &  Safety required Call oLg\qure Team personnel on shift. Advise medical
Manager s\erv,igg of potential need for assistance.
N cﬁ‘\%@ Team personnel assume responsibility for
Aof?, xtinguishing fire, until arrival of Fire Brigade.
Is situation under control <F ¥5"| Advise Managing Director
. OoVéjeN Advise Managing Director
S Account for your staff
.&9\,\&0 Make arrangements for fighting fire.
FALSE A Q’&Q’ If false alarm, Fire Warden/ Health & Safety Manager
KQOQ to give the all clear to return.
Q
Weekends. FALSE (\@EARM Weekends — Security Guard to Log Time and Event.
s
Operations Director Is situation under control | Y | Advise Managing Director
Proceed to site
N | Proceed to site

Advise Health & Safety Manager
Assume or delegate responsibility for fighting the fire.

Garda Siochana (Nobber)
Garda Siochana (Kells)
Fire Brigade

Ambulance Service

046 9052182
046 9280820
999
112
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C.1 EMERGENCY CALL OUT TELEPHONE NUMBERS

NAME

Work No.

Home No./ Pager No.

MOBILE

1. MEDICAL SERVICES
VHI Medical Centre

Ambulance Service

Alternative Medical Practitioners

Friday

9am - 5pm Monday to

01 7994120

999/112

2. OTHER SERVICES

Fire Brigade

Garda Siochana Nobber

Garda Siochana Kells
Environmental Protection Authority
Eastern Regional Fisheries Board
Health & Safety Authority
Ministers of Churches

» Catholic
»  Church of Ireland

999 or 112

&

%

£
&

046 9052182
046 9280820

éoiv 2680100

QU

01 614 7000

3.  THORNTONS Recycling
Senior Management
Managing Director
Director
Finance Manager
Operations Manager
Director

Maintenance Manager

Gary Bradys\bO
Shane Therhton

Paul Thornton

Ted Moran

Nicol zgerald
Tonf»%chonnelI

207
206
208

464

6202207
6202206

086 4129539
086 8240425
087 9367480
086 6013495
087 2028288

086 6011855

4. Other THORNTONS
Personnel
Environmental Manager
Health & Safety Manager
Human Resources Manager

Tom McDonnell
Tommy Rogers
Tara Devitt

448
459
319

6202539
6202319

086 8563431
086 3811122
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C.2 HOSPITALS / HOTELS LIKELY TO BE USED IN EVENT
OF EMERGENCY.

Hospital Telephone Nearest Hotel Telephone No.
No.
Our Ladys Hospital , 046 Cabra Castle
Navan 9021210 11811
Co Meath
Our Lady of Lourdes , 118 11 New Grange Hotel
Drogheda, Navan 11811
Co.Louth Co Meath
\&,.
Ao%\é
N
A0
&
NN
K
W &
&
SO
O
S
*\C’OQ
\O
&
OO
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SITE CRISIS MANAGEMENT RESPONSE TEAM

Team Role
Team Leader:

Alternative:

Name

| Contact Details

Gary Brady

Paul Thornton

086 4129539

087 2028288

Operations Director

Alternative:

Paul Thornton

Shane Thornton

087 2028288

086 8240425

Facility Manager

Alternative:
Production Supervisor

Tom McDonald

Dermot Ward

086 8563431

Health & Safety Manager

Tommy Rogers

| 086 3811122

A§é

NS

Alternative: 00\0’\

Finance Manager: & 087 4171798

S
Alternative: RO
&
e
\ ~\Q)
ES
*\“OQ
O
Media Spokesperson: o(\_?f?
O

Alternative: ?
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tor Road
' ¥
Background

As per Schedule E of Licence W0195-01, Kilmainhamwood Compost must analyse
the finished material for certain parameters in order to classify the quality of the
finished product as Compost.

All sampling and analysis was performed in accordance with standards to include
European, national and BSI PAS 100:2005 and guidance obtained within WARP
publications. In addition European standard EN 12579:2000 was interpreted and used
to gather resentative samples from the compost pile.

Purpose and Scope

The purpose of this Procedure is to ensure that representative samples of compost are

taken from the composting facility to monitor that the ﬁ%@ﬁed product complies with

the following quality standards: &

SES

. S

Associated Documents &*\0

EP19 ABPP06-F01 Sampling form.xls 0&0\5\\
Dt

SCHEDULE E: Standards for Co \é&‘%uality

Unless otherwise agreed in writin ‘b}/&he Agency, the following criteria are deemed a

quality standard for the use of co st as a soil improver and should not be deemed

as criteria for fertiliser. In additj\@no N, P, K, NH 4-N, NO 3-N, pH and dry matter

content should also be measg&é\%l.
Compost shall be deemed finsatisfactory if more than 10% of samples fail the criteria
below. No sample shall exceed 1.2 times the quality limit values set.

1. Maturity

Compost shall be deemed to be mature if it meets two of the following requirements:
[JC/N ratio <25
loxygen uptake rate < 150 mg O 2/kg volatile solids per hour; and

[Jgermination of cress (Lepidium sativum) seeds and of radish (Raphanus sativus)
seeds in compost must be greater than 90 percent of the germination rate of the
control sample, and the growth rate of plants grown in a mixture of compost and
soil must not differ more than 50 percent in comparison with the control sample.
[JElimination of the following test organisms (used to evaluate composting
system efficiency in removing plant pathogens and weed seeds during the
composting process): Plasmodiophora brassicae, tobacco-mosaic-virus (TMV) and
tomato seeds.

Guidance on test may be obtained from the German document LAGA M10 ‘Quality
Criteria and Application Recommendations for Compost’.
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to:- J
. A Note 1,2 & 3
2. Trace Elements (Compost and Stabilised Biowaste)
Maximum Trace Element Concentration Limits et
Parameter Compost Quality Standards | Stabilised
(mg/kg, dry Note 5 Biowaste
m ass) Note 5
Class 1 Class 2
Cadmium (Cd) 0.7 1.5 5
Chromium (Cr) 100 150 600
Copper (Cu) 100 150 600
Mercury (Hg) 0.5 1 5
Nickel (Ni) 50 75, 150
Lead (Pb) 100 150 500
Zinc (Zn) 200 8400 1500
Polychlorintated - N 0.4
Biphenyls 009? QJS\O
(PCB’s) SO
Polycyclic ;\\0(:@\ - 3
Aromatic ‘ Qogé;§
Hydrocarbons Qé\ A@?
(PAH’s) N
Impurities >2mm | <&  <0.5% <0.5% <3%
Note 6 OQ?\
Gravel and Stonés <5% <5% -
~5mm Note 6

Note 1: These limits apply to the compost and stabilised biowaste just after the

composting phase and prior to mixing with any other materials

Waste Licence Amendment W0195-01/A Page 5 of 6
Note 2: Incoming sludges (other than sewage sludges) shall be monitored quarterly
(on a client by client basis) for the parameters outlined in this table in addition to
Selenium (Se) and Molybdenum (Mo).
Note 3: Monitoring of Arsenic (As) is required if waste timber is used in the

composting process.

Note 4: The above alone should not be taken as an indication of suitability for

addition to soil as the cumulative metal additions to soil should be first calculated.

Note 5: Normalised to 30% organic matter content.
Note 6: Compost must not contain any sharp foreign matter measuring over a 2 mm

dimension that may cause

damage or injury to humans, animals and plants during or resulting from its

intended use.
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3. Pathogens

Pathogenic organisms content must not exceed the following limits:
[1Escherichia coli <1,000 CFU/g fresh weight; and
[1Salmonella species absent in 25 g sample.

Pathogen testing as above is carried out on every batch produced for ABP
Regulations. This testing is carried out as per procedure EP19 ABPP 06 and is not
included in this scope.

Depending on proposed use phytotoxins and weed propagules shall be tested in
accordance with table 3 of PAS 100.
&
&
Responsibility NS
It is the responsibility of the Facility ManagwO chis Deputy in his absents to check
that this procedure has been followed angQ? rded. It is the Responsibility of the
person carrying out the sample taking\&o%e@érd their task on the Chain of custody
form. The Chain of custody is kept &555'\ (gh% Facility Office in the “outgoing compost
produced record” file. NN
L QO
R
5\
o¢:\\o
General Procedure &
Materials
Compost Quality Testing is carried out on compost which has just completed
Pasteurization.In order to achieve representative samples from the batch free from
contamination the following materials are needed;

1 pairs of sterile disposable latex gloves
2 pairs of disposable foot covers

1 full face respirator and hi-vis vest.

1 X 10 litre container.

1 scoop

2 sterile plastic container

5 flexible airtight containers

Nk LD —
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Sampling of compost

Before entering the building the sampler must put on the necessary PPE equipment.
The PPE requirement for the building when sampling, is to wear a full face respirator
and a hi-vis vest.

On entering the building the sampler must use the foot dip at the entry point and go
directly to the door of the pasteurization tunnel. The door of the Pasteurization tunnel
is opened and the sampler puts on their foot covers and disposable latex gloves.

The sampler then enters the tunnel gets up on top of the batch material. The pile
consists of a volume of approximately 450m*.Moving in a zigzag pattern from the
side of the pile, across the pile to the other side of the pile and moving from the front
of the pile to the back of the pile the sampler picks 10 sample points. The number of
sampling points (Nsp) is calculated using the following eg\uﬁ%on Nsp = 0.5(\ V%)

Where V = volume of sampled portion in cubic r@\
At each sample point the sampler digs down «éfn and 60cm and using the scoop,
takes 5 individual samples at each samp nt and puts them into the 10 litre
container. When the container has colle@@ﬁ 50 sub-samples across the pile the lid
of the container is closed. Q,C\\

\0 ~<\
The sampler then takes the corﬁg@ér out of the tunnel and closes the door of the
pasteurization tunnel. The samplgf’leaves going straight to the nearest exit point of the
building and places his footwgﬁ’ into the foot dip prior to leaving the building.

&

The sampler then mixes the combined sample thoroughly and sub divided to provide
two five-litre samples. One 3 litre sample is taken and sent to a Laboratory for Trace
element analysis. A chain of custody is recorded at each section of the transport and
receipt chain.

The other 2x3 litre sample is given to a Laboratory for Nutrient, Physical
contaminants and maturity. A chain of custody is recorded at each section of the
transport and receipt chain.

Eurofines Laboratories, Wergs Rd, UK specialises in the testing of composted
material and is the preferred Laboratory for this analysis

When the results of all analysis are received a compost quality report is complied.
This report will include;
1. Records of sampling, name and position of person or body that carried out the
sampling, date of sampling, batch number of the sample.
2. Name of Laboratory that carried out the analyses and chain of custody receipts
3. The results of the analysis for each sample.
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4. The declaration as to the class of product achieved based on the analyses
undertaken.

Any material not meeting the classification of compost can be re worked through the
facility or sent off site to an outlet agreed by the EPA.

RECORD KEEPING

All completed EP19 ABPP06-F01 should be signed off by the Facility Manager or his
Deputy in his absence. EP19 ABPP06-FO1 Forms are filed in the outgoing compost
produced record file. All Laboratory Analysis Certificates are filed in the outgoing
compost produced record file.

&
¢
&
O(@'&Q@
S
s
L&
AR
W &
fo®
NS
Lt
R
‘\0
&
s
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Purpose and Scope

The purpose of this procedure is to detail the Residual Waste Management procedures
for Kilmainhamwood Composting Kilmainhamwood Licence 195-1 LIC.doc. This
procedure only applies to the Kilmainhamwood composting operations and details the
steps to be taken in dealing with Residual waste at Kilmainhamwood composting.
Residual waste is a waste that cannot be composted and will not biodegrade. It is
screened out at the end of the composting process.

Responsibility

The Facility Manager is responsible for identifying residualsvaste. The Facility

Manager is responsible for inspecting, documenting and Lo anising safe removal of
any residual waste. . AO\
S
. SR
Associated Documents &
SIS

Q
EP14-F01 Residual Waste Manageme%@%ksheet Kilmainhamwood.xls
S

Ry
Kilmainhamwood Licence 195-1\(51@\2\ oc
K

S
Technical Amendment Kilmaiq.lﬁ%mwood.pdf

&

Procedure
The following process must be followed when handling residual wastes arising from
Kilmainhamwood Compost;

1. The Sales Department provide all our account customers with a red and a green
list of what we can and cannot accept at the composting facility. If in doubt about
any waste type they contact the Environmental Department or the
Kilmainhamwood Compost Facility Manager.

2. When new accounts are to be set up they are passed to the Accounts Receivable
Dept where the customers information is set up including waste type,
bins/containers and pricing.

3. When orders are received the Call Centre processes the order and selects the waste

description with the appropriate EWC Code and enters onto the WIMS. If in doubt
about any code or a waste type they contact the Environmental Department
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Drivers check the contents of the skip, bin or container on collection and report to
the transport department if there is non-conforming waste. Transport in turn liaise
with the Environmental Dept and will advise you on how to proceed (If necessary
Thorntons can arrange for an alternative collector)

Weighbridge operators must confirm waste types with the driver collecting the
waste and check cameras for conformity of the waste

The material is then brought through the process of composting. However a small
amount of this material will not breakdown and will end up been screened out at
the end of the process, this material is called residual waste. It is usually made up
of plastic bags etc. this residual waste is then sucked of\f;oghe oversized material

and collected into a collecting container. &

&
Over time this container fills and when full t@?’é&lht}’ Manager orders for if to be
replaced. The container is weighed out ang’the destination recorded, along with

Drivers name and the registration of't gﬁ\*icle and details are filled out on

.EP14-F01 Residual Waste Managgju@gmbhecksheet Kilmainhamwood.xls
KO
Paperwork is filed in the Envirgiimental Office or Facility office on site at
S &
Kilmainhamwood compospg@.

&
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Purpose and Scope

As part of the Animal By-Product Regulation (Regulation (EU) 1774/2002) composting
facilities processing food Waste including catering waste must ensure that the composting
material must reach certain parameters in order to destroy any potential pathogens. The
parameters that the composting material must meet to comply with the ABPR are 70° C for 60
consecutive minutes with a particle size of 12mm. Particle size is validated by sampling the
screened compost and sieving through a 12mm sieve.

The purpose of this Procedure is to ensure that representative samples of each composting bay
are taken post screening and put through a 12mm screen to validate their particle size.

Responsibility

It is the responsibility of the Facility Manager or his Deput @I%IS absence to check that this
procedure has been followed and recorded. It is the Resp Sibility of the person carrying out
the sampling to record their task on the check sheetd@{]@ 9-F01. The check sheet is kept in
the Facility Office in the HACCP file.

\\}Q
Associated Documents > ’\
EP16 ABPP09-F01 Screen Sampllr%qﬁ?m*% xls
O Q>
Procedure QOO®
O
<

1 Screening of Compo
g gogf

When the composting material is filled into Zone 3 of the process it is allowed to
continue composting for another 2 to 3 weeks. After this period it is ready for
screening. The objective of screening is to separate the finished compost from the
oversize material. Using the Doppstadt 620 Screener compost is taken out of the
composting bay and placed in the hopper of the screener. The material moves into the
screen which is revolving at speed. As the material moves through the screen the
finished compost falls through the screen and is conveyed to the side of the screener.
The oversize material carries on through the screen and comes out at the end of the
machine.

2 Materials

In order achieve representative sample screening from the composting bay the
following materials are needed;

1. One clean hand scoop.

2. One Hand held 12mm Sieve.

3. 1 full face respirator and hi-vis vest.
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3 Sampling of compost

A) Before entering the building the sampler must put on the necessary PPE
equipment. The necessary PPE requirement for sampling is a full face respirator and a
hi-vis vest.

B) On entering the building the sampler must use the foot dip at the entry point and
go directly to the freshly made pile of finished compost in the screening area. The
sampler then uses the scoop and places two random samples from the pile of finished
compost on to the sieve.

C) The sampler then shakes the sieve with gentle movements to the left and to the
right until all the material has stopped coming through the, sieve. This is repeated
three times for every composting bay. For validation oéé%e screening process all the

material must go through the 12mm sieve. &
D) If there is material that has not gone throu@t@l2mm sieve, screening must be
stopped at once and the facility manager Is¢ informed. The facility manager will
then investigate the Screening machine {¢fisfd out why the finish compost is not
meeting the 12mm particle size and @? &dse out any corrective actions needed for
solving the problem. X Qé
E) The sampler then must go st to the nearest exit point and place his footwear
into the foot dip prior to lea iy He building. The sampler then fills in form ABPP09-
FO1 and files it in the HAC%gﬁﬁle.
<
RECORD KEEPING &

c®
All completed ABPP09-F01 should be signed off by the Facility Manager or his Deputy
in his absence. ABPP09-F01 Forms are filed in the HACCP File.
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Purpose and Scope

As part of the HACCP Plan it is a prerequisite to have a hygiene program. This allows
employees to work in a safe environment and prevents possible cross contamination
in the process.

This procedure was installed to provide a method for housecleaning that would be
used to keep hygiene at the required level at the facility. The purpose of this
Procedure is to ensure that housecleaning is preformed in a consistent and verifiable
way.

Responsibility &
It is the responsibility of the Facility Manager or his Depgt? in his absence to check
that this procedure has been followed and recorded. It iSthe Responsibility of the
person carrying out the housecleaning task to re@ﬁ’&eir task on the check sheet. The
check sheets are kept in the Facility Office a%dfﬁ&g}‘}?f the HACCP Plan.
RN

Associated Documents & &

. &
EP17 ABPP04-F01 Housecleaning chécks:xls
EP17 ABPP04-F02 Canteen cleaning Shecks (3).xls
EP17 ABPP04-F03 FootBath chegkdxls
EP17 ABPP04-F04 Machines ledving building checks.xls

&
9
Procedure o

1. Canteen
The canteen is where employees come to have their meals. It is very important that this area is
kept clean and tidy. In this area there is also a changing room and toilet. In order to keep a
level of hygiene the following is required;

a) At the end of every day all food and wrappings off food left on the table will be
placed into the Bin. All used cups and used plates should be washed and placed on the
draining board.

b) At the end of every day the bin should be emptied.

¢) Every second day the floor should be brushed and cleaned.

d) Once a week the floor should be washed.

e) Both the Changing room and the toilet/shower area should be kept clean and tidy at
all times.

The person carrying out the housecleaning in the canteen should record their task on

ABPPO04-F02. At the end of every week this form should be returned to the office and filed in
the HACCP Plan File.
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2. Wash Bay Area

The wash bay is an important area as all Lorries entering the site will enter the wash
bay. For cross-contamination reasons the wash bay should be kept washed and clean
at all times. The wash bay should be washed as follows;

e The bay should be cleaned of debris using the yard scraper.

e The pressure washer should be switched on and using the lance starts at the door
opening of the building and wash towards the drain sump.

e The walls and the floor of the bay should be washed. When washing is complete
switch off power washer and record task on ABPP04-F01.

If possible the wash bay should be washed after each lea dellvered but at least once a
day. The person carrying out this task should record q}on ABPP04-F01 daily.

NG
3. Loading Shovels égjoo &
«Q
It is important to keep loading shov. an inside and outside. As the operator is in

the loading shovel most of their @&@ day it is very important to keep the inside
dust free. Each operator should 68@% following;
$°
<<O N
e Every day sweep ou{éth loose material from the floor of the loading shovel.
e Dailyusea clotllé& clean dash and any areas that dust might accumulate.

Loading Shovels and%uckets should be cleaned of loose debris daily and washed fully
in the wash bay using the power washer weekly. Tasks should be recorded on
ABPP04-F01.

4. Over composting bays

It is important that when filling a bay all the material is placed in the composting bay
and that no material is left overhanging on the walls or walkway of the bay. The
operator filling the bay should do the following;

1. After filling the bay correctly the operator should proceed to the walkway over the
bay via the ladder system. Using the Shovel on the walkway clean off any material
that has landed on the walkway

2. If the bay beside the filled bay is full walk along the adjoining wall and clean off
any material into the newly filled bay.

This also helps to prevent cross contamination and the build up of flies.
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5. Screener and Shredder

In order to operate the screener and shredder continuously an effective maintenance
program is needed. Part of this program is cleaning down procedures. Operators of
these machines will make sure the machines are emptied out of material and cleaned
down after each day they are used.

Cleaning down of the machines should be recorded on ABPP04-F04.

6. Footbaths at entry/exit points

All entry/exit points to the building contain footbaths containing an approved
disinfectant. This barrier is to prevent any cross-contamination between different areas
of the building and the outside environment. .
Before entering the building at any entry point all per%)i?g must stand on the footbath
sponge allowing their footwear to make contact withdhe Disinfectant.
Before leaving the building at any exit poml{\*ér,gﬁovmg from different zones in the
building all persons must stand on the fi th sponge allowing their footwear to
come in contact with the Disinfectant. QO &
All footbaths must be checked dally gjﬁ st be replenished as and when required to
ensure efficacy.
Records of checks are recorded gﬁoﬁcﬁPPM -F03.
Q

7. Machines leaving ﬁ@roductlon area building

\0
From time to time certgﬁ\ machines must leave the processing building but as these
areas are classed as Qﬁrty areas all machines leaving the processing building must
follow this procedure;

e Before a machine can leave the building it must be cleaned down with the
pressure hose at the exit point to ensure that no composting material is left on
the machine.

e The clean machine is then sprayed with a disinfectant.

e  When the machine is ready to leave the building the operator must notify the
production supervisor who will inspect the machine and give permission for
the machine to leave the building.

e The supervisor then fills out the necessary inspection sheet ABPP04-F04.

RECORD KEEPING

All completed checks should be signed off by the Facility Manager or his Deputy in
his absence. Completed inspection sheets must be returned to the Facility Office and
Filed as part of the HACCP Plan.
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Purpose and Scope

Before compost can leave the facility it must meet the requirements of the Animal By-
Products Regulations. To achieve this compost must reach 70 degrees Celsius for 60 minutes
with a maximum particle size of 12mm. This is preformed in the pasteurization tunnel.

The purpose of this Procedure is to ensure that pasteurized compost is emptied from the
pasteurization tunnel and into clean trailers without risk of cross-contamination in a consistent
and verifiable way.

Responsibility

It is the responsibility of the Facility Manager or his Deputy in his absence to check that this
procedure has been followed and recorded when compost>is been emptied from the
pasteurization tunnel. The check sheet is kept in the Facility Office as part of the HACCP Plan

S
Associated Documents 0
EP18 ABPP05-F01 Emptying Tunnel cleafiing checks.xls
%S
Procedure & s‘\é
RO
NG
1. Compost Status QOOQA"\
\(;
[$)

Before compost can be remove%&om the tunnel the operator must be given instruction from
the Facility Manager or his ]2}@ ty that the compost has achieved the required parameters of
the ABPR and may be taken from the tunnel. To verify the compost status the Facility
Manager or his Deputy must have inspected the Temperature/Time graphs and if required
have confirmation that the samples sent to the Approved Laboratory are indicator pathogen
free.

2. Zone 4 Cleaning

Once the instruction is given to the operator to empty the tunnel they will start to clean down
Zone 4. Zone 4 is marked on the attached map and is the area directly outside the
pasteurization tunnels.
e The operator will remove all compost material from Zone 4 using brushes,
shovels and loader.
e The operator will wash the floor area of Zone 4 using the high pressure hose.
e When the floor area is fully washed the operator will use an approved
Disinfectant at the correct concentration in a hand sprayer and disinfect the
floor area in Zone 4.
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3. Machine Cleaning

e The operator will bring the loading shovel with its bucket that is going to empty the
tunnel up to the wash bay. Before entering the wash bay the operator will make sure
the bay is washed and clear of any material.

e The operator will then bring the loading shovel and bucket into the wash bay and
using the hot steam-washer wash the machine fully. Particular attention must be
given to the bucket and wheels of the loading shovel.

e When washed the loading shovel can go to Zone 4. When it reaches Zone 4 its
wheels are washed with the pressure hose and using the hand sprayer that contains
an approved disinfectant both the wheels and the buckefare disinfected. The loading

shovel can now be used to empty the tunnel. S
_ S
4. Emptying the Tunnel Os\o’\
S
When the lorry and trailer arrives to collect thg\“ post it is directed into the shed and parks
in Zone 4 along the back wall of the buil ¢he door to the pasteurization tunnel is opened
and the clean loader starts emptying th@ post from the tunnel into the trailer. When the
required amount of compost is plaggd the trailer the driver covers over the trailer and
leaves the building through the ou‘%L hall door. The door to the Pasteurization tunnel is

closed.
The lorry and trailer then go Qﬁectly to the weighbridge and is weighed out. The load can then
leave the facility.

RECORD KEEPING

All completed checks should be signed off by the Facility Manager or his Deputy in his

absence. Completed inspection sheets must be returned to the Facility Office and Filed as
part of the HACCP Plan.
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Purpose and Scope

As part of the Animal By-Product Regulation (Regulation (EU) 1774/2002) composting
facilities processing food waste including catering waste must sample the end product
Compost on a regulator basis as requested by the Department of Agriculture.

The purpose of this Procedure is to ensure that representative samples of compost are taken
during or on withdrawal from the composting facility to monitor that the process complies
with the following standards:

Escherichia coli: n =5, c=1, m = 1000, M = 5000 in 1g

Salmonella: Absentin25g:n=5;c=0;m=0;M=0 )
&

\Qé*

o

S

n = number of samples to be tested; SO

Where:

A . . . .
m = threshold value for the number of bacteﬁ%ﬁhe result is considered satisfactory if the
number of bacteria in all samples does not Q@cgé m;

M = maximum value for the numbero*oﬁlﬁ\cterla; the result is considered unsatisfactory if the

- N
number of bacteria in one or more sgl@es is M or more; and

S
S\
Q
¢ = number of samples the bacteﬁ?ﬂ count of which may be between m and M, the sample still
being considered acceptable @Q‘l\le bacterial count of the other samples is m or less.

Responsibility

It is the responsibility of the Facility Manager or his Deputy in his absence to check that this
procedure has been followed and recorded. It is the Responsibility of the person carrying out
the sample taking to record their task on the check sheet ABPP06-F01. The check sheet is kept
in the Facility Office in the “outgoing compost produced record” file.

Associated Documents
EP19 ABPP06-F01 Sampling form.xls

Procedure

1 Pathogen Kill

Before sampling can start the facility manager or his deputy must be satisfied that the
composted material has achieved the correct temperature for the correct length of time. In
order to do this the facility manager or his deputy will carry out check that procedure ABPP07
has been carried out. They must check the real time graph on the fancom computer system
that records on a continuous basis the temperatures of the material in the pasteurization
tunnel. The parameters that the facility will operate under are that all the material in the

pasteurization tunnel must reach 70°C for 60 consecutive minutes.
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After checking the real time graph for the pasteurization tunnel the facility manager or his
deputy will give the go ahead for sampling procedure to take place or if the material has not
satisfied the parameters he can wait until the material has achieved the required parameters
before instructing sampling to take place.

In the event that the material has not reached the required parameters and is judged that it will
never reach the required parameters the complete tunnel will be emptied and reworked at the
start of the process.

2 Materials

In order achieve representative samples from the batch free from contamination the following
materials are needed;

1. 5 sterile containers with a capacity to hole 25g or more

2. 5 pairs of sterile disposable latex gloves é\}&

3. 2 pairs of disposable foot covers &
4. 1 full face respirator and hi-vis vest. .
P 0(@& ;\A
O
mpli f compost $ 0\3\&
3 Sampling of compos X
piing p Q J\&‘

. o ‘\\Oooé .

e Before entering the building thggé@ﬁ)ler must put on the necessary PPE equipment.
The PPE requirement for theobﬁ\\@ng when sampling, is to wear a full face respirator
and a hi-vis vest. 3 O*

e On entering the building t]@c’sampler must use the foot dip at the entry point and go
directly to the door of t@)asteurization tunnel. The door of the Pasteurization tunnel
is opened and the sar@ﬁ\er puts on their foot covers and disposable latex gloves.

e The sampler then enters the tunnel gets up on top of the batch material. Moving in a
zigzag pattern from the side of the pile, across the pile to the other side of the pile and
moving from the front of the pile to the back of the pile the sampler picks 25 sample
points.

e At each sample point the sampler digs down 30 cm and using the sterile container
scoops at least 5g per sample point. When the container has collected 5 sample points
the lid is closed and the sampler writes the unique sample code on the container. The
sampler then changes his latex gloves and this process is repeated until all 5 sterile
containers are filled.

e The sampler then takes all 5 containers out of the tunnel and closes the door of the
pasteurization tunnel. The sampler leaves going straight to the nearest exit point of the
building and places his footwear into the foot dip prior to leaving the building.

e The sampler then fills in form ABPP06-F01 and notifies the approved Laboratory that
the samples are ready for collection. The samples are kept in a refrigerated area until
collected. On collection the person collecting the samples signs off form ABPP06-
FO1.
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The material is kept in the pasteurization tunnel until the facility manager or his deputy is
notified by the approved Laboratory of the results from the analysis carried out. If the material
meets the required standard then the facility manager or his deputy will give the order to
empty the tunnel using the Procedure EP18 ABPP05 Emptying Compost from Pasteurization
Tunnel.

If the results show that the material is positive for the indicator pathogens then the facility
manager or his deputy must notify the Department of Agriculture of the positive result and
can do the following;

1. Re-test the sample already taken to verify results. If results are the same
then proceed to point 3.

2. Re-sample the material using procedure EP19 ABPP06 and sent to an
approved Laboratory for testing. If results are positive then go to point 3.

3. Using the procedure EP18 ABPPOS empty@?(he tunnel and sent to an
approved landfill or send to the start of t&é‘process for reworking. Steam
can be used to cookout the pasteurizg{iggg&mnel.

N

SN
RECORD KEEPING Q\\}&\?
‘\0(\ éj\
All completed ABPP06-F01 should be sﬁ?@‘%ff by the Facility Manager or his Deputy in his
absence. ABPP06-FO1 Forms are ﬁ]@ﬁ’.\@\ the outgoing compost produced record file. All
Laboratory Analysis Certificates aré@;@\h in the outgoing compost produced record file.
&
&

&
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Purpose and Scope

Before compost can leave the facility it must meet the requirements of the Animal By-
Products Regulations. To achieve this compost must reach 70 degrees Celsius for 60 minutes
with a maximum particle size of 12mm. This is preformed in the pasteurization tunnel.

The purpose of this Procedure is to ensure that the composting material is filled in to the
pasteurization tunnel in a way that allows all the material in the tunnel to reach the required
parameters to meet the ABP Regulations.

Responsibility

It is the responsibility of the Facility Manager or his Deputy in his absence to check that this
procedure has been followed and recorded when compost is been filled into the pasteurization
tunnel. The check sheet is kept in the Facility Office as part of é\h‘fHACCP Plan

&
Associated Documents O@'Q@
EP20 ABPP08-FO01 tunnel Filling form.xls ég,o&@
EP20 F02 .JPG O
o“%"é)
Procedure: @§§Q
1. Tunnel Status & 05\\
Qé QO

Screened compost is stored in TunanﬁQuntil this tunnel is full with material. When tunnel 1 is
full of screened compost all the terial from the tunnel it is transferred into tunnel 2. Before
transferring takes place tunn must be cleaned out and all pipes checked so that air is free
to blow down all pipes. A layer of wood chip is placed over the pipes to prevent the compost
blocking the pipes. The fan is turned on to 100% and the tunnel is ready for filling.

2. Transferring Tunnel 1 into tunnel 2

When Tunnel 2 is ready to receive material transferring of screened compost takes place. The
screened material in tunnel 1 is taken out of tunnel 1 by splitting the tunnel in three parts. This
gives an extra mix of the material as it is filled into the tunnel and also helps to even up the
temperatures of the material. The material is filled in by the loading shovel using the correct
method of filling by a trained operator. The material is filled at the same height throughout
the entire tunnel. When the filling material comes to within 1.5 meters of the door ramp the
filling stops and tunnel close down takes place.

3. Tunnel Close Down

The objective of tunnel close down is to close off the end of the tunnel so that the filling
height of the material remains constant from the front of the tunnel to the back of the tunnel.
When the filling material reaches 1.5 meters from the door ramp the filling is stopped and the
floor is cleaned and scraped. Then using the correct lifting gear 7 free standing walls are
placed across the front of the pile. Once they are in position “clean material” is filled in
behind the walls and the tunnel is then filled to the correct height.
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Once the tunnel is full then the compost temperature probes are placed in the pile in the
EP20 F02 .JPG. The fan is set to auto and the door is

positions as per attached drawing
closed.

RECORD KEEPING

All completed checks should be signed off by the Facility Manager or his Deputy in his
absence. Completed inspection sheets must be returned to the Facility Office and Filed as part

of the HACCP Plan.

Controlled document on day of print.
Printed on Tuesday, 18 August 2009

Page 2 of 2
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Environmental

Procedures Manual Reference EP21
Title: Date issued “CrP07
EP21 ABPP07 Pasteurisation s 28/05/07
Procedure Kilmainhamwood Revision 00
recycling
Killeen Kilmainhamwood | Dunboyne | PDM | ELV | HQ | Tankering
Relevant
Road
to:- \/

Purpose and Scope

As part of the Animal By-Product Regulation (Regulation (EU) 1774/2002) composting
facilities processing food waste including catering waste must ensure that the composting
material must reach certain parameters in order to destroy any potential pathogens. The
parameters that the composting material must meet to comply with the ABPR are 70° C for 60
consecutive minutes. Pasteurization is validated by sampling and testing of composted
material.

The purpose of this Procedure is to ensure that proper pasteurization takes place.

Responsibility

It is the responsibility of the Facility Manager or his Deputy in his absents to check that this
procedure has been followed and recorded. It is the Responsibility of the person checking the
procedure to record their findings on the check sheet ABPP%&Q}FOI. The check sheets are kept
in the Facility Office in the compost quality file. (@' ,é\*

£35S
Associated Documents \\}QO \&6
EP21 ABPP07-F01 Pasteurization form.xls.Q” &>
° @
&

S
1 Filling of tunnel & $Q

RN

O

In order for proper aeration to b Qttained in the composting material the material must be
filled in the correct manner. Qtﬁ%/ operators instructed and shown how to properly fill the
pasteurization tunnel are alléwed to fill the pasteurization tunnels. Proper filling is important
for even temperature distribution throughout the composting material. Before filling starts the
operator must make sure the tunnel is fully cleaned out that all air pipes are free of debris. The
operator switches on the fan to 100% speed and begins to fill the tunnel. The operator fills the
tunnel as directed and shown by the facility manager or other qualified person and ensures
that a level fill is achieved from the start to the end of the tunnel. Once the tunnel is filled the
operator closes the door and puts the fan to warm up to pasteurization.

2 Placing the probes in the compost

Once the tunnel is filled and the door closed the operator goes to the walkway to bring him on
to the roof of the pasteurization tunnels. The operator then locates the temperature probes and
places the 4 temperature probes in to the composting material.

3 Fancom Computer System

The Fancom computer system is the most widely used composting computer system in the

world and was designed by Dutch Company for composting systems around the world. When
the tunnel is filled the operator puts the computer to “ LEVELING”.

Controlled document on day of print.
Printed on Tuesday, 18 August 2009 Page 1 of 2
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Environmental

Procedures Manual Reference EP21
Title: Date issued “CrP07
EP21 ABPP07 Pasteurisation s 28/05/07
Procedure Kilmainhamwood Revision 00
recycling
Killeen Kilmainhamwood | Dunboyne | PDM | ELV | HQ | Tankering
Relevant
Road
to:- \/

The computer systems will then automatically level the compost probes and bring them to the
pasteurization point. The system allows the facility manager and his deputy to monitor the
temperature of the compost over time taking samples every minute. The facility manager or
his deputy can view these measurements in graph format. This allows the manger to confirm
if the compost has been properly pasteurized by reaching the pasteurization parameters over
the required time. The manager or his deputy will then record on form ABPP07-FO1 when
pasteurization took place.

In the event that the material does not reach the required parameters the tunnel is emptied and
reworked at the start of the process.

RECORD KEEPING

All completed ABPP0O7-FO1 should be signed off by the F acilitxg@[anager or his Deputy in his
absence. ABPP07-FO1 Forms are filed in the Compost Qua@@ file. All Laboratory Analysis
Certificates are filed in the outgoing compost producec\L\re,gg?d file.

N

£35S
e
S
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R
;\0
$)
S
s
Controlled document on day of print.
Printed on Tuesday, 18 August 2009 Page 2 of 2
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Inspection of Incoming Waste

EP10- FO1 Inspection of Incoming Waste Kilmainhamwood

Accepta
Weighbridge Inspected ble
Date Time | Number WBKM Carrier REG by Weight Waste Reasons Account
é.\\)
&
A. 3
O &
G
S
AoVé’x
S &
J&\\O
SO
P
T
\5}0
S
o"(\oy

Page 1
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EP14-FO01 Residual Waste Management Kilmainhamwood Compost

Record of Residual Waste Management

{EP14-F01]

WeighBridge Inspected | Type of Residual
Date Time Number Carrier REG by Waste Destination Reasons
V&.
&

S

\ \

3]

N

\ \‘5;\
L
NG
SL
R
S &
&
K
A
OO
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EP16 ABPP09-FO1 Screen Sampling Record at Kilmainhamwood Compost

Check By Sub Batch
Date Number Sample 1 Sample2 Sample 3 Comments
&.
éo
&
s
S A
PN
V. O
LS
N
&
s‘\é
A —-
(éQ%*Q
O
O
&
&
&
@)

Rev 0.0 (28.05.07) TMD

Kilmainhanwéoc@oripoé#013:19:06:46



EP 17 ABPP04-FO1 Housekeeping cleaning Checks at Kilmainhamwood Compost

Date

Check By

Wash Bay Area
Clean

Loading shovel
clean inside and
outside

walkway
overcomposting
Bay Clean

Walls Between Bays
Clean

Screener and
Shredder Clean
down

Comments and Observations

2
i,

Rev 0.0 (18.04.07) TMD

Kilmainhanwéoc@oripoé#013:19:06:46



EP17 ABPP04-F02 Cleaning Checks for staff Canteen at Kilmainhamwood Compost

End of Day Canteen Floor
Check By [Canteen table |Bin Emptied brushed and clean |Changing room Toilet and shower
Date cleaned off Daily twice weekly clean room clean Comments and Observations
&.
\\é\}
&
s
O A
PAN
V. O
LS
DX
IXS) é
X
AN
S
S &
) )
S

2
i,

Rev 0.0 (18.04.07) TMD
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EP17 ABPP04-F03 Checks for Footbaths at entry/exit points at Kilmainhamwood Compost

Check By Reception Outgoing
Date point Door 1 Door 2 |Hall point Door 3 |[Door4 |Door5 [Comments and observations
&0
\\é\}
o
S
S A
PN
\4
N
X
N
AN
56
SR
N
S
&

Rev 0.0 (18.04.07) TMD
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EP21 ABPPQ7-FO1 Pasteurization Record at Kilmainhamwood Compost

Date

Check By

Tunnel

Batch Number

Graph Number

Pasteurization Temp

DATE of Pasteurization

Time of Pasteurization

Rev 0.0 (28.05.07) TMD

Kilmainhanwéoc@oripoé#013:19:06:46



ABPPO04-F04 Checks for Machines leaving the Building at Kilmainhamwood Compost

Date

Check By

Machine type

Washed down

Disinfected

Exit point to the building

Comments and observations

Rev 0.0 (18.04.07) TMD

Kilmainhanwéoc@oripoé#013:19:06:46



EP18 ABPPO05-F01 Cleaning procedures for Emptying the Pasteurization Tunnel at Kilmainhamwood Compost

Date

Check By

ZONE 4
Cleaned

Zone 4
Disinfected

Loader + Bucket
washed

Loader+ Bucket
Disinfected

Disinfectant used

Comments and Observations

Rev 0.0 (18.04.07) TMD

Kilmainhanwéoc@oripoé#013:19:06:46



EP19 ABPP06-FO01 Sampling Record at Kilmainhamwood Compost

Job Number: Process identity :

Sampling Team: Sample Location

Date : Sample Type
Sheet Number:
Sample Time and location Sample ID Material Type Analysis Type Notes
&
0\(\®
NS
o(\oxé\
\909&‘\
o
&Q&\}\\
S
é)}' \9
&
Y
N
<<Oo®
@Qé\
N
O

Sample Team signature: Transport signature

Laboratory test house signature: Lab Manager signature

Rev 0.0 (28.05.07) TMD Kilmainhantwéodi@orrpes013:19:06:46



EP20 ABPPO08-FO1 Tunnel Filling Record at Kilmainhamwood Compost

Date

Check By

Tunnel

Batch Number

Tunnel Cleaned

Level Fill

Free Standing walls in

Probes in 1-8

Comments

Rev 0.0 (28.05.07) TMD

Kilmainhanwéoc@oripoé#013:19:06:46



PMO03- FO1 Management Programme 2008

DELAYED CARRY FORWARD TO 2009

Target

NuFr{:lfJer m Type S e Location [Responsibility Method Time Frame Status

Kilmain TMCD identified resources to be
monitored

Establish monitoring and |All sites Environment 1 Determine what resources are to be monitored Dec-08|KR, MF energy report completed for GB,
targeting for energy Manager for each |2 Develop means and documented procedure for capturing MA looking at cost savings in Quarter 4.
site information in conjuction with the finance department Dunboyne WYG completed audit in July
3 Train all relevant employees on the new procedure and format 2006, DD working on electricity monitoring
Env 3 Jan-08(Env 4 All data to be collated by the end of December every yeé‘ and comparsion with 2007, lights on
5 All licensed sites to sign up for ESB data on line (\é timers etc

Covering of new diesel [Killeen Road Environment . ith ajppropriate material new diesel bund which holds Dec-08|WIP Quotes being obtained
Env 6 J Env .
bund Manager ofnew C & | line
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QUALITY

Jun'07{Quality To Develop an Head Office |Gary McAuley Dec'08 Gary checking with outsourced
QPO1 Equality policy HR Manager HR what are our requirements
Kim HR
Jun'07{Quiality To Develop a Policy|Head Office |Gary McAuley Dec'08 Gary checking with outsourced
QP02 on Part Time HR Manager HR what are our requirements
Working Kim HR
Jun'07{Quality To Develop Head Office |Gary McAuley Dec'08 Gary checking with outsourced
QP03 Retirement Policy HR Manager HR what are our requirements
Kim HR
Jun'07{Quiality To Develop Policy |Head Office |Gary McAuley Dec'08 Gary checking with outsourced
QP04 on Redundancy HR Manager HR what are our requirements
Procedures Kim HR
Jun'07{Quality To Develop Policy |Head Office |Gary McAuley Dec'08 Gary checking with outsourced
on Dealing with HR Manager HR what are our requirements
QP05 Stress in the Kim HR
Workplace o
Jun'07{Quality To Amend Head Office |Gary McAuley S [Dec08 Gary checking with outsourced
QP06 Disciplinary & HR Manager \(\é HR what are our requirements
Grievance Polic Kim HR S

QP10 Mar-08l Quality Roll out CRM to all reps |Parkwest John Staunton Currepily with Sales Rep Ross & progressing Dec'08|0On Hold
Sales Manager &
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Quality Scan Purchase Parkwest Nicole Fitzgerald 1 Review Pegasus Opera purchasing system with supplier Dec'08|Not started

Invoices/Credit Notes on Finance Manager |2 If system compatible cost up software requirements
QP16 Mar-08| system and authorise 3 Report to management and proceed if approved
electronically 4 Implement system, test run check & amend

Develop Roadbase & Parkwest Finance Dept N 1.Review Roadbase and map out area for '08 |Not started
investigate integration Fitzgerald & Qrep E integration(e.g P.O. System)

[ G glanaos 2. Check feasibility of integrating with software
suppliers

3. Review and report findings to Management

Quality Improving Liquid Waste iqui 1 Obtain 5 quotes é Dec'08|WIP - Quotes obtained from 3 printing
Communication - New  |Services - TTS 2. Look at best design and content preparation \,‘{\ specialists
Mar-08| Brochures & Mail shot 3. Circulate Brochures 0
regarding grease trap 4 Mail shot to be cirulated to all FSE's fo@%er&
regulations establishments on Thorntons Customg

Quality Roll out of Brown(Food) |Domestics Rachel White 1 Designate Trial Are literature, source bins & deliver Jan'09|WIP - Roll out to customers Mid
Bin in Meath & Kildare  |Parkwest Domestic Manager (2 End of Trial Pen " y customers and analyse results November / Early December'08

3 Commence B\e t@all customers
4 Review s @ ecommendations

HEALTH AND SAFETY
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Ref
Number

Date

PMO03- FO1 Management Programme 2009

DELAYED CARRY FORWARD TO 2010

Type

Objective and Target

Location

Responsibility

Method

Time Frame

Status

ENVIRONMENTAL

5. Insts{@q

3

Kilmainham 1. Meeting with EPA
EP 01 Jan'09 |[Environmental [Site Expansion to 40,000 tonnes TMCD/IMF 2 Mettn.'ng with MCC re planning Jul-09 Started - Work in Progre§s. Tracking
3. Appoint consultants sheet on project on Q Drive
4. Lodge with EPA and MCC
Kilmainham Not Started - Plans previously drawn
Landscape Plan to be completed I up from inital planning, awaiting new
EP 02 Jan-09  [Environmental [at Kilmainhamwood Compost re TMCD L. Kilmainhamwood landscape plan ",) be Dec-09 plannign conditions from Meath CC
" I completed as part of the new expansion
conditions of the licence before commence the landscape
0 plan
Kilmainham >
1. Quotes for consultants @assess
0
Upgrade of odour system - Zar:e oint Con Ao
EP 03 Jan'09 |[Environmental [Investigate possibility of scrubber TMCD - AP d.f r;é\ . Dec-09 Started - Work in Progress
etc 3. Tender outcﬁas llation of technology
4. Assess available

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:46




EP 11

Feb'09

Environmental

chacterisation

RDF - Business plan and potential
outlets

Company

from cckv@l . 3. Carry out survey's. 4.
Fina@\} rgports and distribute.
DA

1. Sample current proposed RDF material
and get it analysed. 2. Shred proposed
RDF and get it analysed. 4. Source
potential outlets for RDF and provide with
samples of RDF material and Analytical
results. 5.Project tonnages of material per
annum and secure outlets

Dec-09

Killeen road 1 Walk the site and record light fixtures
and their daily usage. 2 Prepare electrical
maps to show which lights are connected
tg which switches. 3. Rewe.w the past !ESB Ongoing- Site Audit carried out,
bills and comapre usage with the on Site
Energy Report for Killeen Road- energy monitoring system. 4. Create a Usage report and proposals to be
EP 07 Apr-09  |Environmental gy p DD 9y . I 'ng sy T Apr-09 completed before end of April 09,
regarding the ESB usage report detailing current energy usage and . L
. review by July 2009, and again in
propose changes to save energy. Review
. L march 2010.
system in 3 months and again in after one
year
Killeen road
1, Review currnet plant equipment and
capacity. 2, Outline areas for new
Review recycling building euipment to be loacted, 3, Identify other Production report first step to assess
EP 08 Apr-09  |Environmental [operation and see whether to DD/JS equipment that would segregate Jun-09 feasibilty of current equipment for
invest in new equipment recyclates, 4, Determine costs benefits of processing stock.
new equpipment vs stay with tkie’same
system &
0
O
Company S Y ,é“
1. Contactgg&\t?conﬁrm details for
EP 09 Feb'09  |Environmental Repak Revenue - waste MF characterj & rvey. 2. Obtain 3 quotes Jun-09 Started - Work in Progress

A number of potential outlets have
being sourced and are in
negiotations, Potential material has
being shredded to various sizes and
set for anayltical breakdown. More
work required

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:46



Killeen Road |DD 1. Cover with appropriate material diesel [Dec-08 WIP Quotes being obtained, DD to
Envi | bund on CID line, which holds the review aspects and determine
nvironmenta generator alternative methods of achieving

same goal

Covering of new diesel bund

WEEE In CA Site - Storage study |Dunboyne 1. Investigate olutions for WEEE |Dec-09 Not Started
i.e. Canop tajrer etc
EP18 Mar'09  |Environmental 2. COStﬁ
S
A
Inspection/Sampling Chamber to  [Dunboyne TR R 0 investigate best sampling method [Aug-09 Work in progress
be created on Surface Water &é dBnsure we obtain a representative
EP19 Mar09 |Environmental |discharge as S3 (\(\.\égample
(<O ﬁ\ "|2. Purchase additonal pipe/supplies
OOQ 3. Test and ensure works

QUALITY

Quality E-mail invoice, statements & Parkwest D Brennan Credit 1. Collate e-mails through customer Jul'09 Opera engineers to commence work
reminder letters to customers Control contact & amend accounts on programming same in the 3rd
monthly 2. Check current mailings to see if week in June 09 - survey in May 09
increased capacity/ software compatible to get remiander of customer email
QP2 Jul'os. 3. Test Run each option & review addresses.
findings.Amend if necessary
5. Live Run.
6. Check results & Monitor feedback
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QP6

Mar-08

Quality

Improving Communication - New
Brochures & Mail shot regarding
grease trap regulations

Liquid Waste
Services -
TTS

Liquid Waste
Manager

1 Obtain 5 quotes NS
2. Look at best design an@ntent
preparation ) %0

3. Circulate Br

I
4 Mail shot g b&gfiulated to all FSE's food
service egﬁ

ents on Thorntons
Custo@&

Jun'09

WIP - Quotes obtained from 3
printing specialists

QP7

Jun'08

Quality

Roll out of Brown(Food) Bin in
Meath & Kildare

Domestics
Parkwest

Rachel White
Domestic Manager

&

&®

N

%0 Qh

ins & deliver
@é d of Trial Period - Survey customers
Bnd analyse results
13 Commence Roll out to all customers
4 Review service and recommendations

g e Trial Areas,prepare literature,

Apr'o9

WIP - Roll out to customers Mid
November / Early December'08

QPS8

Feb'09

Quality

Review Document storage
Parkwest & Consolidate to agreed
areas

Domestics
Parkwest

Eamo@nagan Q
Rep{™

1 Review storage areas and cull old
documents

2 Check with all departments re file
storage needs

3 Review all files currently held in storage
in open areas

4 Move files to relevant storage.i.e. Rear
credit control or Mezzanine area Parkwest.

Jun'09

Not started

QP9

Feb'09

Quality

Produce Commercial Brown Bin
Leaflet

Parkwest

M Feeley Env Rep &
Tom McDonnell
Kilmainhamwood

1 Review any information currently
available

2. Meet with relevant parties re design
3. Circulate proof for approval

4 Get quotes, produce and circulate to
customers

Jun'09

Met with Tom, at design stage.
Quotes received from designers re
layout of material.
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Quality Feasibility study of handhelds in  |Parkwest Nicole Fitzgerald Jun'09 Not started
QP10 Feb'09 REL's trucks cost versus benefit Finance Manager
Quality Review stationery supplies Parkwest Eamon Flanagan Q|1 Review current storage areas May'09 Agreed storage point meeting room
storage and access Rep 2 Designate single point for storage and off reception, move all printed matter
control to here and future deliveries to this
QP11 Feb'09 3 Move all existing stationery to this point point.
4 Designate person to control ordering and
movement
Quality Updated Sales Brochure Parkwest John Staunton Sales [1 Review current brochure and get Jun'09 Gathering feedback from staff on
Manager feedback existing brochure
) 2. Meet with relevant parties re design
QP12 Mar09 3. Circulate proof for approval
4 Get quotes, produce and circulate to
customers
Quality Re-Routing of REL's with Parkwest Conor Sunderland ogd Sep'09 Not started
consideration of new DCC by-laws Dispatch
QP13 |Maro9 et W y-aw 'SP @,\\)
or city X
&
\ \
Quality Plan for Bank Holiday Collection  |Parkwest Conor Sunderland |1 Review and c@ﬁ{n@? regular Monday Jun'09 Plan put in place for Easter
Dispatch routes O Monday, review how effective
2. Make @wth customers re
QP14 Mar'09 altern, »
3. g\ 5 alternative schedules and
é@ nt on WIMS
2 | t and revi
oS 6&% ement and review
Quality Clean-up of WIMS old sites & Parkwest Nicole Fitzger{ld\, OY Document details and forward to Sep'09 Not started
creation of history field Finance M O Software(WIMS)
Declan Bren 2. Get quotation re cost of implementing
QP15 Mar09 Credit Mangger 3. Construct alternative schedules and
@’\\ implement on WIMS
0(\ 4 Implement and review
O
H&S 01 |Dec-08 |H&S Ongoing site training for all All Sites  [H&S Manager 1. Draft list of training dates for all |Dec'09 WIP
Thorntons Recycling Personnel ( sites
Induction Training,Manual
) L 2. Schedule dates for same
Handling,abrasive wheels etc) i
3. Update and review quarterly
H&S 02 |Apr-08 H&S Additional training for first aiders in | All Sites H&S Manager |1 Identify how many require training Jul-09 WIP - To obtain quotes

Thorntons Recycling Sites

2. Liasion with H & S on training
3. Log training with certificates on

personnel files
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H&S 03 |Jan-09 |H&S All Sites  [H&S Manager 1. Identify the clases to be amended Apr-09 WIP
Update all documents inthe H& S 2. Implement same
system to OHSAS 2007 standard
H&S 05 H&S Occupational Noise Monitoring All |All Sites H&S Manager |1 Determine Sites to be carried out Aug'09 Not Started

sites

GENERIC
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Certlﬁcate nf Incnrporatmn
' uf a Company T

[ hereby mmﬂfy that

: P-UJRAIL‘ nmmm WASTE mwusm LIM.ITEI‘-'

Swas FNCDRPOMTED unl:ier the E UMP,-‘-"LNIE.S ACT 1963 to- 194:?

asaL]I'u’ﬂTEDLumpany s BRI i -\(\é
Thursday, Ehe Eind day af I\uveml:rer, 1979 -_ i ﬁ é%
. - Q &
oﬁ Q
, K \&
Given under my hand at Dublin, this Q\)@P\}

Friday, the 13th day c;fmvemhcr, 19 °§é
0

ngﬁfé 7 O‘fq

for Registrar of: Ccrm anies
(\45\

OO

ﬂup!m.—:fe Ceﬂ;,i" ca:;e i A
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MEATH COQUNTY C oungy,
Kells Area Office Planning Depr.
Kells Civie Offices
Headfort Pluge
Kells
Keillx
Co.Meath
046 - 9240064

Planning & Developnrent Act 2000
ROTIFICATION QF GRANT

T'O: Thurntans Recyeling
&0 Burke Jenkins Consulting Engincers
Unit 2],
Caokstown Industrial Bse,.
Tallaght,
Dublin 2.

PLANNING RRGISTER NUMBER: KA/G0349
APPLICATION RECEIPT DATE: 197062006

In pursuance of the powers conferred upen than by the above mentioned Act, Meath (i@m?y Council have by order dated 14042006
granted PERMISSION te the abave named, for the development of land, in accordange with the documents submirred namely:-
prrmanent retention ol extensions and elevational variations to Previousty approved cumpoxting facility Planning Ref. KA/30304 for
which an B8 and EPA Licenee were required and also for permanent relentigni giancillary 1:SB Sub-atation, firewater STOrHge fank and
revived aceess roadway at Ballynalnrgan, Kilmainhamwood, Kells, Co. iéaﬁ!@%nbjccl w the 9 conditions set out in the Schedple
amached,

A
QQ \éP\
Signed on behalf of MEATH GOUNTY COUNCIL, é;\% Ra
G S
ofulfen. S DATE: [BICAOh
® K8

Arca Admitdstra lor/ Town Clerk &

NOTE: (Outline Permission Applications Only)
OUTLINE PERMISSION i subject to the subsequent Applicution for Permissivn consequent on che gt of Outline Pennission of the

Plansiing Autharity, Until such s been obtained to dxtailed plans of the development proposed, the devel oprent is NOT
AL THORISED
NOT):

The permission herein granted $hall, on the expiration of the reriod of § yesrs begimning on the date of the granting of permission, ceuse
o have effect as regards:.

{T) In case the development to which (e permission relates is not commenced during the period, the entige development end

(2) tu casc such developrment is 50 cammenced, 50 much thereol ay is por completed within thal period.
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KA/60349

Schedule of Conditions
==2ECule of Conditions

I The conditions of PI. 17.208236 relating to the development shall he fully
complied with except where conditions hereunder specify otherwise.

Reason: In the interest of proper planning contro).

2. The development shal be in accordance with Plans and particujars Submitted
on 19/06/06 except where conditions hereunder specify othcrwise,

Reason: In the interest of proper planning and development.

3 The proposed structure shall be used only as a compost-making facility and
shall not be used for any other waste processing activity or any other class of
use contained in Part 4 of Schedule 2 to the Planning and Development
Regulations, 2001, unless authoriged by a separate angd specific grant of
planning permission.

Reason: To limit the Proposcd development to the terms of the application,
having particular regard to the location of the site in&\ &Yural area,
&

4, This permission is for the composting of @%@ with a2 maximum intake of
20,800 tonnes per annum. K
A

Reason: In the interest of clarity m@%@d‘éé?ly development,
&

W
&
KO
5. The gateway shall be recesseg (g\gg&ﬁ&lmum of 12m from the existing fence line.
X

O
Reason: In the interest of tr\ﬁﬁc safety,

Tegarding the road surface shall be submitted for written agreement of the
Planning Authority.

7. The entrance point in the westery corner of the site shall pe closed withip |
month of grant of planning permission,

Reason: In the interest of traffic safety.

8. You are requested to submit revised plans whereby the elevations correspond
fully with the development as constructed on site,
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KA/60349

9.

Contribution Scheme made under section 48 of the Planning and Development

condition requiring a contributions in accordance with the Development
Contribution Scheme made under section 48 of the Act be applied to the
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An Bord Pleanala

:7\ 1l I| | e
24y
| NS/
~ P~
+ +

A i

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT ACTS, 2000 TO 2002
Meath County
Planning Register Reference Number: KA/30304

An Bord Pleanala Reference Number: PL 17.208236

APPEAL by McGill Environmental Systems (Ireland) Limited of Ballinvoher,
Castletownroche, County Cork against the decision made on the g™ day of July, 2004
by Meath County Council to refuse permission in accordance with plans and
particulars lodged with the said Council. &
éQé
S

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: The consggtisfion of a compost manufacturing
facility, office, fuel tank store and entrance (s afended by revised details received by
the planning authority on the 17" dayoéf dﬁ‘ay, 2004) at Newcastle/Ballynalurgan
Townland, Kilmainhamwood, County¥eath. The development comprises of or is for
the purpose of an activity in relation™ swhich a Waste Licence and an Environmental
Impact Statement is required.  <*

P q )

\6\0

& DECISION

GRANT permission for the above proposed development in accordance with the
said plans and particulars based on the reasons and considerations under and
subject to the conditions set out below.

REASONS AND CONSIDERATIONS

Having regard to the provisions of the current Meath County Development Plan, the
Waste Management Plan for the North East Region 1999-2004, the Regional Planning
Guidelines for the Greater Dublin Area 2004-2016, the location of the site remote
from residential development and the existing natural screening on the site, it is
considered that, subject to compliance with the conditions set out below, the proposed
development would not seriously injure the amenities of the area, would not be
prejudicial to public health and would be acceptable in terms of traffic safety and
convenience. The proposed development would, therefore, be in accordance with the
proper planning and sustainable development of the area.

PL 17.208236 An Bord Pleanala Page 1 of 4

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:47



The Board noted that the planning authority had decided to refuse permission in part
because it was considered that the proposed development would constitute a material
contravention of the current development plan for the area; however, having regard to
the provisions of section 37(2)(b)(i)(ii) and (iii) of the Planning and Development Act,
2000 and, in particular, the policies contained in the development plan, the Waste
Management Plan for the North East Region 1999-2004 and the Regional Planning
Guidelines for the Greater Dublin Area 2004-2016, the Board considered that
planning permission should be granted for the proposed development.

CONDITIONS

1. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the plans and
particulars lodged with the application, as amended by revised proposals
received by the planning authority on the 17" day of May, 2004, except as
may otherwise be required in order to comply with the following conditions.

Reason: In the interest of clarity.

2. The proposed structure shall be used only as a compost-making facility and
shall not be used for any other waste processing actjvity or any other class of
use contained in Part 4 of Schedule 2 to the Q@%nning and Development
Regulations, 2001, unless authorised by a s@parate and specific grant of
planning permission. O&* &

N
Reason: To limit the proposed dey&]gpment to the terms of the application,
having particular regard to the l%@é of the site in a rural area.
&N
S
3. This permission is for th%gé\g@posting of waste with a maximum intake of
20,800 tonnes per annumf‘()o@
5\
S
Reason: In the interg\‘&"\\of clarity and orderly development.
oS

4. All sludges, compost and intermediary products shall be stored indoors. No
composting materials shall be stored outdoors.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the area.

5. All waste for composting, brought to the site, shall be delivered in enclosed
containers.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the area.

6. All over ground tanks containing liquid fuels shall be contained in a
waterproof bunded area of sufficient volume to hold 110 per cent of the value
of the largest tank within the bund. All valves on the tanks shall be contained

within the bunded area.

Reason: In the interest of public health.
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7. The developer shall install and maintain equipment for monitoring and
recording internal air pressures in the composting building. Records of such
monitoring shall be stored on site and shall be made available to the planning
authority on request.

Reason: To protect the amenities of the area.

8. Prior to commencement of development, the developer shall submit, and
obtain the written agreement of the planning authority to, a plan containing
details for the management of construction waste (and, in particular,
recyclable materials) within the development, including the provision of
facilities for the storage, separation and collection of the waste and, in
particular, recyclable materials.

Reason: To provide for the appropriate management of waste and, in
particular, recyclable materials, in the interest of protecting the environment.

9. Prior to commencement of development, the developer shall submit written
evidence relating to a source of potable water supply for this development.

Reason: In the interest of public health.

10.  All clean and uncontaminated surface water shalégb?% discharged to soakways
or watercourses within the site. &

SF
Reason: In the interest of public healgg?’ @6‘\0

SE

11. Prior to commencement of dex\dt%)‘ment, the developer shall submit to the
planning authority for writte&éaga@ement the following details in relation to
foul waste:- RGN

Lt

S

(a) details of sanitar\y%\%ccommodation for staff within the office building,

and o?‘\

\
oS
(b) details of the effluent treatment system for waste from the office
building.

Reason: In the interest of public health.

12. A concrete apron shall be constructed between the entrance gates to the site
and the edge of the tarred carriageway on the R162. No surface water from the
site or from the concrete apron area shall discharge onto the R162. Roadside
drainage shall not be impaired by the proposed new entrance.

Reason: In the interest of traffic safety.

13.  No advertisement or advertising structure (apart from exempted development

signage) shall be erected or displayed on the building or within the curtilage of

the site, without a prior specific grant of planning permission.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

PL 17.208236 An Bord Pleanala Page 3 of 4

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:47



14. All service cables associated with the proposed development shall be run
underground within the site.

Reason: In the interest of orderly development and the visual amenities of the
area.

15. Prior to commencement of development, a landscaping scheme shall be
submitted to the planning authority for written agreement. This scheme shall
include a timescale for implementation.

Reason: In the interest of visual amenity.

16. The developer shall pay to the planning authority a financial contribution in
respect of public infrastructure and facilities benefiting development in the
area of the planning authority that is provided or intended to be provided by or
on behalf of the authority in accordance with the terms of the Development
Contribution Scheme made under section 48 of the Planning and Development
Act 2000. Details of the application of the terms of the Scheme shall be agreed
between the planning authority and the developer or, in default of such
agreement, the matter shall be referred to the Board to determine the proper
application of the terms of the Scheme.

Reason: It is a requirement of the Planning and Ig@r%elopment Act 2000 that a
condition requiring a contribution in accordance with the Development
Contribution Scheme made under sectig‘ﬁ\;\&\ of the Act be applied to the
permission. ocg? @6‘\0

S

Member of An Bord Pleanala
duly authorised to authenticate

the seal of the Board.
Dated this day of 2004.
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This licence was amended on 25" October 2006 under Section 42B(1) for the Waste Management Acts, 1996 to 2005. The details

of Amendment A must be read in conjunction with this licence. The amendment document is entitled W0195-01

S42B(1)AmendmentA

C

Environ mental Protection Agency
An Ghniomhaireacht um Chaomhni Comhshaoil

Headquarters, &> &
P.O. Box\SQ@?J
Johnstown (@@ﬂe Estate
Coun MWexford

"\Freland
\0 '\
O
S
s\°°Q
00@\

WASTE LICENCE

Waste Licence 195-1
Register No:
Licensee: McGill Environmental Systems (Ireland) Limited
Location of Facility: Ballynalurgan, Kilmainhamwood, Kells,
County Meath.
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INTRODUCTION

This introduction is not part of the licence and does not purport to be a legal
interpretation of the licence.

This licence is for the operation of an indoor composting facility on a Greenfield site at
Ballynalurgan, Kilmainhamwood, Kells, Co Meath. McGill Environmental Systems
(Ireland) Ltd propose to accept non-hazardous biodegradable wastes (primarily sewage
sludge, industrial sludges, household and commercial waste for composting) at this
facility.

The quantity of waste to be accepted at the facility is limited to 20,800 tonnes per
annum (equivalent to 400 tonnes per week).

Wastes must only be received in fully covered vehicles and can only be unloaded inside
the appropriate reception building. All waste will be composted in composting bays
with forced aeration from underfloor aeration channels. Air will be extracted from the
composting building by means of extraction fans and wiou, be released to the atmosphere
via a biofilter system. N
&

The licensee must manage and operate the fgéil@ to ensure that the activities do not
cause environmental pollution. The Iigé’?\@‘ée iIs required to carry out regular
environmental monitoring and submit al&ﬁoﬁitoring results, and a wide range of reports

on the operation and management of cility to the Agency.

The licence sets out in detail the cefiditions under which McGill Environmental Systems

(Ireland) Limited will operate a?@@uhanage this facility.
éé,\\é\

S

Environmental Protection Agency WL/Reg. No. 195-1/Introduction
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DECISION & REASONS FOR THE DECISION
Reasons for the Decision

On the basis of the information before it, the Environmental Protection Agency is satisfied that the waste
activity, or activities, licensed hereunder in Part | will comply with the requirements of Section 40(4) of
the Waste Management Acts, 1996 to 2003.

In reaching this decision the Environmental Protection Agency has considered the application and
supporting documentation received from the applicant, all submissions and an objection received from

other parties and the reports of its inspectors.

INTERPRETATION

All terms in this licence should be interpreted in accordance with the definitions in the Waste
Management Acts, 1996 to 2003, (the Acts), unless otherwise defined in this section.

Aerosol

Adequate lighting
Agreement
Annually

Attachment

Application

Appropriate facility

BAT

Bioaerosol
Bi-annually

Biodegradable
waste

CEN

Compost

Condition

Consignment Note

A suspension of solid or liquid particles in a gaseous medium.
20 lux measured at ground level.

Agreement in writing.

At approximately twelve monthly intervals.

Any reference to Attachments in this licgfice refers to attachments submitted
as part of the waste licence appllcatm@@‘

The application by the Ilceagéex?}thhls waste licence.

A waste managemergb%@é\hlty, duly authorised under relevant law and
technically swtable\é\

Best AvallabI@@??@mque as defined in Waste Management Acts 1996 to
2003. < Q\\

S\
An aerog/o‘f of biological particles.

All or part of a period of six consecutive months.

Any waste that is capable of undergoing anaerobic or aerobic decomposition,
such as food, garden waste, sewage sludge, paper and paperboard.
Committee  for

Comité Européen De Normalisation -

Standardisation.

European

The stable, sanitised and humus-like material rich in organic matter and free
from offensive odours, resulting from the composting process of separately
collected biodegradable waste, which complies with the quality standards of
Schedule E: Standards for Compost Quality, of this licence.

A condition of this licence.

All movements of hazardous waste within Ireland must be accompanied by a
“C1” consignment note issued by a local authority under the Waste
Management (Movement of Hazardous Waste) Regulations (SI No. 147 of
1998). Transfrontier shipment notification and movement/tracking form
numbers are required for all exports of waste from, into or through the state
under the Waste Management (Transfrontier Shipment of Waste) Regulations
(SI No. 149 of 1998).

Environmental Protection Agency WL/Reg. No. 195-1
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Construction and Wastes that arise from construction, renovation and demolition activities:
Demolition Waste Chapter 17 of the EWC or as otherwise may be agreed.

Containment boom A boom which can contain spillages and prevent them from entering drains or

watercourses.
Daytime 8.00 a.m. to 8.00 p.m.
Documentation Any report, record, result, data, drawing, proposal, interpretation or other

document in written or electronic form which is required by this licence.

Drawing Any reference to a drawing or drawing number means a drawing or drawing
number contained in the application, unless otherwise specified in this licence.

Emergency Those occurrences defined in Condition 9.4.

Emission Limits Those limits, including concentration limits and deposition levels established
in Schedule C: Emission Limits of this licence.

European Waste A harmonised, non-exhaustive list of wastes drawn up by the European
Catalogue (EWC) Commission and published as Commission Decision 2000/532/EC and any
subsequent amendment published in the Official Journal of the European

Community.
Fortnightly A minimum of 24 times per year, at appr%imately two week intervals.
o
Trade Effluent Drainage from waste processmg dlng, wheelwash, truck wash, ramp,
weighbridges vehicle cleamn ejector trailer parking areas and run-off

from hardstanding areas asézg@ with waste processing.

Green waste Waste wood (excludmgﬁ]gg&essed timber), plant matter such as grass cuttings,
and other vegetatlogp

Hours of Operation ~ The hours d {3 @hlch the facility is authorised to be operational. The hours
of operat|0ﬁ< cgsé facility are usually longer than the hours of waste acceptance
to famhtateéoﬁ‘eparatory and completion works, such as the removal and laying
of daily gover. Different activities within the facility, such as the civic waste
facil'ttyf\,\ may have different hours of waste acceptance.

Hours of Waste The hours during which the facility is authorised to accept waste. Different
Acceptance activities within the facility, such as the civic waste facility, may have
different hours of waste acceptance.

Incident The following shall constitute an incident for the purposes of this licence:

a) anemergency;

b) any emission which does not comply with the requirements of this
licence;

c) any exceedence of the daily duty capacity of the waste handling
equipment;

d) any trigger level specified in this licence which is attained or
exceeded; and

e) any indication that environmental pollution has, or may have, taken
place.

Industrial Waste As defined in Section 5(1) of the Act.

Inert waste Waste that does not undergo any significant physical, chemical or biological
transformations. Inert waste will not dissolve, burn or otherwise physically or
chemically react, biodegrade or adversely affect other matter with which it
comes into contact in a way likely to give rise to environmental pollution or
harm human health. The total leachability and pollutant content of the waste
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Landfill Directive

Licence
Licensee

Liquid Waste

Maintain

Mobile Plant

Monthly
Municipal waste
Night-time

Noise Sensitive
Location (NSL)

Oil Separator
Recyclable
Materials
Quarterly

Sample(s)

Sludge

SOP

Specified Emissions

Specified

Engineering Works

Standard Method

TOC

and the ecotoxicity of the leachate must be insignificant, and in particular not
endanger the quality of surface water and/or groundwater.

Council Directive 1999/31/EC.

A Waste Licence issued in accordance with the Acts.
McGill Environmental Systems (Ireland) Ltd.

Any waste in liquid form and containing less than 2% dry matter. Any waste
tankered to the facility.

Keep in a fit state, including such regular inspection, servicing, calibration and
repair as may be necessary to adequately perform its function.

Self-propelled machinery used for the emplacement of wastes or for the
construction of specified engineering works.

A minimum of 12 times per year, at approximately monthly intervals.
As defined in Section 5(1) of the Act.
10.00 p.m. to 8.00 a.m.

Any dwelling house, hotel or hostel, health building, educational
establishment, place of worship or enter@hment or any other facility or area
of high amenity which for its proper@@]oyment requires the absence of noise
at nuisance levels.

o

Device installed accor ebts\o the draft European Standard prEN 858
(Installations for the sgﬁ@ﬁon of light liquids, e.g. oil and petrol).

Those waste typ&é’%i& as cardboard, batteries, gas cylinders, etc, which may
be recycled q

<<° &
At approxmé?ely three monthly intervals.

Unle @@%e context of this licence indicates to the contrary, samples shall
include measurements by electronic instruments.

The accumulation of solids resulting from chemical coagulation, flocculation
and/or sedimentation after water or wastewater treatment, with greater than
2% dry matter.

Standard Operating Procedure.
Those emissions listed in Schedule C: Emission Limits of this licence.

Those engineering works listed in Schedule B: Specified Engineering Works
of this licence.

A National, European or internationally recognised procedure (eg, I.S. EN,
ISO, CEN, BS or equivalent), as in-house documented procedure based on the
above references, a procedure as detailed in the current edition of “Standard
Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater”, (prepared and
published jointly by A.P.H.A.,, AW.W.A & W.E.F), American Public Health
Association, 1015 Fifteenth Street, N.W., Washington DC 20005, USA; or, an
alternative method as may be agreed by the Agency.

Total Organic Carbon.

Environmental Protection Agency WL/Reg. No. 195-1
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Trigger Level A parameter value specified in the licence, the achievement or exceedance of
which requires certain actions to be taken by the licensee.

Weekly During all weeks of plant operation, and in the case of emissions, when
emissions are taking place; with no more than one measurement in any one
week.

White Goods Refrigerators, cookers, ovens and other similar appliances.

EPA Working Day Refers to the following hours; 9.00 a.m. to 5.30 p.m. Monday to Friday
inclusive.
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Part 1 Schedule of Activities Licensed

In pursuance of the powers conferred on it by the Waste Management Acts, 1996 to 2003, the
Environmental Protection Agency (the Agency), under Section 40(1) of the said Acts hereby grants this
Waste Licence to McGill Environmental Systems (Ireland) Ltd. to carry on the waste activities listed
below at Ballynalurgan, Kilmainhamwood, Kells, County Meath, subject to conditions, with the reasons
therefor and the associated schedules attached thereto set out in the licence.

Licensed Waste Disposal Activities, in accordance with the Third Schedule
of the Waste Management Acts, 1996 to 2003

Class 6 Biological treatment not referred to elsewhere in this Schedule which results in
final compounds or mixtures which are disposed of by means of any activity
referred to in paragraphs 1 to 10 of this Schedule:

Class 13. Storage prior to submission to any activity referred to in a preceding paragraph of
this Schedule, other than temporary storage, pending collection, on the premises
where the waste concerned is produced.

Licensed Waste Recovery Activities, in accordance with the Fourth Schedule
of the Waste Management Acts, éﬁf&G to 2003
S

Class 2 Recycling or reclamation of organimﬁﬁob§gnces which are not used as solvents

(including composting and otherﬁ@&;ical transformation processes).
SN
&

Class 13. Storage of waste intende @bmission to any activity referred to in a preceding
paragraph of this Schg\@lg,oother than temporary storage, pending collection, on
the premises Wherwgw%aste is produced.

)

C

&
&

S
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PART Il CONDITIONS

CONDITION1 SCOPE OF THE LICENCE

1.1  Waste activities at the facility shall be restricted to those listed and described in Part I: Activities
Licensed and authorised by this licence.

1.2 For the purposes of this licence, the facility is the area of land outlined in red on Drawing No.
MESMO001 of the application. Any reference in this licence to “facility” shall mean the area thus
outlined in red.

1.3 This licence is for the purposes of waste licensing under the Waste Management Acts 1996 to 2003
only and nothing in this licence shall be construed as negating the licensee’s statutory obligations
or requirements under any other enactments or regulations.

1.4 Unless otherwise agreed with the Agency, only the wastes as outlined in Schedule A: Waste
Acceptance of this licence and as listed under Annex 1 of the EC Working Document ‘Biological
Treatment of Biowaste’ (2" draft), 2001 or subsequent amendments shall be accepted at the
facility for the production of compost.

1.5 No hazardous wastes or liquid wastes shall be accepted at the facility.
1.6 Waste Acceptance Hours and Hours of Operation

1.6.1  Waste shall be accepted at the facility only between the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 Monday
to Friday inclusive and 08:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays.

1.6.2  Waste shall not be accepted or handled at the f@;}'ﬁy on Sundays or on Bank Holidays
without the written agreement of the Agency

1.6.3  Waste shall be handled at the facility om\{&)@gween the hours of 08:00 to 18:00 Monday to
Friday inclusive and 08:00 to 13: OO urdays

1.7  Every plan, programme or proposal su ﬂ}? {@d to the Agency for its agreement pursuant to any
Condition of this licence shall inclu %@roposed timescale for its implementation. The Agency
may modify or alter any such r& rogramme or proposal in so far as it considers such
modification or alteration to @& ssary and shall notify the licensee in writing of any such
modification or alteration. Eve \}Jch plan, programme or proposal shall be carried out within the
timescale fixed by the Agencﬁ&\but shall not be undertaken without the agreement of the Agency.
Every such plan, programr’@‘or proposal agreed by the Agency shall be covered by the conditions
of this licence. Q

1.8  Prior to commencing waste activities the licensee must satisfy the Agency that it has obtained the
written consent of the Department of Agriculture and Food to treat animal by-products by
composting at the facility. A copy of the consent shall be submitted to the Agency one month
before waste activities commence and a copy made available for inspection by authorised persons
of the Agency.

REASON: To clarify the scope of this licence.

CONDITION 2 MANAGEMENT OF THE FACILITY

2.1 Facility Management

2.1.1  The licensee shall employ a suitably qualified and experienced facility manager who
shall be designated as the person in charge. The facility manager or a nominated,
suitably qualified and experienced, deputy shall be present on the facility at all times
during its operation.

2.1.2  Both the facility manager and deputy, and any replacement manager or deputy, shall
successfully complete both the FAS waste management training programme (or
equivalent agreed by the Agency) and associated on site assessment appraisal within
twelve months of appointment.
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2.1.3  The licensee shall ensure that personnel performing specifically assigned tasks shall be
qualified on the basis of appropriate education, training and experience, as required and
shall be aware of the requirements of this licence.

2.2 Management Structure

2.2.1  Prior to the commencement of waste activities, the licensee shall submit written details
of the management structure of the facility to the Agency. Any proposed replacement
in the management structure shall be notified in advance in writing to the Agency.
Written details of the management structure shall include the following information.

a) the names of all persons who are to provide the management and supervision of
the waste activities authorised by the licence, in particular the name of the
facility manager and any nominated deputies;

b) details of the responsibilities for each individual named under a) above; and

C) details of the relevant education, training and experience held by each of the
persons nominated under a) above.

2.3 Environmental Management System (EMS)

231 The licensee shall establish and maintain an EMS. Within eighteen months (shorter
period for new facilities) from the date of grant of this licence, the licensee shall
submit to the Agency for its agreement a proposal for a documented Environmental
Management System (EMS) for the facility. Following the agreement of the Agency,
the licensee shall establish and maintain such a system. The EMS shall be updated on
an annual basis with amendments being submitted to the Agency for its agreement.

2.3.2 The EMS shall include as a minimum the foIIow@g elements:
>
23.2.1 Schedule of Environmental O%’L@tives and Targets

The licensee shall prep@ﬁe @%chedule of Environmental Objectives and
Targets. The Sched & sfall as a minimum provide for a review of all
operations and prqéé , including an evaluation of practicable options,
for energy and g@}qé?‘ce effnuency, the use of cleaner technology, cleaner
production, @ﬁ’e prevention, reduction and minimisation of waste, and
shall incl @?ste reduction targets. The Schedule shall include time
fram%sﬁbr\\ e achievement of set targets and shall address a five year
perio Q@ a minimum. The Schedule shall be reviewed annually and
amen&ments thereto notified to the Agency for agreement as part of the
Agiﬂjal Environmental Report (AER).

2.3.2.2 c“'Enwronmental Management Plan (EMP)

The EMP shall include, as a minimum, the following:

) methods by which the objectives and targets will be achieved in
the coming year and the designation of responsibility for targets;
(i) any other items required by written guidance issued by the
Agency.
2.3.2.3 Corrective Action Procedures

The Corrective Action Procedures shall detail the corrective actions to be
taken should any of the procedures detailed in the EMS not be followed.

2.3.24 Awareness and Training Programme

The Awareness and Training Programme shall identify training needs, for
personnel who work in or have responsibility for the licensed facility.

2.3.25 Maintenance Programme

The licensee shall establish and maintain within six months of the date of
grant of this licence a structured programme for maintenance based on
technical descriptions of equipment. This programme shall be supported
by appropriate record keeping systems and diagnostic testing.
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2.4 Communications Programme

24.1 The licensee shall establish and maintain a Communications Programme to ensure that
members of the public can obtain information at the facility, at all reasonable times,
concerning the environmental performance of the facility. This shall be established
within six months of the date of grant of this licence.

REASON: To make provision for the proper management of the activity on a planned basis having
regard to the desirability of ongoing assessment, recording and reporting of matters affecting
the environment.

CONDITION 3 FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE

3.1  The licensee shall establish all infrastructure referred to in this licence prior to the commencement
of the licensed activities or as required by the conditions of this licence.

3.2  Specified Engineering Works

3.2.1 The licensee shall submit proposals for all Specified Engineering Works, as defined in
Schedule B: Specified Engineering Works of this licence, to the Agency for its agreement
at least two months prior to the intended date of commencement of any such works. No
such works shall be carried out without the prior agreement of the Agency.

3.2.2  All specified engineering works shall be supervised by a competent person(s) and that
person, or persons, shall be present at all times during which relevant works are being
undertaken. \)&

3.2.3  Following the completion of all specified engiq@ér\ing works, the licensee shall complete a
construction quality assurance validatio levant. The validation report shall be made
available to the Agency on request. I@Q@Jort shall include the following information:-

a) adescription of the works;QgQ‘Z&s*
b) as-built drawings of the@%@(‘s;
c) any other informati%@iéﬁested in writing by the Agency.
&
3.3 Facility Notice Board <<<§ \\\\q
S)
3.3.1  The licensee shall pr@/cl’de and maintain a Facility Notice Board on the facility so that it is
legible to personsogﬁtside the main entrance to the facility. The minimum dimensions of
the board shall 81200 mm by 750 mm.

3.3.2  The board shall clearly show:-

a) the name and telephone number of the facility;

b)  the normal hours of opening;

c) the name of the licence holder;

d)  anemergency out of hours contact telephone number;

e)  the licence reference number; and

f)  where environmental information relating to the facility can be obtained.

3.4 Facility Security

3.4.1  Security and stockproof fencing and gates shall be installed and maintained as described
in section D. 1a of the application. The security fence and gates shall be at the locations
shown on Drawing No. MESMO0O7 of the application. The base of the fencing shall be set
in the ground.

3.4.2  The licensee shall remedy any defect in the gates and/or fencing as follows:-
a) atemporary repair shall be made by the end of the working day; and

b) a repair to the standard of the original gates and/or fencing shall be undertaken
within three working days.
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3.5 Facility Roads and Hardstanding

3.5.1 Effective site roads shall be provided and maintained to ensure the safe movement of
vehicles within the facility.

3.5.2 The facility entrance area, the access road to the Waste Facility shall be paved and
maintained in accordance with section D.1 of the application.

3.5.3  The licensee shall provide, and maintain an impermeable hardstanding surface in the areas
of the facility shown on Drawing No. MESMO007 of the application. In addition, the floor
of the buildings and hardstanding areas at the facility shall be concreted and constructed
to British Standard 8110.

3.6 Facility Office

3.6.1 The licensee shall provide and maintain an office at the facility. The office shall be
constructed and maintained in a manner suitable for the processing and storing of
documentation.

3.6.2 The licensee shall provide and maintain a working telephone and a method for electronic
transfer of information at the facility.

3.7  Waste Inspection and Quarantine Areas

3.7.1 A Waste Inspection Area and a Waste Quarantine Area shall be provided and maintained
at the facility.

3.7.2  These areas shall be constructed and maintained in a manner suitable, and be of a size
appropriate, for the inspection of waste and subsequent quarantine if required. The waste
inspection area and the waste quarantine area shall be clearly identified and segregated

from each other. &
3.7.3 Drainage from the waste quarantine area skiall be directed to the effluent collection
system. Q\\\‘Q@
SO
3.8 Weighbridge and Wheel Cleaning Oé??@b

LS
3.8.1 The licensee shall provide andi\ﬁ?a\iﬁ%in a weighbridge and access to appropriate wheel
cleaning equipment at the fagi

IO
3.9  Waste handling, ventilation and pf0 ing plant
g Opl%f@s gp

3.9.1 Items of plant deeme%()@tical to the efficient and adequate processing of waste at the
facility (including irlté‘r alia waste loading vehicles and ejector trailers) shall be provided
on the following gggls:-

O -
a) 100% d&l’y capacity;
b) 20% standby capacity available on a routine basis; and

C) Provision of contingency arrangements and/or back up and spares in the case of
breakdown of critical equipment.

3.9.2  Within six months from the date of grant of this licence, the licensee shall provide a report
for the agreement of the Agency detailing the duty and standby capacity in tonnes per day,
of all waste handling and processing equipment to be used at the facility. These capacities
shall be based on the licensed waste intake, as per Schedule A: Waste Acceptance of this
licence.

3.9.3 The quantity of waste to be accepted at the facility on a daily basis shall not exceed the
duty capacity of the equipment at the facility. Any exceedance of this intake shall be
treated as an incident.

3.10 Tank and Drum Storage Areas

3.10.1 All tank and drum storage areas shall be rendered impervious to the materials stored
therein.

3.10.2 All tank and drum storage areas shall, as a minimum, be bunded, either locally or
remotely, to a volume not less than the greater of the following:-

a) 110% of the capacity of the largest tank or drum within the bunded area; or
b) 25% of the total volume of substance which could be stored within the bunded area.
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3.10.3 All drainage from bunded areas shall be diverted for collection and safe disposal.
3.10.4 Allinlets, outlets, vent pipes, valves and gauges must be within the bunded area.

3.10.5 The integrity and water tightness of all the bunds and their resistance to penetration by
water or other materials stored therein shall be confirmed by the licensee and shall be
reported to the Agency as part of the first AER.

This confirmation shall be repeated at least once every three years thereafter and reported
to the Agency on each occasion.

3.10.6 While awaiting collection, mature compost shall be stored indoors protected against
uncontrolled run-off and nuisance formation.

3.11 Silt Traps and Oil Separators/Interceptors

3.11.1 The licensee shall install and maintain silt traps and oil interceptors at the facility to
ensure that all surface water discharges from the facility pass through a silt trap and oil
interceptor prior to discharge. The interceptors shall be a Class | full retention interceptor
and the silt traps and interceptors shall be in accordance with European Standard prEN
858 (installations for the separation of light liquids).

3.12 Drainage system, pipeline testing
3.12.1 Replacement of Infrastructure

Monitoring infrastructure which is damaged or proves to be unsuitable for its purpose
shall be replaced within three months of it being damaged or recognised as being

unsuitable.
3.13 The licensee shall provide and maintain an odour abatement gystem on the facility which satisfies
the following requirements: ‘3\
a) Air management system, to ensure no sqqn‘ Q@ﬂt escape of odours or dust, including

negative pressure throughout the buildi

b) A biofilter of appropriate size and\}@?g@fgre.
O <

. . . N . .
REASON: To provide appropriate lnfrast/&é}\ui@for the protection of the environment.

R
S
<L Q&‘

CONDITION 4 ng((sbmmlssmnlng

4.1 Following termination, c{)r planned cessation for a period greater than six months, of use or
involvement of all or part of the site in the licensed activity, the licensee shall, to the satisfaction of
the Agency, decommission, render safe or remove for disposal/recovery, any soil, subsoils,
buildings, plant or equipment, or any waste, materials or substances or other matter contained
therein or thereon, that may result in environmental pollution.

REASON: To provide for the restoration of the facility.

CONDITION S FACILITY OPERATIONS

5.1 All waste processing shall be carried out inside the waste processing building.
5.2 Waste Acceptance and Characterisation Procedures

5.2.1  Waste shall only be accepted at the facility, from Local Authority waste collection or
transport vehicles or holders of waste permits, unless exempted or excluded, issued
under the Waste Management (Collection Permit) Regulations 2001. Copies of these
waste collection permits must be maintained at the facility.

5.2.2  Waste Acceptance Procedures shall be carried out in accordance with section E3 of the
licence application. Such procedures should be documented as part of the EMS as
required by Condition 2.
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5.2.3  Waste arriving at the facility shall be inspected at the point of entry to the facility and
subject to this inspection directed to the Waste Processing Building. Each load of waste
arriving at the Waste Processing Building shall be inspected upon tipping within this
building. Only after such inspections shall the waste be processed for recovery.

5.2.4  Any waste deemed unsuitable for processing at the facility and/or in contravention of
this licence shall be immediately separated and removed from the facility at the earliest
possible time. Temporary storage of such wastes shall be in a designated Waste
Quarantine Area. Waste shall be stored under appropriate conditions in the quarantine
area to avoid putrefaction, odour generation, the attraction of vermin and any other
nuisance or objectionable condition.

5.3 Operational Controls
5.3.1  Scavenging shall not be permitted at the facility.
5.3.2  Gates shall be locked shut when the facility is unsupervised.

5.3.3  The licensee shall provide and use adequate lighting during the operation of the facility
in hours of darkness.

5.3.4  Fuels shall be stored only at appropriately bunded locations on the facility.

5.3.5  All tanks and drums shall be labelled to clearly indicate their contents.

5.3.6  There shall be no casual public access to the facility.

5.3.7  All composting operations and materials storage shall be carried out indoors.
5.4 Off-site Disposal and Recovery

54.1 Waste sent off-site for recovery or disposa‘lz\\ﬁéll be conveyed only by a waste

contractor agreed by the Agency. S
5.4.2  All waste transferred from the facili%@ﬁ?ﬁ\‘\be transferred only to an appropriate facility

agreed by the Agency. & &\0
IS

5.4.3  All wastes removed off-site @P \?:overy or disposal shall be transported from the
facility to the consignee in %dﬁh(@nher which will not adversely affect the environment.
55 Maintenance {\{\. §\
551  All treatment/abatéifiesit and emission control equipment shall be calibrated and
maintained, in acc%(@nce with the instructions issued by the manufacturer/supplier or
installer. Writtegékecords of the calibrations and maintenance shall be made and kept by
the Iicensee.ooi\

55.2  The licensee shall maintain and clearly label and name all sampling and monitoring
locations.

5.6 Landscaping

5.6.1  Landscaping of the facility as described in Drawing MESMO006 of the application shall
be carried out within six months of the date of grant of this licence.

5.7 Resource Use and Energy Efficiency

5.7.1  The licensee shall carry out an audit of the energy efficiency of the site within one year
of the date of grant of this licence. The licensee shall carry out the audit in accordance
with Agency guidance. The audit programme shall be submitted to the Agency in
writing at least one month before the audit is to be carried out. A copy of the audit
report shall be available on-site for inspection by authorised persons of the Agency and
a summary of the audit findings shall be submitted as part of the Annual Environmental
Report. The energy efficiency audit shall be repeated at intervals as required by the
Agency.

5.7.2  The audit shall identify all opportunities for energy use reduction and efficiency and the
recommendations of the audit will be incorporated into the Schedule of Environmental
Obijectives and Targets under Condition 2 above.

5.7.3  The licensee shall identify opportunities for reduction in the quantity of water used on
site including recycling and reuse initiatives, wherever possible. Reductions in water
usage shall be incorporated into Schedule of Environmental Objectives and Targets.
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5.8

5.7.4  The licensee shall undertake an assessment of the efficiency of use of raw materials in
all processes, having particular regard to the reduction in waste generated. The
assessment should take account of best international practice for this type of activity.
Where improvements are identified, these shall be incorporated into the Schedule of
Environmental Objectives and Targets.

Compost Quality

5.8.1  Compost produced shall comply with the quality standards as set out in Schedule E:
Standards for Compost Quality of this licence. Analysis of the compost shall be in
accordance with the requirements of Schedule E.

5.8.2 Any compost not meeting any standard as per Schedule E: Standards for Compost
Quality may be reused in the process or handled as a waste and details recorded as per
Condition 10.

5.8.3 A record of the quantity of compost produced per annum shall be maintained on-site
and available for inspection and shall be reported in the AER.

REASON: To provide for appropriate operation of the facility to ensure protection of the environment.

CONDITION 6 EMISSIONS

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5
6.6

No specified emission from the facility shall exceed the emission limit values set out in Schedule
C: Emission Limits of this licence. There shall beé other emissions of environmental
significance. &

The licensee shall ensure that the activities s@b@camed out in a manner such that emissions
do not result in significant impairment gﬁgf‘ significant interference with the environment
beyond the facility boundary. S

Emission limits for emissions to aé@@f&@ﬁere in this licence shall be interpreted in the following
QS

ey S
6.3.1.  Non-Continuous Mqﬁi&qhoﬁg

)

(M For any pa@cr’neter where, due to sampling/analytical limitations, a 30 minute

sample jﬁ‘nappropriate, a suitable sampling period should be employed and the
valugp%tained therein shall not exceed the emission limit value.

(i) For all other parameters, no 30 minute mean value shall exceed the emission
limit value.

(iii)  For flow, no hourly or daily mean value shall exceed the emission limit value.
Emissions to Surface Water
6.4.1  No trade effluent shall be discharged to surface water.
There shall be no direct emissions to groundwater.

There shall be no clearly audible tonal component or impulsive component in the noise
emissions from the activity at the noise sensitive locations.

REASON: To control emissions from the facility and provide for the protection of the environment.
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CONDITION 7 NUISANCE CONTROL

7.1 The licensee shall ensure that vermin, birds, flies, mud, dust, litter and odours do not give rise to
nuisance at the facility or in the immediate area of the facility. Any method used by the licensee
to control any such nuisance shall not cause environmental pollution.

7.2 The road network in the vicinity of the facility shall be kept free from any debris caused by
vehicles entering or leaving the facility. Any such debris or deposited materials shall be removed
without delay.

7.3 Litter Control

7.3.1  The measures and infrastructure as described in section F.5 of the application shall be
applied to control litter at the facility.

7.3.2  All loose litter or other waste, placed on or in the vicinity of the facility, other than in
accordance with the requirements of this licences, shall be removed, subject to the
agreement of the landowners, immediately and in any event by 10.00am of the next
working day after such waste is discovered.

7.3.3  The licensee shall ensure that all vehicles delivering waste to and removing waste and
materials from the facility are appropriately covered.

7.4 Dust/Odour Control

7.4.1  In dry weather, site roads and any other areas used by vehicles shall be sprayed with
water as and when required to minimise airborne dust nuisance.

7.4.2  The licensee shall install and provide adequate measures for the control of odours and
dust emissions, including fugitive dust emissionsﬁf“rom the facility. Such measures shall

at a minimum include the following:- &

7.4.2.1 Dust curtains shall be mai Péﬁ on the entry/exit points from the waste
processing building, all ogé@égdbors in this building shall be kept closed where
possible. Q\QO&\
. Q . .
7.4.2.2 Provision of 100%@%@? capacity and 20% stand by capacity, back ups and
spares must be &?ij\\gﬁéd for the air handling, ventilation and abatement plant.
O

N N
REASON: To provide for the controﬁg&\;isances.

é\\o
&
CONDITION 8 SMONITORING

8.1. The licensee shall carry out such monitoring and at such locations and frequencies as set out in
Schedule D: Monitoring of this licence. Unless otherwise specified by this licence, all
environmental monitoring shall commence no later than two months after the date of grant of
this licence.

8.2 The licensee shall amend the frequency, locations, methods and scope of monitoring as required
by this licence only upon the written instruction of the Agency and shall provide such
information concerning such amendments as may be requested in writing by the Agency. Such
alterations shall be carried out within any timescale nominated by the Agency.

8.3 Monitoring and analysis equipment shall be operated and maintained in accordance with the
manufacturers’ instructions (if any) so that all monitoring results accurately reflect any emission,
discharge or environmental parameter.

8.4 The licensee shall provide safe and permanent access to all on-site sampling and monitoring
points and to off-site points as required by the Agency.

8.5 The licensee shall maintain all sampling and monitoring points, and clearly label and name all
sampling and monitoring locations, so that they may be used for representative sampling and
monitoring.

8.6 The licensee shall install on all emission points such sampling points or equipment, including

any data-logging or other electronic communication equipment, as may be required by the
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Agency. All such equipment shall be consistent with the safe operation of all sampling and
monitoring systems.

8.7 Within six months of the date of grant of this licence, the following information shall be
submitted to the Agency for its agreement: the names, qualifications and a summary of relevant
experience of all persons that will carry out all sampling and monitoring as required by this
licence and who carry out the interpretation of the results of such sampling and monitoring. Any
proposed changes to the above shall be submitted in writing to the Agency for its agreement.

8.8 All automatic monitors and samplers shall be functioning at all times (except during
maintenance and calibration) when the activity is being carried on, unless alternative sampling or
monitoring has been agreed, in writing, by the Agency for a limited period. In the event of the
malfunction of any continuous monitor, the licensee shall contact the Agency as soon as
practicable, and alternative sampling and monitoring facilities shall be put in place. Prior written
agreement for the use of alternative equipment, other than in emergency situations, shall be
obtained from the Agency.

8.9 Nuisance Monitoring

The licensee shall, at a minimum of one week intervals, inspect the facility and its immediate
surrounds for nuisances caused by litter, vermin, birds, flies, mud, dust and odours.

8.10 Bioaerosol Monitoring

Prior to the commencement of waste activities, the licensee shall submit for approval by the
Agency, a baseline bioaerosol monitoring study for the site.

REASON: To ensure compliance with the conditions of this licence by provision of a satisfactory system

of monitoring of emissions. &
@a
N *
CONDITION 9 CONTINGEN@@YARRANGEI\/IENTS
0}\

9.1. In the event of an incident the Ilcensegs%aFP’mmedlately -
a) identify the date, time and plg@o*the incident;

b) carry out an immediate Q?;?ho@atlon to identify the nature, source and cause of the incident
and any emission arlsmg\ from;

c) isolate the source of@y such emission;
d) evaluate the ener)nmentaI pollution, if any, caused by the incident;

e) identify and execute measures to minimise the emissions/malfunction and the effects
thereof;

f) provide a proposal to the Agency for its agreement within one month of the incident
occurring to:-

i) identify and put in place measures to avoid reoccurrence of the incident; and
ii) identify and put in place any other appropriate remedial action.

9.2. The licensee shall, within six months of date of grant of this licence, ensure that a documented
Emergency Response Procedure is in place, which shall address any emergency situation which
may originate on-site. This Procedure shall include provision for minimising the effects of any
emergency on the environment. This procedure shall be reviewed annually and updated as
necessary. The licensee shall, within six months of the date of grant of this licence, submit a
written Emergency Response Procedure (ERP) to the Agency for its agreement. The ERP shall
address any emergency situations which may originate on the facility and shall include provision
for minimising the effects of any emergency on the environment. This shall include a risk
assessment to determine the requirements at the facility for fire fighting and fire water retention
facilities. The Fire Authority shall be consulted by the licensee during this assessment.

9.3. The licensee shall have in storage an adequate supply of containment booms and/or suitable
absorbent material to contain and absorb any spillage at the facility. Once used the absorbent
material shall be disposed of at an appropriate facility.
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9.4, Emergencies

9.4.1. In the event of a complete breakdown of equipment or any other occurrence which
results in the closure of the processing building, any waste arriving at or already
collected at the facility shall be transferred directly to appropriate landfill sites or any
other appropriate facility until such time as the processing building is returned to a
fully operational status. Such a breakdown event will be treated as an emergency and
rectified as soon as possible.

9.4.2.  All significant spillages occurring at the facility shall be treated as an emergency and
immediately cleaned up and dealt with so as to alleviate their effects.

9.4.3.  No waste shall be burnt within the boundaries of the facility. A fire at the facility shall
be treated as an emergency and immediate action shall be taken to extinguish it and
notify the appropriate authorities.

9.4.4. In the event that monitoring of local wells indicates that the facility is having a
significant adverse effect on the quantity and/or quality of the water supply this shall be
treated as an emergency and the licensee shall provide an alternative supply of water to
those affected.

9.4.5. The licensee shall provide and maintain a storage tank/interceptor for the temporary
storage of liquid runoff/ liquid waste.

9.5. Accident Prevention

9.5.1. The licensee shall, within six months of date of grant of this licence, ensure that a
documented Accident Prevention Policy is in place which will address the hazards on-
site, particularly in relation to the prevention of accidents with a possible impact on the
environment. This procedure shall be reviewed ag#ftially and updated as necessary.

&
S
REASON: To ensure compliance with the conditiogﬁggtﬁis licence by provision of a satisfactory system
of monitoring of emissions. 0\>\3§
558

RS
CONDITION 10 REGORDS

10.1 The licensee shall keep tD&éllowing documents at the facility office:-

a) the current Wastecljfence relating to the facility;
b) the current EMS for the facility;
c) the previous year’s AER for the facility; and
d) all written procedures produced by the licensee which relate to the licensed activities.
10.2 The licensee shall maintain a record for each load of waste arriving at and departing from the
facility. The licensee shall record the following:-
a) the date;
b) the name of the carrier (including if appropriate, the waste carrier registration details);
c) the vehicle registration number;
d) the name of the producer(s)/collector(s) of the waste as appropriate;

e) the name of the waste facility (if appropriate) from which the load originated including the
waste licence or waste permit register number;

f) adescription of the waste including the associated EWC codes;
g) the quantity of the waste, recorded in tonnes;
h) the name of the person checking the load; and
i) where loads or wastes are removed or rejected, details of the date of occurrence, the types of
waste and the facility to which they were removed.
10.3  The following records shall be maintained by the licensee:-

a) the types and quantities of waste recovered at the facility each year. These records shall
include the relevant EWC Codes;
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b) all training undertaken by facility staff;

c) results from all integrity tests of bunds and other structures and any maintenance or remedial
work arising from them;

d) details of all nuisance inspections; and

e) the names and qualifications of all persons who carry out all sampling and monitoring as
required by this licence and who carry out the interpretation of the results of such sampling
and monitoring.

10.4 The licensee shall maintain a record of all complaints relating to the operation of the activity.
Each such record shall give details of the following:-

a) date and time of the complaint;

b) the name of the complainant;

c) details of the nature of the complaint;

d) actions taken on foot of the complaint and the results of such actions; and
e) the response made to each complainant.

10.5 A record shall be kept at the facility of the programme for the control and eradication of vermin
and fly infestations at the facility. These records shall include as a minimum the following:-

a) the date and time during which spraying of insecticide is carried out;
b) contractor details;

c) contractor logs and site inspection reports;

d) details of the rodenticide(s) and insecticide(s) used; o

e) operator training details; ‘{\‘z\\)

f) details of any infestations; O(\\\ q@

g) mode, frequency, location and quanng&f?@ppllcatlon and

h) measures to contain sprays wnhw@ﬁe@blllty boundary.

10.6  Where compost product contains @v&g sludge the licensee shall retain the following records on
{\
site: O \\q
a) A copy of the notlflgga%ns to the Local Authority as required under Article 8 (1) and

Article 8 (3) of §1 148 of 1998 (Waste Management (Use of sewage sludge in
agriculture) Rgg@\ations, 1998).

b) This shall iﬁ)clude inter alia; sludge analysis, records of sludge quantities, sludge
properties, treatment type and location/name of the recipient of the sludge (sludge
meaning compost containing treated sludge).

REASON: To provide for the keeping of proper records of the operation of the facility.

CONDITION 11 REPORTS AND NOTIFICATIONS

11.1 No alteration to, or reconstruction in respect of, the activity or any part thereof which would, or
is likely to, result in:

(a) A material change or increase in:

- The nature or quantity of any emission;

- The abatement/treatment or recovery systems;

- The range of processes to be carried out;

- The fuels, raw materials, products or wastes to be generated or accepted, or
b) Any changes in:

- The site management and control with adverse environmental significance,

Environmental Protection Agency WL/Reg. No. 195-1 Page 16 of 26

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:48



shall be carried out or commenced without prior notice to, and without the
prior written agreement of, the Agency.

11.2 Unless otherwise agreed by the Agency, all reports and notifications submitted to the Agency

shall:-

a) be sent to the relevant regional Agency office (to be advised);

b) comprise one original and two copies unless additional copies are required;

c) be formatted in accordance with any written instruction or guidance issued by the
Agency;

d) include whatever information as is specified in writing by the Agency;

e) be identified by a unique code, indicate any modification or amendment, and be
correctly dated to reflect any such modification or amendment;

f) be submitted in accordance to the relevant reporting frequencies specified by this
licence, such as in Schedule E: Standards for Compost Quality of this licence;

9) be accompanied by a written interpretation setting out their significance in the case of
all monitoring data; and

h) be transferred electronically to the Agency’s computer system if required by the

Agency.
11.3 In the event of an incident occurring on the facility, the licensee shall:-

a) notify the Agency as soon as practicable and in any case not later than 10.00 am the
following working day after the occurrence of an\@nudent

b) submit a written record of the incident, mcludm@‘éll aspects described in Condition 9.1 (a-
e), to the Agency as soon as practicable qu %& ny case within five working days after the
occurrence of any incident; S, &

c) in the event of any incident Whicgq% s to discharges to surface/sewer water, notify the
Sanitary Authority as soon as ﬁaqtﬁable and in any case not later than 10:00am on the
following working day aﬁer@@ﬁ%\i@ @n incident; and

d) Should any further acthn% "taken as a result of an incident occurring, the licensee shall
forward a written repsit ‘those actions to the Agency as soon as practicable and no later
than ten days after the\ﬁﬁtlatlon of those actions.

11.4  Waste Recovery Report%é‘\

The licensee shall as %’art of the AER submit a report on the contribution by this facility to the
achievement of the recovery targets stated in national and European Union waste policies and
shall include the following:-

a) proposals for the contribution of the facility to the achievement of targets for the reduction
of biodegradable waste to landfill as specified in the Landfill Directive;

b) the separation of recyclable materials from the waste; and

C) inert waste to be used for cover/restoration material at the facility.
115  Vermin and Flies

11.5.1. Within three months of the date of this licence, the licensee shall submit to the Agency
for its agreement a proposal for the management of vermin and fly infestations at the
facility. This proposal should include as a minimum, operator training, details on the
rodenticide(s) and insecticide(s) to be used, mode and frequency of application and
measures to contain sprays within the facility boundary.

11.6 Monitoring Locations

11.6.1. Within three months of the date of grant of this licence, the licensee shall submit to the
Agency an appropriately scaled drawing(s) showing all the monitoring locations that
are stipulated in this licence. The drawing(s) shall include the reference code of each
monitoring point.
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11.7 Annual Environmental Report

11.7.1 The licensee shall submit to the Agency for its agreement, by 31% March of each
calendar year an Annual Environmental Report (AER).

11.7.2 The AER shall include as a minimum the information specified in Schedule F: Content
of Annual Environmental Report of this licence and shall be prepared in accordance
with any relevant written guidance issued by the Agency.

REASON: To provide for proper reporting and notification of the Agency.

CONDITION 12 CHARGES AND FINANCIAL
PROVISIONS

12.1 Agency Charges

12.1.1  The licensee shall pay to the Agency an annual contribution of €7,626, or such
sum as the Agency from time to time determines, having regard to variations in
the extent of reporting, auditing, inspection, sampling and analysis or other
functions carried out by the Agency, towards the cost of monitoring the activity
as the Agency considers necessary for the performance of its functions under
Waste Management Acts 1996 to 2003. The first payment shall be a pro-rata
amount for the period from the date of com@gncement of enforcement to the 31st
day of December, and shall be paid to th ency within one month from the date
of commencement of enforcement. Inglibsequent years the licensee shall pay to
the Agency such revised annual@énﬁbution as the Agency shall from time to
time consider necessary to enafileerformance by the Agency of its relevant
functions under the Waste ement Acts, 1996 to 2003, and all such
payments shall be madg@?i\tﬁﬁ one month of the date upon which demanded by
the Agency. §0\$ &

12.1.2  Inthe event thatdfy %quency or extent of monitoring or other functions carried

out by the Ag@ﬁé{xﬁéeds to be increased the licensee shall contribute such sums

as determined kiy“the Agency to defraying its costs in regard to items not covered

by the sai%ﬁnual contribution.
(\Q

REASON: To provide for ade&ﬁate financing for monitoring
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SCHEDULE A : Waste Acceptance

A.l  Waste Acceptance
Table A.1 Waste Categories and Quantities

WASTE TYPE ™! MAXIMUM (TONNES PER
ANNUM)
Non-hazardous waste for composting including 20,800

industrial and sewage biosolids, separated
household and catering waste and other non-
hazardous biodegradable material household waste

TOTAL 20,800

Note 1. or other compatible wastes to be agreed in advance by the Agency.

SCHEDULE B:  Specified Engineering Works

Specified Engineering Works O

\

N
Installation of waste handling, recycling/recove@iﬁﬁ@structure
O
Any other works notified in writing by thed@éﬁ

&S
\°0Q

SCHEDULE C &)0&90‘ Emission Limits

C.1  Noise Emissions: (Measured at the monitoring points indicated in Drawing
MESMO009 of the application).

Day dB(A) Leg(30 minutes) Night dB(A) Leq(30
minutes)
55 45

C.2 Dust Deposition Limt: Measured at the monitoring points indicated in Drawing
MESMO0O09 of the application.

Level (mg/m? /day)"°**

350
Note 1: 30 day composite sample with the results expressed as mg/m?/day.
Environmental Protection Agency WL/Reg. No. 195-1 Page 19 of 26

EPA Export 26-07-2013:19:06:48



SCHEDULED: Monitoring

Monitoring to be carried out as specified below.

D.1 Monitoring Locations
Monitoring locations shall be those as set out in Drawing MESMO09 of the application.

Table D.1.1 Noise and surface water Monitoring Locations
NOISE Dust Air Groundwater
STATIONS STATIONS
N D1 Al Bl
D2 A2 B2
D3 A3 B3
Table D.1.2 Emissions to Atmosphere Monitoring Locations

MICRO-ORGANISMS

STATIONS &

Exhaust vent from the processing building and 3
other locations as may be specified by theof\o\ 5

Agency F S

D.2 Noise R

S\
Table D.2.1 Noise Monitorip@t%requency and Technique
S
(@)

Parameter Monitoring Frequency Analysis
Method/Technique
L(A)eo [30 minutes] Quarterly Standard Nt°?
L(A)10[30 minutes] Quarterly Standard *¢*
L(A)s [30 minutes] Quarterly Standard *¢*
Frequency Analysis(1/3 Octave Quarterly Standard "***
band analysis)

Note 1: “International Standards Organisation. ISO 1996. Acoustics - description and Measurement of Environmental noise. Parts
1,2and3.”
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D.3 Surface Water Emissions
Table D.3.1 Surface water Monitoring Frequency and Techniques

Parameter Monitoring Frequency Analysis Method/Technique
pH Quarterly Electrometry
Ammonia (as NH4) Quarterly Standard Methods" ¢ *
Suspended Solids Quarterly Standard Methods "> *
Mineral Oils Quarterly Standard Methods "> *
Chloride Quarterly Standard Methods > *

Note 1: *“Standards Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater”, (prepared and published jointly by A.P.H.A,,
AW.W.A & W.E.F) 20th Ed., American Public Health Association, 1015 Fifteenth Street, Washington DC 20005, USA.

D.4 Groundwater Monitoring

Table D.4.1
Parameter"”®! Ground water
Monitoring Frequency
Groundwater Level (wells) Biannual
Ammoniacal Nitrogen Biannual
Chloride Biannual
PH é\‘f& Biannual
Sulphate (SO5) o Q@"@ Biannual
Metals / non metals V¢ 2 S Annually
List I/l1 organic substances (Screen()\Q\%?g&\g Annually
Nitrate §§o® Annually
Total P/orthophosphate y O{\Q\\\*‘ Annually
Faecal Coliforms s\c,oQ Annually
Total Coliforms S Annually

O

Note 1:  All the analysis shall be catgfed out by a competent laboratory using standard and internationally accepted procedures.

Note 2:  Metals and elements to be analysed by AA/ICP should include as a minimum: boron, cadmium, calcium, chromium
(total), copper, iron, lead, magnesium, manganese, nickel, potassium, sodium and zinc.

Note 3:  Samples screened for the presence of organic compounds using Gas Chromatography / Mass Spectrometry (GC/MS) or
other appropriate techniques and using the list I/Il Substances from EU Directive 76/464/EEC and 80/68/EEC as a
guideline. Recommended analytical techniques include: volatiles (US Environmental Protection Agency method 524 or
equivalent), semi-volatiles (USEPA method 525 or equivalent, and pesticides (USEPA method 608 or equivalent).

D.5 Emissions from Biodegradable Waste Building & Air Quality Monitoring
Table D.5.1 Dust, and Micro-organisms Monitoring Frequency and Technique

Parameter “ee! Monitoring Frequency Analysis
Method/Technique
Dust (mg/m%day) Quarterly M Standard Method N¢*
Bacteria Annually Grab sample M *
Aspergillus fumigatus Annually Grab sample "

Note 1:  Meteorological monitoring to be carried out concurrently with all above monitoring.

Note 2:  Twice during the period May to September, or as otherwise specified in writing by the Agency.

Note 3:  Standard method VDI2119 (Measurement of Dustfall, Determination of Dustfall using Bergerhoff Instrument (Standard
Method) German Engineering Institute)

Note 4:  Enumeration of colonies to be carried out as described in “Standardised Protocol for the Sampling and Enumeration of
Airborne Micro-organisms at composting Facilities’ the Composting Association 1999.
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Table D.5.2 Emissions to Atmosphere: Abatement/Treatment Control at

Biodegradable Waste Composting Plant

Control Monitoring Required Monitoring
Parameter Equipment
Biofilter
Inlet and Outlet
Gas
Ammonia Colorimetric Indicator Tubes
Monthly Note 1
Hydrogen sulphide Monthly ColorlmetrlchInr:clilcator Tubes
Mercaptans Monthly ColorlmetrlchInreuljlcator Tubes
Bed Media
Odour Assessment Daily Subjective Impression
Condition and depth of Dail Visual Inspection
biofilter M2 y
Moisture content Monthly Standard Iatigtrealtory method
pH Bi-annually
Ammonia Bi-annually Standard laboratory method N'¢*
Total viable counts Bi-annually Standard laboratory method N®*
General

Sprinkler System Check operation Daily

&
Visg@b?’ﬁspection

Fan Check operation Daily

\4bual Inspection

Negative Pressure Monthly

_ &), AIr Current Tubes

All measurements shall be made at peak bed loading.
Note 1:  Or an equivalent method acceptable to the Agency. QO .
Note 2:  The biofilter shall be examined to ensure that no
supplementary bed materials, or total bed repl\
X
A
S
N
X

K

O
X
&ﬁ\

QO

g

ing is evident. Turning, restructuring and the addition of

fi shall be carried out, as required, subject to bed performance.
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SCHEDULE E :Standards for Compost Quality

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Agency, the following criteria are deemed a quality standard
for the use of compost as a soil improver and should not be deemed as criteria for fertiliser. In addition
N, P, K, NH4-N, NOs-N, pH and dry matter content should also be measured.

Compost shall be deemed unsatisfactory if more than 10% of samples fail the criteria below. No sample
shall exceed 1.2 times the quality limit values set.

1.

Compost shall be deemed to be mature if it meets two of the following requirements:
» C/Nratio <25

Maturity

» oxygen uptake rate < 150 mg O,/kg volatile solids per hour; and
» germination of cress (Lepidium sativum) seeds and of radish (Raphanus sativus) seeds in compost
must be greater than 90 percent of the germination rate of the control sample, and the growth rate of
plants grown in a mixture of compost and soil must not differ more than 50 percent in comparison
with the control sample.
» Elimination of the following test organisms (used to evaluate composting system efficiency in
removing plant pathogens and weed seeds during the composting process): Plasmodiophora
brassicae, tobacco-mosaic-virus (TMV) and tomato seeds.

: . & . -
Guidance on test may be obtained from the German document L%G‘}”A M10 “Quality Criteria and
Application Recommendations for Compost’.

2.

3.

Maximum Trace Element Concentration Limits for Compost

Note 1:
Note 2:

Foreign Matter

&
-
&
G
N

Trace Elements

&
S
R
Foreign paatter content as a <1.5
percentage of oven-dried mass
Forgign matter, maximum 25
dimensions, in mm
Note 2

Trace Elements

(mg/kg, dry mass)

Arsenic (As) "¢+

15

Cadmium (Cd) 1.5
Chromium (Cr) 100
Copper (Cu) 100
Mercury (Hg) 1
Molybdenum (Mo) "¢* |5
Nickel (Ni) 50
Lead (Pb) 150
Selenium (Se) "¢+ 2
Zinc (Zn) 350

Monitoring of these parameters required if waste from an industrial source.
The above alone should not be taken as an indication of suitability for addition to soil as the cumulative metal additions
to soil should be first calculated.

Compost must not contain any sharp\\{ﬁ%ibn matter measuring over a 2 mm dimension that may
cause damage or injury to human%?e%trb'uﬁals and plants during or resulting from its intended use.
X
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4, Pathogens
Pathogenic organism content must not exceed the following limits:

» the quantity of faecal coliforms must be < 1,000 Most Probable Number (MPN)/g of total solids
calculated on a dry weight basis; and

» there can be no salmonellae present ( < 3 MPN/4g total solids).

5. Monitoring
The licensee shall submit to the Agency for its agreement, prior to commencement of compost operations,
details of methods of analyses, methods of sampling and sample numbers.

The analyses shall be carried out:

@ every six months for plants producing more than 500 and up to 1 000 tonnes of treated
biowaste per year;
(b) at intervals of at least every 1 000 tonnes of treated biowaste produced or every 3

months, whichever comes first, for plants producing more than 1 000 and up to 10 000
tonnes of treated biowaste per year;

(©) every month for plants producing more than 10 000 tonnes of treated biowaste per year.
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SCHEDULE F : Recording and Reporting to the
Agency

Recurring Reports

Annual Environment Report (AER) Annually By 31* March of each year.

Record of incidents As they occur Within five days of the incident.

Specified Engineering Works reports As they arise Prior to the works commencing.

Monitoring of Surface Water Quality Quarterly Ten days after the end of the quarter being reported on.
Dust Monitoring Quarterly Ten days after the end of the quarter being reported on.
Noise Monitoring Quarterly Ten days after the end of the quarter being reported on.
Any other monitoring As they occur Within ten days of obtaining results.

Note 1:  Unless altered at the request of the Agency.
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SCHEDULE G: Content of the Annual
Environmental Report

Annual Environmental Report Content

Reporting Period.

Waste activities carried out at the facility.

Quantity and Composition of waste recovered, received and disposed of during the reporting period and each previous year (relevant EWC
codes to be used).

Summary report on emissions.

Summary of results and interpretations of environmental monitoring, including a location plan of all monitoring locations.

Resource and energy consumption summary.

Development / Infrastructural works in place and planned, to process waste quantities projected for the following year (including plant
operating capacity, provision of adequate standby capacity and provision of contingency, backup and spares in the case of breakdown).
Schedule of Environmental Objectives and Targets for the forthcoming year.

Report on the progress towards achievement of the Environmental Objectives and Targets contained in previous year’s report.

Full title and a written summary of any procedures developed by the licensee in the year which relates to the facility operation.

Tank, drum, pipeline and bund testing and inspection report. 0&.

Reported Incidents and Complaints summaries. @é
Review of Nuisance Controls. 3 ﬁo
Reports on management and staffing structure of the facility, and a pﬁz%afﬁ?me for public information.

Quantity of Compost Produced per annum. O
) - S
Any other items specified by the Agency. (\QQ.{\

5 &
Note 1 Content to be revised subject to the agreemgngﬁﬁlfé\%Agency after cessation of waste acceptance at the facility.
\\ \\§
&
6\0
X

Sealed by the seal of the&ﬁ@gncy on this the 21st day of July, 2005

PRESENT when the seal of the Agency
was affixed hereto:

Larry Stapleton, Director/Authorised Person
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Environmental Protection Agency
An Ghniomhaireacht um Chaomhni Comhshaoil

Headquarters
P.O. Box 3000
Johnstown Castle Estate
County Wexford
Ireland

4
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1
TECHNICAL AMENDMENT A

)

To%"
5
WASTE EICENCE

(IN PURSUANCE OF SECTION é@ﬁff) OF THE WASTE MANAGEMENT ACTS
<1996 70 2005)
éé,\\é\

S

Licence Register

Number: W0195-01

Licensee: Padraig Thornton Waste Disposal Limited

L ocation of Facility: Ballynalurgan,
Kilmainhamwood,
Kells,

Co Meath.
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Reason for the Decision

The Environmental Protection Agency is satisfied, on the basis of the information available,
that subject to compliance with the conditions of licence Reg. No. W0195-01 granted on the
21/07/2005, as well as any amendments noted herein, any emissions from the activity will
comply with and not contravene any of the requirements of Section 40(4) of the Waste
Management Acts 1996 to 2005.

Technical Amendment of Conditions

In pursuance of the powers conferred on it by Section 42B(1)(c) of the Waste Management
Acts 1996 to 2005, the Agency amends Licence Reg. No. W0195-01, granted to Padraig
Thornton Waste Disposal Limited for a facility located at Ballynalurgan, Kilmainhamwood,
Kells, Co. Meath.

Henceforth, Waste Licence Register No. W0195-01 (grant@d}21/07/2005) shall be read in
conjunction with the amendments set out below. &

\\\ Q@
This technical amendment is limited to the follo@@*@lossary of Terms/Conditions/Schedule
of Licence Reg. No. W0195-01: RSN
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Amendments

The Location of Facility address is replaced by the following:

Location of Facility: Killmainhamwood Compost,
Ballynalurgan,
Kilmainhamwood,
Kells,
Co Meath.
Glossary

The following terms shall be inserted into the Glossary:

Composting

Mechanical/Biological

Treatment

Separate Collection

Stabilised Biowaste

The autothermic and thermophilic bioléi'cal decomposition of separately
collected biowaste in the presence of g?ygen and under controlled conditions
by the action of micro- and ma\qoﬁganisms in order to produce compost.
S}
The treatment of residu@{; nicipal waste, unsorted waste or any other
biowaste unfit for co ifig or anaerobic digestion in order to stabilise and
reduce the volume g&}@\vaste.
A
The collectiogx‘b\“ﬁ‘iowaste separately from other kinds of waste in such a
way as to @Void the different waste fractions or waste components from
waste bei c’omixed, combined or contaminated with other potentially
polluting&aastes, products or materials.
&
The cv)vaste resulting from the mechanical/biological treatment of unsorted
waste or residual municipal waste as well as any other treated biowaste
which does not comply with the environmental quality classes 1 or 2 of
Schedule E: Standards for Compost Quality, of this licence.

The following shall replace the existing glossary interpretation:

Licensee

New Conditions

Padraig Thornton Waste Disposal Limited, Killmainhamwood Compost,
Ballynalurgan, Kilmainhamwood, Kells, Co Meath.

3.14 The licensee shall provide and maintain a Wastewater Treatment system at the facility for the
treatment of sanitary effluent arising on-site. Any percolation area shall satisfy the criteria set
out in the Wastewater Treatment Manual, Treatment Systems for Single Houses, published by

the Agency.

Insert after Condition 3.13 of the existing licence.
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12.2 Environmental Liabilities

The licensee shall as part of the AER provide an annual statement as to the measures taken or
adopted at the site in relation to the prevention of environmental damage, and the financial
provisions in place in relation to the underwriting of costs for remedial actions following
anticipated events (including closure) or accidents/incidents, as may be associated with the
carrying on of the activity.

Insert after Condition 12.1.2 of the existing licence.

Reason:  To provide for adequate financing for monitoring and financial provisions for measures
to protect the environment

Amended Conditions

Condition 1.4 is replaced by the following:

1.4 Unless otherwise agreed with the Agency, the wastes as outlined in Schedule A: Waste
Acceptance of this licence and as listed under Annex 1 of the EC Working Document
‘Biological Treatment of Biowaste’ (2™ draft), 2001 or su %uent amendments shall only be
accepted at the facility for the production of compost or gtabilised biowaste.

N

Condition 3.11.1 is replaced by the following: 4?:6\0*

£

3.11.1 The licensee shall install and maintain S%Q?Eﬁg and oil interceptor at the facility to ensure that
all storm water discharges from th&&%@ﬁ‘ity pass through a silt trap and oil separator in
advance, of discharge. The interqegﬁ)g@ all be a Class I by-pass interceptor and the silt traps
and separator shall be in acc%ga\z\)g%\ with I.S. EN 858-2:2003 (separator systems for light

N

liquids). S
N~
Condition 5.2.1 is replaced by(ggfé following:
QO

5.2.1  Waste shall only be accepted at the facility, from Local Authority waste collection or transport
vehicles or holders of waste collection permits, unless exempted or excluded, issued under the
Waste Management (Collection Permit) Regulations 2001. Copies of these waste collection
permits must be maintained at the facility.

Condition 5.8 is replaced by the following:

5.8 Compost and Stabilised Biowaste Quality
5.8.1 Stabilised biowaste shall be treated as a waste.

5.8.2  Compost and stabilised biowaste shall comply with the quality standards as set out in
Schedule E: Standards for Compost Quality of this licence. Analysis of the compost
and stablised biowaste shall be in accordance with the requirements of Schedule E.

5.8.3  Composted material not meeting the standard for stabilised biowaste as per Schedule
E: Standards for Compost Quality may be reused in the process or handled as a waste
and details recorded as per Condition 10.

5.8.4  Outlet sites for stabilised biowaste shall be submitted in advance to the Agency for its
agreement.
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5.8.5 A record of the quantity of compost and stabilised biowaste produced per annum
shall be maintained on-site and available for inspection and shall be reported in the
AER.

Schedule Amendments

Schedule E: Standards for Compost Quality is replaced by the following:

SCHEDULE E: Standards for Compost Quality

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Agency, the following criteria are deemed a quality standard
for the use of compost as a soil improver and should not be deemed as criteria for fertiliser. In addition
N, P, K, NH4-N, NO;-N, pH and dry matter content should also be measured.

Compost shall be deemed unsatisfactory if more than 10% of samples fail the criteria below. No
sample shall exceed 1.2 times the quality limit values set.

1. Maturity

Compost shall be deemed to be mature if it meets two of the following requirements:

» C/Nratio <25

» oxygen uptake rate < 150 mg O,/kg volatile solids per hour; and

» germination of cress (Lepidium sativum) seeds and of radish (Raphanus sativus) seeds in compost
must be greater than 90 percent of the germination rate of the cog!;rol sample, and the growth rate
of plants grown in a mixture of compost and soil must n@f‘\’” differ more than 50 percent in
comparison with the control sample. &

» Elimination of the following test organisms (used t@ﬁéxﬁf‘uate composting system efficiency in
removing plant pathogens and weed seeds durj & e composting process): Plasmodiophora
brassicae, tobacco-mosaic-virus (TMV) and torga\ﬁ)&s eds.

. . RN . .
Guidance on test may be obtained from the Gee@%&&locument LAGA M10 ‘Quality Criteria and
Application Recommendations for Compo‘si\’& \{,\\O

\\ '\Q
<<O N
2. Trace Elements (Compost a d,@\}abilised Biowaste) Ntet. 2&3
O
Maximum Trace Eleme,@f%oncentration Limits ¢!
Parameter (mg/kg, dry mass) Compost Quality Stabilised
Standards "**° Biowaste N*¢°
Class 1 Class 2

Cadmium (Cd) 0.7 1.5 5
Chromium (Cr) 100 150 600
Copper (Cu) 100 150 600
Mercury (Hg) 0.5 1 5
Nickel (Ni) 50 75 150
Lead (Pb) 100 150 500
Zinc (Zn) 200 400 1500
Polychlorintated Biphenyls (PCB’s) - - 0.4
Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH’s) - - 3
Impurities >2mm N <0.5% <0.5% <3%
Gravel and Stones >5mm N ® <5% <5% -

Note 1: These limits apply to the compost and stabilised biowaste just after the composting phase and prior to
mixing with any other materials.
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Note 2: Incoming sludges (other than sewage sludges) shall be monitored quarterly (on a client by client basis)
for the parameters outlined in this table in addition to Selenium (Se) and Molybdenum (Mo).

Note 3: Monitoring of Arsenic (As) is required if waste timber is used in the composting process.

Note 4: The above alone should not be taken as an indication of suitability for addition to soil as the
cumulative metal additions to soil should be first calculated.

Note 5: Normalised to 30% organic matter content.

Note 6: Compost must not contain any sharp foreign matter measuring over a 2 mm dimension that may cause
damage or injury to humans, animals and plants during or resulting from its intended use.

3. Pathogens

Pathogenic organisms content must not exceed the following limits:

»  Escherichia coli <1,000 CFU/g fresh weight; and
» Salmonella species absent in 25 g sample.

4. Monitoring
The licensee shall submit to the Agency for its agreement, prior to commencement of compost
operations, details of methods of analyses, methods of sampling and sample numbers.

The analyses shall be carried out:

(a) every six months for plants producing more than 500 and up to 1,000 tonnes of
treated biowaste per year;
(b) at intervals of at least every 1,000 tonnes of treated biowaste produced or every 3
months, whichever comes first, for plants producing more than 1,000 and up to
10,000 tonnes of treated biowaste per year; 0&'
(© every month for plants producing more than IO,Q@ tonnes of treated biowaste per
year. ) %6\
S
SE
&\
0,00\')\
Schedule E above replaces Schedule E .qfoﬁh%AQ@ting licence.
N &
e
<8

TN
This technical amendment shall b%Zgﬁed as Amendment A (in pursuance of Section
42B(1) of Waste Management Aéts 1996 to 2005) to Waste licence Reg. No. W0195-
01 which was granted on 21/&@005.
@)

Sealed by the seal of the Agency on this the 25™ day of October, 2006.

PRESENT when the seal of the Agency
was affixed hereto:

Padraic Larkin, Director/Authorised Person
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Relevant Convictions/Court Order

The company was prosecuted under the provisions of Section 39 of the Waste
Management Act 1996 for breaches of its Waste Licence (No. 44-1). The breaches
occurred within a year of the grant of the initial waste licence in November 1999 and
were mostly due to failure to provide reports to the EPA and other procedural matters. At
the time of the breaches, the company was ill-prepared for the level of bureaucracy
associated with the waste licence and was not adequately staffed with environmental
personnel to service the licence. The Killeen Road facility now has a full time, suitably
qualified, environmental manager and a deputy manager and the company is complying
with its current Waste Licence.

The company was prosecuted on the 11" September 2006 at Dublin Metropolitan District
Court under the provisions of the Waste Management Act 1996 to 2005 Sections 39(1)
and 39 (9) for breaches of its Waste Licence (No. 44-2) for failure to comply with
conditions relating to the licence limit on tonnage for the year of 2005. The company
admitted breaching a condition of its licence by exceedingéhe tonnage of waste it was
allowed to accept over the twelve-month period for the”year 2005. Judge Sheridan
imposed a fine of 1,500 euro and EPA’s costs of 4,\6\62@9?0 were also awarded.

Since this date Thorntons Recycling has invested @ﬁer licensed and permitted facilities
to allow for the processing of this excess §@bfrom the Killeen Road facility. The
company are now in compliance with its y]\\@%@limits.

&N
The company was prosecuted on thg\‘i%‘*oFebruary 2007 under the provisions of Section
39 (1) and 39(9) of the Waste Ma?@g‘ément Act 1996 to 2003 for breaches of its Waste
Licence (No. 44-2) for failure t ébmply with condition 6.2 of the licence and cause an
odour nuisance on one day the* " November 2005. The company admitted breaching a
condition of its licence by causing odour emissions that resulted in significant
impairment, or significant interference with, amenities or the environment beyond the
boundary of the site on the 7" November 2005. Judge Coughlan imposed a fine of 2,750
euro and EPA costs of 10,000 euro were also awarded.

Since this date Thorntons Recycling has invested in approved technology and resources
for the treatment of odorous air at the facility and there have been no further breaches

since 2005.
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Technical Competence (Fit and Proper Person)

Thorntons Recycling was founded in 1979 by Padraig and Carmel Thornton. The company was
developed into a successful business over the years and now delivers waste collection services
nationally in Ireland. The company’'s customer base encompasses the domestic, public and
private sectors with annual sales in excess of €33M. Current company operations involve over
200 staff and are operating as one of Ireland’s most progressive and advanced recycling
companies. Thorntons Recycling currently holds valid collection permits for all waste
management regions in Ireland and is in the process of applying for a national collection permit
under the new regulations waste management (collection permit) regulations 2007, S.I No 820 of
2007.

Operations in Thorntons Recycling are organised to handle a number of different waste streams
and the company currently has three waste licensed facilities, issued by the Environmental
Protection Agency (EPA), and three waste permitted facilities, issued by Local authorities
including Kildare County Council and Dublin City Council. These facilities include waste transfer
stations, dry recyclables MRF’s, baling stations, composting, security shredding, wood chipping
and a liquid waste division, all of which are in compliance with their associated licenses and
permits.

Thorntons Recycling employs a dedicated team of professionaléﬁ’:luding an environmental team
of scientists and engineers who ensure compliance Wigﬂ\ licences, permits and national
regulations including the collection permit regulations. All-esyironmental managers are trained as
competent managers and have completed FAS/EP Q\\@ te management professional training.
The company’s management systems are certifigdsto international standards for 1ISO 9001
Quality, OHSAS 18001 Health and Safety an ronmental ISO14001. Thorntons Recycling
has a board of directors who are responsi%té\ ¥ the overall running of the business and are
updated on compliance issues on a month&éb@é?s at management meetings.
OCN

Thorntons Recycling are a financia&@$e%ure company with insurances in place including
Employers Liability, Public/Products Liébility, Motor Insurance and a Pollution Insurance Policy.
Risk assessments have been ca;gqgé(?out which clearly display that no scenarios were identified
which would exceed the insuran over of where the potential remediation costs would threaten
the financial solvency of PTWDL?
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